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Issue 42 
Published September 2020 
 
Presented at the Ordinary Council 
Meeting of Council on 8 September 2020 

 
 
The CEO Report on Operations is a regular report that is published by the Hobsons Bay City Council. 
 
The purpose of this report is to inform Council and the community of recent issues, initiatives and projects 
undertaken across Council. The report is provided on a monthly basis. 
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CEO Update 
In August, Melbourne endured its strictest lockdown 
to date during the Coronavirus pandemic. With even 
more businesses forced to temporarily close, students 
continuing to learn remotely and much of the state’s 
workforce working from home, Council again had to 
look at its services and programs and modify 
accordingly. 
 
This also came at a time when Council adopted its 
2020-21 Budget. The Budget was developed in difficult 
times and included $5.2 million in targeted support for 
the Hobsons Bay community and businesses impacted 
by the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. 
 
The 2020-21 Budget includes $2.2 million in rate relief, 
ongoing delivery of essential services and programs, 
upscaling of grants and community support packages, 
increased capital works spend and a revised Financial 
Hardship Policy. 
 
The Victorian Government’s two-month extension for 
all councils to complete their 2020-21 budgets 
enabled Council to listen, respond and work 
proactively with stakeholder representatives to source 
meaningful ways to assist both residential and 
business community members. 
 
The 2020-21 Budget applies a 2 per cent rate increase 
to the overall rateable revenue stream, in line with the 
Victorian Government’s Fair Go Rates System. While 
this would normally generate additional revenue of 
approximately $2.1 million, Council is implementing a 
rate adjustment (which is a slightly higher amount 
than the revenue stream) to redirect over $2.2 million 
in funds back to ratepayers. This means rates notices 
for 2020-21, when compared to the previous year will, 
on average, decrease across five rating categories, 
including residential properties (-0.17 per cent) and 
commercial properties (1.91 per cent). 
 
Council has also refreshed the Financial Hardship 
Policy to provide genuine and discreet support for 
residents and businesses impacted by the pandemic. 
 
In addition to the $2.2 million rate adjustment, a third 
Community Support Package worth $3 million will 
support businesses and the community affected by 
the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 

The 2020-21 Budget continues to deliver more than 
100 vital community services, and capital works 
improvements worth $67.566 million across the city. 
Highlights include: $15.605 million for roads and 
drains; $1.515 million for footpaths and cycle ways; 
$16.333 million for recreation and open space; and 
$29.658 million on buildings, such as sporting and 
recreational facilities, civic and community facilities. 
 
August also saw Council appoint a contractor for its 
innovative Virtual Power Plant. The project is a first for 
metro Melbourne and will involve the installation of 
new solar panels on more than 40 Council-owned and 
occupied buildings, generating almost 4 megawatts of 
solar power. 
 
The solar energy system will reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions by approximately 4,000 tonnes per annum, 
or up to 55 per cent of Council’s direct emissions over 
the coming two years, which is equivalent to taking 
almost 600 homes off the grid. 
 
The project will generate substantial year on year 
savings for Council by reducing energy costs, which is 
money Council can put back into the community 
through the delivery of services and programs.  
 
Importantly, this is a future proofed project, with 
longer term opportunities for the community to 
participate in what will become a Hobsons Bay 
Community Solar network. This could enable anyone 
to opt-in to be a producer of energy, a user of energy, 
or both. Under this model, community cost savings 
will grow even further. 
 
An extensive community consultation program will 
commence in the coming months to invite Hobsons 
Bay community members to have input into the 
design of the VPP model. This will help determine how 
the benefits are shared across the community. 
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CEO Update 
During August, the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 
participated in a number of events, meetings and 
discussions about a range of matters relevant to 
Hobsons Bay and the local government sector. 
 
Many of the events and meetings attended by the CEO 
during this period were related to regional initiatives 
and collaboration such as: 
 

• a regular meeting with West Gate Tunnel 
Project – Major Transport Infrastructure 
Authority representatives including CEO Peter 
Sammut to discuss the status of the West Gate 
Tunnel Project works specifically the progress of 
the pedestrian overpasses at Muir Street South 
Kingsville and Rosala Avenue Laverton; Donald 
McLean Reserve Pavilion and Open Space 
Improvement works confirming site 
establishment for the construction of the new 
Couch Pavilion commenced on 24 August; 
community consultation for the Donald McLean 
Open Space and Playspace designs was posted 
on 24 August via Council’s Participate and social 
media platforms; Council’s position and input to 
the design development of Hall Street 
Spotswood including relevant stakeholder 
engagement and temporary road management 
arrangements specifically the Millers Road 
interchange weekend closures and forthcoming 
spring works. 

 

• a meeting with LXRP Program Director Tony 
Hedley to discuss Council’s Aviation Road 
Laverton and Ferguson Street Williamstown 
Level Crossing Precinct Plans. Tony Hedley also 
provided an overview of the Ferguson Street 
feasibility investigation outcomes including site 
constraints that informed the final design being 
rail under road. Council will receive a Briefing 
late September on the design development of 
the Ferguson Street Level Crossing Removal 
Project. 

 

• a regular meeting of the Western Metropolitan 
Partnership. Items of interest were an update 
from Victorian government on COVID-19, 
updates from the Working Groups, an update 
from the Western Economy and Planning 
Working Group and WOMEDA and a 
presentation from the Victorian Transport 
Action Group. 

• attendance at the LeadWest Section 86 
Committee meeting. Items of interest were the 
North West Melbourne City Deal, Working for 
Victoria Fund, LeadWest Strategic Plan and 
Implementatio Plan and the LeadWest – Section 
64 – Joint Delegated Committee Local 
Government Act 2020. 

 

• a regular weekly meeting of the Metro 
Melbourne CEO’s, Department of Health and 
Human Services (DHHS), Municipal Association 
of Victoria (MAV) and Local Government 
Victoria (LGV) to discuss the Stage 4 restrictions 
and for councils to share information and 
experiences. 

 

• attendance at a the live stream launch of the 
North West City Deal Plan 2020-2040. The plan 
is a community effort to develop a list of shared 
investment priorities for our region. The next 
step in progressing the City Deal is to seek 
formal Memorandum of Understanding 
arrangements at Commonwealth, State and 
local government levels. 

 

• a meeting with Dr Catherine Cummings 
together with Mayor Colleen Gates to discuss 
advocacy issues in Hobsons Bay. 

 

• a meeting with the Governer the Hon.Linda 
Dessau AC and Mr Joshua Puls MVO together 
with Mayor Colleen Gates to discuss the 
implications of COVID-19 on the community of 
Hobsons Bay. 

 

• attendance at a meeting with the Hon Minister 
Melissa Horne and Western Melbourne Tourism 
to discuss a proprosed Museum for the Future 
project. 
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Aaron van Egmond 
Chief Executive Officer 

 

 

CEO Update 
Other meetings and events attended by the Chief 
Executive Officer included: 
 

• attendance at the Greater Dandenong Stand for 
Council presentation as the visiting CEO. 

 

• attendance at the Hobsons Bay City Council 
Stand for Council presentation. 

 

• attendance at the Williamstown Maritime 
Precinct Framework Project Steering 
Committee. 

 

• a regular 6-weekly meeting with the Managing 
Director of Australian Paper Recovery (Council’s 
comingled recycling partner), and Director 
Sustainable Communities, to discuss Council’s 
comingled recycling performance and strategies 
to reduce contamination. 
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Delivering for our Community 

Mindfulness for young people 
Council launched mind, body, soul. The free four week 
course assisted 25 young people explore a range of 
yoga styles, breathing techniques and meditation 
designed to release tension in the body and calm the 
mind. 
 

 
Above: Instagram post promoting mind, body, soul 

 

Youth counselling update 
Council's generalist youth counselling service delivered 
online counselling sessions using video and 
teleconferencing platforms. Fifty eight counselling 
sessions were provided in August, to 18 young people. 
The main presenting issues for young people over the 
past month were mental health issues including 
depression, anxiety and eating disorders (35 %), social 
relationship issues (14%) and cyber bullying (11%). 
 
There is currently a one week wait. 
 

Emotional parenting 
Council delivered Tuning Into Teens, a free six week 
online parenting program attended by eight parents. 
The program aimed to explore and develop skills to 
enable emotional parenting and support for children. 
 

#HobsonsStayHome campaign 
The online #HobsonsStayHome campaign was launched 
to enable young people to submit content for inclusion 
on Council’s social media platforms. The campaign 
encourages young people to submit videos, memes and 
stories highlighting their efforts to be part of the 
COVID-19 solution. 
 

Youth employment Q&A 
Council hosted an Instagram live stream question and 
answer session on Monday 10 August. The session 
featured young people employed by Hobsons Bay City 
Council discussing the benefits of working in local 
government. The question and answer session 
encouraged young people to apply for roles advertised 
through the Working for Victoria program. 
 

 
Above: Instagram live stream, employment Q&A 

 

Maternal and Child Health 
There was a total of 96 infants born to Hobsons Bay 
families in August 2020. The highest numbers of infants 
born were in Altona. 
 
Face to face consultations for children up to two 
months of age continued in MCH centres. Telephone/ 
electronic consultations were utilised for all other 
families where face to face was not possible. 
 

Immunisations 
During August Council's immunisation team held seven 
immunisation sessions and administered 555 
immunisations to 234 clients. Sessions were held at the 
Laverton Community Hub and the Williamstown Town 
Hall. 
 
Council's MCH service attended immunisation sessions 
to provide families short consultations where needed. 
This service added great benefit to the immunisation 
sessions and was well received by families attending. 
 

Parenting/Family Support 
Family Support workers delivered one Confident 
Parent/Happy Babies support group in August. 
Seventeen outreach/phone consultations for ongoing 
parenting/sleep support were also provided. 
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Delivering for our Community 
Social work support (MCH) 
Council’s social workers assisted four new families who 
were impacted by COVID. In addition, two families were 
referred for support due to Family Violence. There are 
currently no families on the waitlist. 
 

Supported Playgroups 
Council delivered weekly newsletters to families 
enrolled in the Supported Playgroup program. 
Newsletters provided a range of ideas for supporting 
childhood learning and engagement at home as well as 
parenting tips and links to books and songs. The 
newsletter was available in multiple languages. 
 

Planned Activity Groups 
Due to Covid-19 restrictions, 287 outreach welfare 
phone calls were made to 71 clients. PAG activity packs 
were also distributed directly to 50 clients in August. 
 

Community transport 
Due to Covid-19 restrictions, 263 outreach welfare 
phone calls were made to 68 clients. 
 

Aged and disability assessment 
In August, 55 assessments and 62 reviews were 
completed. 
 

Delivered meals 
During August, 2,435 meals were delivered to resident’s 
homes. A total of 188 residents received meals during 
the month. 
 

Home Maintenance 
During August, 22 residents received a service through 
Council's Home Maintenance program 
 

Art Apart 
Adapting to stage 4 restrictions, the Art Apart program 
continued throughout August. Highlights included: 

• Arts Speak with Martin Case featuring Sherry Rich 
and Shauntai Batske 

• Winter Windows at Long Space Gallery Newport 
and Woods Street Arts Space Laverton. Winter 
Windows finished with over 50 community 
submissions being projected 

• Front Yard Frolics by Born in a Taxi created video 
engagement around chalk drawings and 
vegetable sculptures. Over six weeks and 22 
posts Front Yard Folics had a total organic post 
reach of 69,895, 3,303 engagements and one 
newspaper article 

• Eye Spy by Alison Peake was launched in late 
August 

Remaining Art Apart projects will look at new timelines 
once stage 4 restrictions have been lifted. 
 

 
Above: Video content from Front Yard Frolics, Chalk Challenge 

 

Woods Street Youth Art Prize 
Responding to the theme ‘A New Power and Voice’, the 
program received a high volume of entries. Planning is 
now underway to showcase the exhibition through a 
virtual experience in October. 
 

Lost Lands Found: online creative program 
Based on Lost Lands Found by Dean Stewart, an online 
creative program for children was launched. Sharing 
environmental and First Nations education, the 
program was created in partnership with Little Art Big 
Art, Big Fish and Public Realm Lab. Workshops will 
continue through September with a theme announced 
each fortnight. 
 

Hobsons Bay Visitor Information Centre 
The Hobsons Bay Visitor Information Centre operated 
an amended service via phone and email. Staff 
maintained weekly contact with accommodation 
providers and continue to engage with volunteers. 
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Delivering for our Community 
Libraries 
Physical loans (books etc.): 1,358 
eLibrary loans (eBooks etc.): 10,906 
Renewals: 205 
Total: 12,469 
Loans have decreased by 52% compared to July 2020. 
Year to date loans have decreased by 64% compared to 
August 2019 
eLibrary loans have increased by 13% compared to July 
2020. 
Year to date eLibrary loans have increased by 67% 
compared to August 2019. 
 

Libraries and Stage 4 COVID-19 restrictions 
In line with the State Government’s introduction of 
Stage 4 COVID-19 restrictions, Council introduced a 
number of changes to Hobsons Bay Libraries services: 
Library return chutes were closed until further notice; 
all items currently on loan were extended until Monday 
14 September 2020; and the much loved ‘Book a Book’ 
Library home delivery service was temporarily paused 
whilst Council sought clarification from the State 
Government on whether this type of service was 
permissible under Stage 4 restrictions. Despite these 
changes, many services continued, for example: access 
to eCollections and virtual programs and events. 
 

‘Book a Book’ library home delivery service 
Demand for the ‘Book a Book’ library home delivery 
service increased significantly when the State 
Government announced Melbourne’s move to Stage 4 
COVID-19 restrictions. In the three days prior to these 
restrictions commencing, Hobsons Bay Libraries made 
519 deliveries, including: 504 library packages and 15 
Take Home Tech Kits. 
 

 

Altona Library 
The meeting room at Altona Library has been loaned to 
Victoria Police to use as a break space during Stage 4 
COVID-19 restrictions. 
 

The Coconut Children: Vivian Pham in 
conversation with Alice Pung 
On Thursday 20 August, authors Alice Pung and Vivian 
Pham discussed their backgrounds to their passion for 
writing and Vivians’s new book, 'The Coconut Children', 
an urgent, moving and wise debut from a young and 
gifted storyteller. 
 

National Science Week: Fizzle and Pop 
More than 100 children celebrated National Science 
Week with a bang on Saturday 15 August, with a live 
show featuring some of the Scientwists’ favourite 
demonstrations and experiments. 
 

 
 

Online Active Program 
Community demand for Online Active programs (such 
as Zumba and Yoga) continues to be high. August 
programs engaged a total of 528 participants. 
 

Laverton Community Hub 
Laverton Community Integrated Services and MCH 
Immunisation sessions continue to run from Laverton 
Community Hub. 
 

Newport Community Hub 
MCH services continue to run from Newport 
Community Hub and the contractors attending to 
acoustic works in the music rooms are continuing to 
operate. 
 

Seabrook Community Centre 
MCH services and Seabrook Kindergarten continue to 
operate on site. 
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Organisational Update 

Council Election 2020 
Enrolments on the voters roll for the 2020 Council 
election closed on 28 August 2020. 
 
A Candidate and Community Information Session, 
facilitated by the Municipal Association of Victoria was 
held on 19 August 2020. 
 
Details of the on-line Mandatory Candidate Training 
facilitated by Local Government Victoria is now 
available on the Council website 
www.localgovernment.vic.gov.au/council-
governance/candidate-training 
 

Local Government Act 2020 
On 25 August 2020, as required by the implementation 
of the Local Government Act 2020, Council adopted the 
Hobsons Bay Governance Rules, the Election Period 
Policy, Public Transparency Policy, Council Support and 
Expenses Policy, Public Interest Disclosures Policy and 
revised Audit and Risk Committee Charter. Updated 
Instruments of Delegation to the Chief Executive 
Officer, members of Council staff and the Delegated 
Planning Committee were also adopted by Council. 
 

Assembly of Councillors 
The following Assemblies of Councillors occurred during 
the period 1 August to 31 August 2020: 
 
4, 6, 11, 12, 14, 18, 25 and 28 August 2020 
 

Documents for Sealing 
There were no documents that required sealing during 
the period. 
 

Local Laws 
• Issued 98 disabled parking permits 

• Issued 89 residential permits 

• Issued 62 visitor permits 

• Issued 363 ticket machine permits 

• Logged 234 CHARM assignments 

• Impounded 4 derelict/abandoned vehicles 

• Issued 19 local law infringements 
 

Parking 
• 142 logged CHARM assignments 

• Issued 184 parking infringements 

• Issued 76 warnings 

• Percentage of warnings issued were 41% 
 
 

 
The graph above illustrates the number of permits issued for 
August 2020 

 

Animal Management 
• Logged 157 CHARM assignments 

• 14,723 animals registered 

• Impounded animals at Lost Dogs Home for (as at 
30 July 2020) 
o Dogs – 4 dogs impounded, 2 released 
o Cats – 42 impounded, 2 released 

• 14 animals returned to their owners by council 
officers 

• Issued 19 animal infringement notices 
 
The graph below reflects the number of dogs impounded and the 
number of dogs returned home by Council Rangers 
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Planning, Building and Health Update 

Planning applications received 
Council received 70 planning permit applications for the 
month of August. 
 
For the six month period from March to August, 383 
planning permit applications were received, a two 
percent decrease from the same period last year. 
 

 
 

Amended permit applications lodged 
Council received 39 planning permit amendment 
applications for the month of August. 
 
For the six month period from March to August, 178 
planning permit amendment applications were 
received, a 10 percent decrease than the same period 
last year. 
 

 
 
 

Planning applications determined 
Council completed 67 planning permit applications for 
the month of August. 
 
For the six month period from March to August, 362 
planning permit applications were completed, a 10 
percent increase than the same period last year. 
 

 
 

Planning amendment requests determined 
Council completed 33 planning amendment 
applications for the month of August. 
 
For the six month period from March to August, 168 
planning amendment applications were determined, a 
20 percent decrease than the same period last year. 
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Planning, Building and Health Update 
VCAT 
The Town Planning Department received the following 
appeal decision in August. 
 
Application Number: PA1739007. 298 Douglas Parade 
Newport 
Proposal: Demolition of the existing dwelling and 
construction of two double storey dwellings in 
accordance with the endorsed plans 
Delegate Decision: Approved 
SPC Decision: N/A 
VCAT Decision: Struck out 
 
Application Number: PA1944720. 84 William Street 
Newport 
Proposal: Construction of two dwellings on a lot in the 
General Residential Zone, Schedule 1, in accordance 
with the endorsed plans 
Delegate Decision: Notice of Decision 
SPC Decision: N/A 
VCAT Decision: Approved 
 

Planning Applications of interest 
No applications of interest this month. 
 

Active and significant enforcement matters 
Council received 36 new enforcement matters for the 
month of August. 
 

 
 
Permits and consents 
• 2 building permits were issued by Council 

• 41 building permits were issued by private 
building surveyors 

• 17 report and consent dispensation requests 
were determined 

 
 

Inspections and enforcement 

• 3 Building Notices/Orders were issued 

• 2 Building Notices/Orders were 
resolved/completed/cancelled 

• 17 inspections occurred during the month of 
August 

 

Building information requests 
There were 130 requests for information received 
during August. 
 
The following activities were recorded during August 
2020: 

• 29 mandatory scheduled inspections on Class two 
premises 

• 2 new food premises registration inspections 

• 4 plans assessments 
 

 
 

Client managed premises 
Council currently has 33 Client Managed Premises. 
 

Food sampling 
65 food samples were taken from Class two premises 
during August 2020. 
 

Food recalls 
Two food recalls were actioned in August 2020. 

• 2 microbial contaminations (only one recorded as 
bacteria pseudomonas) as a result of company 
testing 

 
Streatrader 
The following mobile and temporary food activities 
were recorded in August 2020: 

• 5 Streatrader inspections 

• 15 statement of trades lodged with Council 

• 0 new registration issued  
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Planning, Building and Health Update 
Public health news 
Public Health and Wellbeing Act activities 
The following activities were recorded during August 
2020: 

• 1 plans assessment 
 

 
 

Customer enquiries 
A total of 61 customer requests were received during 
August 2020 relating to: 

• Noise (39) 

• Health Act (12) 

• Food Act (6) 

• Air Quality (4) 

• Drainage (0) 

• Pest (0) 
 

 
 
 

53

11 12

32

23

13
9 7 5

8
4

9

53

4 4 3 1

8
12

1

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Health Act activities

2019 2020

39

12

6

0

4

0

37

9

4

2

12

0

0 10 20 30 40 50

Noise

Health Act

Food Act

Pest

Air Quality

Drainage

Customer enquiries

July August

Attachment 9.1.1.1 Page 17



 

 

15 

Strategy, Economy and Sustainability 
Future Leaders for Sustainability 
The annual Future Leaders for Sustainability program 
started on 20 August with a half day Teacher PD 
presented by the CSIRO. The online event covered the 
requirements of the program and how to prepare 
students to undertake the work. 
 

Hobsons Bay Business Network Facebook group 
The Hobsons Bay Business Network group on Facebook 
is going well with over 600 active members. As part of 
the Facebook group, members are encouraged to 
connect with each other and share ideas. 
 
In August, moderator Joyce Watts delivered four weekly 
Tuesday Chats. Ten business owners attended these 
sessions. 
 

Business check in calls 
During August Council connected with 273 businesses, 
via business check in calls. 
 
Check in calls allow Council to provide information and 
updates, as well as gain valuable feedback and ideas on 
how to provide meaningful support. Check in calls were 
welcomed by the business community. 
 

#StartWest meetup 
Entrepreneurs, innovators and business owners came 
together on Wednesday 26 August to hear from local 
guest speaker Jackie Mahoney (Junction Hotel Newport) 
and to share insights on how they have adapted their 
business to overcome challenges during the pandemic. 
 

Online workshop: Negotiating Rent Relief 
The Victorian Small Business Commissioner Judy 
O’Connell conducted an informative workshop on 
negotiating rent relief in Victoria. Twenty four business 
professionals attended the session on 13 August. An 
additional session is scheduled for next month. 
 

Resilience and self care for business owners 
On 13 August, Kun Communications delivered an online 
workshop to help eight business owners enhance their 
resilience while facing the stresses of COVID-19. 
Attendees were given strategies to help manage their 
mental health as well as tips to support the wellbeing of 
their staff. 
 

Trader associations 
Representatives from four trader associations came 
together to discuss the challenges faced by local 
businesses and opportunities for future collaboration. 
 

Tourism 
Officers attended the Western Melbourne Tourism 
Board Meeting on Thursday 13 August. 
 

Hobsons Bay Business has Heart 
The Hobsons Bay Business has Heart program was 
launched via Council’s social media platforms on 26 
August. The program aims to support local businesses 
by encouraging residents to return to their local 
shopping precincts in Hobsons Bay. 
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Communications and Engagement 

Social Media 
Activity across all Council social media accounts 
includes: 

• Council Facebook 

• Council Twitter 

• Hobsons Bay Up Facebook 

• Creative City Hobsons Bay Facebook 

• Mesh Mash Facebook 

• Woods Street Arts Space Facebook 

• Lost Pets Hobsons Bay Facebook 

• GOWEST Facebook 

• Council LinkedIn 

• Hobsons Bay Instagram 
 

Definitions 
• Reactions – like, love, angry, haha, wow, sad 

 
• Impressions – number of times our content is 

displayed in someone’s newsfeed 

• Reach – total number of people who saw that 
content 

• Engagement – number of times someone 
engaged with our content whether through 
reactions, shares comments etc. 

 

August 2020 
Statistics for all Council’s social media sites 

 
 

Fan/follower growth across all Council social 
media accounts 

 
 

Reach across all Facebook accounts 

 
 

Facebook post with the greatest reach 

 
 

Instagram post with the greatest reach 
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Communications and Engagement 
Tweet with the greatest reach 

 
 

Hobsons Bay has Heart Facebook page 
The people of Hobsons Bay are invited to share stories 
of positivity, resilience, community spirit and kindness 
on a Hobsons Bay City Council Facebook page entitled 
Hobsons Bay has Heart. 
 
The ability to connect with other people has become 
more difficult. Council wants to support the Hobsons 
Bay community to keep connected by shining a light on 
community groups, individuals or businesses offering 
support or goodwill to their fellow community 
members. This could be through random acts of 
kindness, the provision of online learning or activities, 
or offers to volunteer or assist others. 
 
Community members and businesses can post their 
messages, words, photos, videos or artwork directly to 
the Hobsons Bay has Heart Facebook page at 
https://www.facebook.com/hobsonsbayhasheart/or 
use the hashtag #hobsonsbayhasheart as a public post 
on Facebook or Instagram. 
 

Hobsons Bay has Heart post with the greatest 
reach 

 
 

Website top pages viewed 

 
 

Facebook Stories 
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Communications and Engagement 
Overall Participate Hobsons Bay Statistics 
Participate Hobsons Bay, the online community 
engagement site for Council 
participate.hobsonsbay.vic.gov.au had the following 
highlights forAugust 2020. 
 

Views 11,075 

Visits 7,640 

Visitors 85,505 

Contributions 975 

Contributors 735 

Followers 136 

 
Between 1 August 2020 and 31 August 2020 there 
were 11,075 visits to the Participate site with 975 
contributions (or submissions) across three different 
projects. During this time with 99 people requested to 
‘follow’ various project communications. 
 
Of the 975 contributions (or submissions) from 
1 August 2020 and 31 August 2020 the breakdown for 
each project included: 
 

Project Contributions 

Bruce Comben Reserve Draft 
Master Plan 

73 

Altona Beach Precinct 477 

Donald MacLean Reserve 
Improvement Plan 

5 

Hobsons Bay Coastal and Marine 
Management Plan 

4 

Altona Meadows Traffic Treatments 56 

Altona North Local Area Traffic 
Management Project 

9 

McLean Reserve Park Upgrade 14 

Lee Reserve Park Upgrade 118 

Mason Street, Newport Traffic 
Calming 

71 

Proposed Road Safety Improvement 
Plan for Williamstown School 
Precinct 

43 

Recycling App 35 

Better Places Laverton 34 

 

The below projects were open for community 
involvement in July 2020. 
 

Front Page Participate Hobsons Bay 
Better Places Laverton 
The future of Laverton – captured in a Place Guide. The 
feedback that was gathered in early 2020 has been 
used to develop a draft place guide vision that is now 
out for consultation. Creating Better Places is achieved 
by providing the community with greater ownership of 
their neighbourhoods by encouraging them to be more 
actively involved in the direction their suburb is 
heading. This is a collaborative process between 
everyone that lives in, and loves Laverton – residents, 
businesses, property owners and visitors.  Consultation 
is open until Friday 14 August 2020. 
 
Bruce Comben Reserve Draft Master Plan 
Hobsons Bay City Council has prepared the Bruce 
Comben Reserve Draft Master Plan to guide future 
planning, development, maintenance and 
management. 
 
The Draft Master Plan seeks to create a sense of 
'community heart' to service the people of Altona 
Meadows and the west of Hobsons Bay, address key 
challenges of the site and include the 2019 Council 
decision to develop a new aquatic centre. Consultation 
on the Bruce Comben Reserve Draft Master Plan is 
open until Saturday 15 August 2020. 
 
Altona Beach Precinct 
A changing coastline 
Council is proposing a number of upgrades in the 
coming years, as works continue with: 

• the urban renewal of the beach end of Pier 
Street 

• the potential closure of the Esplanade between 
Bent Street and Pier Street 

• the raising of the seawall 

• a revitalised Weaver Reserve 

• a new beach entry to the swimming beach at the 
bottom of Pier Street 

• the realignment of the shared trail 

• a new pedestrian entry at Webb Street 
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Communications and Engagement 
There will also be an upgrade to the Altona Pier, 
however this project will be undertaken by Parks 
Victoria. As all of these project interconnect, it is 
important to look at them together to ensure what 
Council constructs works for the community, local 
groups, visitors and Council. There are a number of 
things that we must achieve to ensure the ongoing 
protection of both public and private assets. However 
there are also a quite a few items that we would like 
the community’s input to help shape this important 
public place. 
 
Consultation on the Altona Beach Precinct closed on 
Sunday 23 August 2020. 
 
Donald McLean Reserve Improvement Plan – 
Playgrounds and Open Spaces 
Council is upgrading Donald McLean Reserve to provide 
the community with improved open space into the 
future. 
 
Donald McLean Reserve Master Plan underwent 
extensive community engagement and was endorsed 
by Council in 2013. In 2019 we gathered your ideas and 
aspirations for the reserve in response to community’s 
current needs, also recognising the presence and joint 
project funding of the West Gate Tunnel Project. Using 
your feedback, the Donald McLean Reserve 
Improvement Plan was designed. 
 
Projects identified in the improvement plan are already 
underway with upgrades to the two sports grounds 
(including new floodlighting), the cricket nets and the 
multi-purpose courts. Earlier this year, we sought your 
input into the design of pathways, landscaping and 
park furniture surrounding the new cricket practice 
nets. Help us to realise the next element of the project 
– the play space and other open spaces in and around 
the reserve. Consultation on the Donald McLean 
Reserve Improvement Plan – Playground and Open 
Spaces is open until Thursday 17 September 2020. 
 
 

Hobsons Bay Coastal and Marine Management Plan 
Hobsons Bay City Council is currently developing a 
Coastal and Marine Management Plan (CMMP) to 
guide the future management of our iconic coastal and 
marine areas. The coastal and marine areas of Hobsons 
Bay are highly valued by our community and visitors. 
Our coastline supports a diverse, and at times 
competing, range of interests and values. Into the 
future, there will be increasing pressures from urban 
growth and a changing climate. A coordinated, 
integrated approach to planning and management is 
required to balance environmental, economic and 
social values, enhance resilience, and adapt to change. 
Community members are asks to complete a survey to 
help refine the focus and priorities of the Coastal and 
Marine Management Plan, show us what they value 
along our coastline and ask any questions that they 
might have regarding the coastal and marine 
management plan or our coastline. This phase of the 
consultation is open until Sunday 20 September 2020. 
 
Altona Meadows Traffic Treatment Project 
Council is seeking feedback on a number of traffic 
treatments in Altona Meadows to relieve congestion, 
improve accessibility and provide a safer road 
environment. The proposed traffic treatments are the 
first of many improvement works planned as part of 
the endorsed Local Area Movement Plan Western 
Package. Consultation is open until Friday 4 September 
2020. 
 
Altona North Local Area Traffic Management Project 
Council is seeking feedback on a number of traffic 
treatments in Altona North to improve accessibility and 
provide a safer road environment. Council has been 
listening to residents’ concerns for road safety in the 
neighbourhood area bordered by Blackshaws Road, 
Mills Street, Mason Street and Millers Road. This area 
is now subject to a Local Area Traffic Management 
Project and has received funding under the Federal 
Government’s Blackspot Program. Our aim is to 
address safety concerns with a holisitic view of the 
issues in this precinct, in order to avoid pushing the 
problems into nearby streets. Consultation is open 
until Sunday 20 September 2020. 
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Communications and Engagement 
MacLean Reserve Park Upgrade 
An upgrade of the park and playground. MacLean 
Reserve in Williamstown is due for a full upgrade next 
year. As a first step, Council would like to hear from the 
local community, St Mary’s Primary School community 
and the Williamstown Primary School community to 
better understand what they value about MacLean 
Reserve and its significance in the community.  Council 
is seeking feedback from the community on what they 
would like to see in this reserve prior to developing a 
concept design. Consultation on this project is open 
until Thursday 17 September 2020. 
 
Mason Street, Traffic Calming Project 
Council is seeking feedback on the traffic concept plan 
for Mason Street, Newport to reduce the risk of 
accidents and improve safety outcomes for all road 
users, with a particular focus towards pedestrians and 
cyclists.  This project has received funding from the 
Federal Government’s Blackspot Program. Consultation 
on this project is open until Friday 18 September 2020. 
 
Road Safety Improvements for Williamstown School 
Precinct 
Creating safe and sustainable pedestrian and cyclist 
routes. Hobsons Bay City Council is committed to 
improving the safety around schools for pedestrians, 
students and residents, and encouraging students to be 
more active by walking and riding (i.e. cycling, scooting 
and skating) to school. Council applied last year for a 
Transport Accident Commission (TAC) grant for the 
construction of new infrastructure in the Williamstown 
School Precinct. 
 
Council has designed a road safety improvement plan 
for the Williamstown School precinct with the aim to 
provide infrastructure to improve pedestrian and 
cyclist safety and connectivity as well as reducing 
vehicle speeds and dangerous driving around 
Williamstown Primary School and Saint Mary’s Primary 
School. Consultation on this improvement plan is open 
until Thursday 17 September 2020. 
 
 

Lee Reserve, Altona upgrade 
A new look for Lee Reserve. Council's Open Space 
Strategy identified Lee Reserve as one of the five 
Altona Beach Precinct parks in need of improvement 
works. Council is proposing to undertake these 
improvement works in late 2021. Lee Reserve is the 
smallest of the five parks and has very little shade or 
furniture. The park is located along the Esplanade, 
there is car parking across the road including two 
accessible parking bays, and the reserve has 
connections to the Pier Street shops and to the Bay 
Trail (shared trail). Council would like to hear from the 
local community and other users of the reserve to 
better understand what they value about the reserve, 
its significance in the community, any key concerns and 
aspirations for the space.  Consultation on the upgrade 
to Lee Reserve is open until Thursday 17 September 
2020. 
 
Recycling 2.0 App 
Shape the next big feature of the Recycling 2.0 app! 
We've taking our four-bin waste and recycling service 
into the digital space with the launch of the Recycling 
2.0 App, the latest tool to support Hobsons Bay 
residents to recycle right. We want to make it easier 
for residents to reduce waste, sort recycling and 
organics to reduce waste from going to landfill. The 
mobile phone app offers residents important and up-
to-date information about the kerbside service in an 
accessible, easy to view format. Now we want to know 
what you would like to see released as the app's next 
big feature! Consultation for this project closed on 
Sunday 23 August 2020. 
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Our Performance 
Hobsons Bay City Council is committed to improving 
our performance and better responding to our 
community needs. 
 
One way in which we do this is to capture how our 
community approaches us to ensure we can make that 
process the best it can be to assist our customers with 
access to information needed. 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
Top enquiries coming from incoming calls are for the 
following service areas: 
 

• Waste (1,273) 

• Rates (788) 

• Hard Waste (751) 

• Town Planning (541) 

• Local Laws (480) 

• Animals (429) 

• City Services (416) 

• Assets (414) 
 
Top reasons our customers contacted Council via Web 
Chat related to the following service areas: 
 

• Waste (63) 

• Rates (36) 

• Animals (31) 

• City Services (22) 

• Local Laws (15) 

• Town Planning (15) 

• Assets (13) 
 
Top enquiries coming from emails are for the following 
service areas: 
 

• Cashier Inbox (626) 

• City Services (465) 

• Waste (464) 

• Animals (201) 

• Local Laws (170) 

• Town Planning (91) 

• Rates (71) 

• Public Health (50) 
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Our Performance 

 
 
*As a result of the foyer closure due to COVID-19, 
counter data has been slightly amended from total 
counter visits to payment interactions. Additionally, 
there has been a recent system upgrade which does 
not currently allow for the same collection of counter 
data. We are working with Digital Services for an 
alternative solution. 
 
Snap Send Solve is a free app for iPhone or Android 

devices that allows visitors and residents of Hobsons 

Bay to easily report issues to Council by capturing a 

photo of an issue and having this information sent 

directly to Council for review. 

 

 
 

Council’s CHARM (Customer Help and Resolution 
Management) system is used to record when a 
customer makes contact with Council to request 
something. The most preferred way in which 
customers make contact to log a CHARM is via phone, 
Snap Send Solve and email. 

 
 
Top CHARM requests logged related to the following 
service areas: 
 

• Hard waste (638) 

• Garbage (593) 

• Green waste (354) 

• Recycling (346) 

• Street trees (201) 

• Dumped rubbish (142) 
 

 
 
Top CHARM requests closed related to the following 
service areas: 
 

• Hard waste (671) 

• Garbage (642) 

• Green waste (385) 

• Recycling (385) 

• Dumped rubbish (197) 

• Street trees (166) 
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Our Performance 
Emissions reduction program 
Significant progress has been made to enable Council 
to progress its commitment to achieving zero net 
greenhouse emissions, through direct action. On 25 
August Council endorsed delivery of the large scale 
solar project which will reduce Council’s total direct 
emissions by an estimated 55 percent over the next 
two to three years.  
 
The large scale solar installation project is a key 
component of the emissions reduction program. The 
project will introduce a Virtual Power Plant (VPP) that 
will enable solar energy from Council buildings to be 
distributed across Council-owned and leased assets. In 
the longer term the VPP will enable Council to make 
low-cost green power available to community groups 
and the wider community. 
 
The first phase of the project includes new solar 
installations on more than 30 buildings and additions 
to existing solar installations delivering about 1,830 kW 
of solar generated power. The second phase will 
double this generation capacity to 3,600 kilowatts and 
introduce a community access model enabling 
contribution of excess solar power or purchase of solar 
energy.   
 
The project can be implemented quickly with the first 
phase of solar anticipated to be installed over the next 
few months. Not only does the large scale solar project 
help Council make significant progress towards zero 
emissions targets, it sets up the opportunity for the 
community to participate in a Hobsons Bay community 
solar network further increasing the emissions 
reduction benefit of the project. Council will consult 
with the community and design a community access 
model for the Hobsons Bay Virtual Power Plant with 
opportunities for anyone to opt in to be a producer of 
energy, a user of energy, or both. 
 
Additional programs including building retrofits and 
LED street lighting will be progressively delivered over 
the next five years further reducing Council’s 
emissions. Residual emissions will be offset through 
the purchase of green power (through the Power 
Purchasing Agreement or other green suppliers) or 
carbon offsets. 
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Financial Management 
Each quarter Council produces a detailed financial 
report which is presented to Council. The following 
additional information provides a snapshot of some 
key monthly metrics as supplementary information. 
 

Financial Statistics 
The average balance of cash and investments during 
August 2020 was $54.596 million. This compares to the 
average balance of $70.03 million in July and an 
average balance of $85.395 million in June. 
 
The closing balance of cash and investments at the end 
of August was $46.812 million, compared to $61.29 
million at the end of July and $74.716 million at the 
end of June. 
 
Council investments at the end of August 2020 
included an overdraft of cash and at call investments of 
($188,000) and term deposits of $47 million, with an 
average date to maturity of 207 days and an average 
interest rate of 1.10 per cent. 
 
This temporary situation has occurred as a result of the 
strong capital spend, community support package 
payments and a general decline in incoming revenue. 
 

 
 
The balance of outstanding debtors for August 2020 
was $2.894 million compared to an average balance of 
$2.087 million over the last twelve months. 

Accounts receivable amounts outstanding over 90 days 
at the end of August 2020 totalled $234,000 
representing 8.1 per cent of total debts. The most 
significant debtor groups over 90 days include city 
maintenance, property, parks and recreation. 
 
The provision for doubtful debts at the end of August is 
$251,000 or 8.7 per cent of total debts. 
 

Hardship Policy 
Any person who currently requires financial assistance 
will be invited to enter into a payment arrangement or 
assessed for inclusion into the Council’s hardship 
group. Since the start of the financial year there has 
been one new application approved and one account 
has been paid in full. 
 
As at 31 August 2020 there were a total of 48 
ratepayers, including 25 pensioners, listed on Council’s 
hardship register. Council has waived $1,920 in interest 
charges since the start of the 2020-21 financial year. 
Council continued to receive regular payments in the 
month of August and the total amount outstanding as 
at 31 August is $400,717. 
 
In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic has seen a further 
589 ratepayers provided with an interest free payment 
deferral after applying for assistance under Council’s 
Community Support Packages. This equates to 
outstanding rates being deferred of approximately $5.4 
million with an estimated interest waiver of $45,000 
from 30 September to 31 October 2020. More 
applications are expected to follow. 
 

Revenue Statistics 
Rates income as at 31 August 2020 was $18.482 million 
compared to the year to date budget of $18.482 
million and the year to date forecast of $nil. This is 
made up of general rates ($17.348 million), waste 
collection charges ($1.591million), supplementary 
income ($67K), less objections ($nil) payments in lieu 
of rates ($57K) and interest on rates ($58K). These are 
slightly offset against Council rebates (-$459 K). 
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Financial Management 
The Outstanding Rates Balance as at 31 August 2020 
was $119,585 million. This is made up of general rates 
($117,737 million), pension rebates to be collected 
($1.447 million) and hardship group ($401K). 
 

 
 

Procurement 
Tenders have been called for the following: 
 

• 2020.56 Reimaging the Future of Industrial and 
Commercial Land in Hobsons Bay 

• 2020.57 Altona Coastal Park Boardwalk/Path 
 
The following tenders have been closed and are being 
evaluated: 
 

• 2020.08 Construction of Cricket Practice Nets – 
Donald McLean Reserve 

• 2020.20 Altona North Bowling Club Facilities 
Upgrade 

• 2020.30 Construction of off Street Carpark – PA 

• 2020.40 P J Lynch Reserve Box Lacrosse 

• 2020.52 Maternal and Child Health Building 
Renewal Works 

• 2020.54 Burgoyne Reserve Public Toilets 
 
The following contracts have been awarded under 
financial delegation: 
 

• 2020.39 Footpath Condition Audit be awarded to 
Rapid Map Services at a fixed lump sum price of 
$116,380 (GST inclusive) 

• 2020.41 BMS Installation – Altona Meadows 
Library, awarded to Premair Automation 
Controls at a fixed lump sum price of $40,887 
(GST inclusive) 
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Enhancing our Community 

West Gate Tunnel Project – Muir Street and 
Rosala Avenue pedestrian overpasses 
The project contractors, CPBJH Joint Venture (JV) have 
removed the two pedestrian overpasses at Muir Street, 
Spotswood and Rosala Avenue, Altona North. Since 
then the JV has also removed the old ramps so freeway 
widening and noise wall works can progress. New stairs 
and ramps are being installed and the new pedestrian 
overpasses are expected to be installed by the end of 
September 2020. 
 
To assist continued connection for the community the 
JV constructed a new footpath on The Avenue under 
the Newport Rail Bridge and implemented a courtesy 
bus service for Yarraville/Spotswood and Altona 
North/Brooklyn communities. Council is advocating for 
improvements to the service to best meet the local 
community access needs. No reduction in the current 
bus services will be made without the agreement of 
Council. 
 

 
Above: Rosala Avenue pedestrian overpass construction 

 

 
Above: Muir Street pedestrian overpass construction 
 

Donald McLean Reserve Improvements 
The temporary fencing has been established in 
preparation for the demolishing of the Couch Pavilion at 
Donald McLean Reserve. The tenant sports clubs have 
been heavily engaged throughout the design 
development phase of the site’s improvement projects. 
Community engagement for the development of open 
space and play space is live on Participate Hobsons Bay. 
 

WLJ Crofts Reserve 
Works have commenced on the sports pavilion and the 
new northern ovals (ovals 2 and 3). Temporary fencings 
have been established across both sites. Demolition of 
the sports pavilion is complete, and construction of the 
new pavilion will commence in September 2020. Site 
clearance to the northern ovals is underway and the 
existing cricket practice nets and tennis courts have 
been removed. 
 
Council has also been working with the resident cricket 
clubs on the design of the cricket practice nets. Works 
on site are expected to commence early September 
with completion expected by the end of October 2020. 
In addition, a new switchboard was installed to provide 
temporary power to Oval 1 which will support the 
various components across the reserve in the future. 
 

 
Above: Image of the pavilion demolition in progress 

 

Dennis Reserve Master Plan 
As part of stage 1 works to the new tennis courts, 
demolition of the former Williamstown Ladies Bowls 
Club, the Williamstown Central Tennis Pavilion and 
existing tennis courts have been completed. Works on 
the four new tennis courts have commenced and are 
expected to be completed in November 2020. 
 
Detailed design works to Stage 2 landscape and open 
spaces have been completed and Council will be 
conducting procurement for a competent contractor in 
September 2020. Works are expected to commence in 
early 2021 and completed by June 2021. 
 

 
Above: Demolition of existing tennis courts base 
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Enhancing our Community 
Level Crossing Precinct Plans 
Council recently endorsed the Aviation Road Laverton 
and Ferguson Street Williamstown Level Crossing 
Precinct Plans which is referenced through advocacy to 
state government seeking funding towards the 
implementation of these plans. The Laverton and 
Williamstown communities have guided the 
development of these plans which reflects community 
needs and issues such as pedestrian and cyclist’s safety 
and community amenity. Further information can be 
accessed via: 
https://www.hobsonsbay.vic.gov.au/Community 
 

 
 

 
Above: Ferguson Street Level Crossing Precinct Plan 

 

Queen Street Bridge Altona Meadows 
Council is advocating the state government for a $1.5 
million allocation to fund a separated bridge over 
Laverton Creek that will enable pedestrians and cyclists 
to safely cross Laverton Creek. In support of this 
request community members are invited to submit 
their support to this campaign via: 
https://www.hobsonsbay.vic.gov.au/Council/Advocacy 
 

 
Above: Image of the proposed Queen Street Bridge 

Major Roads Projects 
Works to Palmers Road between the Western Freeway 
and Princes Freeway, commence over the coming 
weeks and are scheduled to be completed in early 
2021. These works include additional lanes, intersection 
upgrades and new walking and cycling paths, and bus 
priority lanes at intersections. 
 
VMS Boards located near the works area promote the 
temporary traffic arrangement details. 
 

Homestead Run Reserve and Barry Jones Reserve 
Park Upgrade 
Construction is progressing well at Homestead Run and 
Barry Jones Reserve. Works that are currently being 
completed include the installation of the shelter frame 
at Homestead Run, installation of play equipment, 
concrete pathways and the installation of instant turf 
and logs. Both reserves will be completed by the end of 
September 2020. 
 

 
Above: Homestead Run Reserve and Barry Jones Reserve 

 

Edwards Reserve Play Space Upgrade 
Edwards Reserve Play Space upgrade works have been 
completed. As a part of the project some of the existing 
play fixtures will be replaced due to their current 
condition. The spiral climber, slippery dip and bridge 
handrail are currently being manufactured to fit the 
new structure. The fencing around the perimeter at 
Edwards Reserve fencing has also been upgraded which 
has contributed to the overall appearance of the 
Reserve. Soft fall and garden bed mulch has been 
installed at the Edwards Reserve playground to 
compliment the recently completed playground 
upgrade. 
 

 
Above: Edwards Reserve Play Space Upgrade 
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Enhancing our Community 
Altona Yacht Club Building Upgrades 
Council is carrying out an upgrade to the Altona Yacht 
Club that will include new amenities, the removal of the 
existing strip showers to be replaced with cubicle 
showers, the removal of urinals to allow for cubicle 
toilets and the addition of an accessible toilet. These 
upgrade works will allow for greater participation for 
the facility and will allow for accessible access and 
facilities within the venue. 
 

Bayside Williamstown – Sports Pavilion 
The renovation and extension of the sports pavilion are 
complete. Works included four new change rooms, 
renovated social space, new umpires change, tiered 
seating and viewing area, new scorers’ box, new 
accessible bathroom and club storage. The 
Williamstown Juniors Football Club have been engaged 
throughout the design and construction process, 
providing Council with very positive feedback on the 
result. The Williamstown Cricket Club will also benefit 
from the upgrades during the summer tenancy period. 
This project was completed in conjunction with funding 
from the State Government. 
 

 
 

 
Above: Bayside Williamstown Sports Pavilion 

 

Newport Hub Works 
Improvement works are being undertaken to the music 
and studio rooms at the Newport Hub. The works will 
include removal of the existing walls and ceiling covers 
and replace them with acoustic proof material. The 
works will improve the music recording quality. 

Greenwich Reserve Irrigation Upgrade 
The irrigation upgrade works are nearing completion at 
Greenwich Reserve, The Strand, Newport. The works 
include new irrigation lines to all three playing fields, a 
new 35,000 litre water tank, water pumps and remote 
access controls. This will allow the parks team to detect 
water loss and adjust water pressure to the playing 
surfaces. The works are expected to be completed mid-
September 2020. These works will benefit the 
Williamstown Colts Cricket Club and Williamstown 
Baseball Club during the summer tenancy period. 
 

Blenheim Road Newport Works 
Indented parking bays and angle car parking bays are 
being constructed along Blenheim Road, Newport 
between Rosshire Road and Woods Street. Along with 
the car park works the existing footpath will be 
extended south to the Rosshire Road intersection. The 
works also include new kerb and channel and road 
resurfacing. The works are expected to be completed in 
early October 2020. 
 

Shared Trails Upgrade 
Council is widening the footpaths along the east and 
west sides of Point Cook Road between Pipeline 
Reserve and Seabrook Boulevard. The works will also 
include a raised pedestrian crossing at the intersection 
of Point Cook Road and Seabrook Boulevard. 
 

 
Above: Footpath works along Point Cook Road 

 

Fearon Reserve Harsley Pavilion Refurbishment 
The Harsley pavilion refurbishment works are complete. 
This project was part funded through the State 
Government Female Friendly Facilities grant. The 
upgrade includes four change rooms for female 
participation, an extension of the building to allow for 
umpire facilities and additional storage on site. The 
carpark has also been formalised between the Harsley 
pavilion and the Lacrosse pavilion. These projects will 
greatly benefit the Williamstown CYMS Football and 
Cricket Clubs, Williamstown Seagulls FIDA Football Club, 
Williamstown Imperials Cricket Club, Williamstown 
Lacrosse Club and Williamstown Women’s Lacrosse 
Club. 
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Enhancing our Community 
Footpath Works in Altona North 
New footpath works have commenced along McArthurs 
Road, Altona North. The footpath will connect between 
the existing footpaths on Chambers Road and Kororoit 
Creek path. The works are expected to be completed 
mid-September 2020. 
 

Plantings at AH Ford Reserve 
The planting at AH Ford Reserve is now complete with 
over 330 plants recently planted. 
 

 
Above: Plantings at AH Ford Reserve 

 

Cleaning of Sports Courts 
The cleaning of sports courts has continued with the 
two tennis courts at HD Graham Reserve, Altona 
Meadows. The regular cleaning of courts removes built 
up dirt and grime which if left can increase the 
deterioration of the court surface. Cleaning also 
reduces the likelihood of the courts cracking and 
bubbling and prolongs the lifecycle of the courts. 
 

Bike Maintenance Station 
As part of the Footpath and Cycleway upgrade program, 
a bicycle maintenance station and a drinking fountain 
will be installed along the shared trail running parallel 
to Ravenswood Court in Altona Meadows. 
 

Tree Planting Program Update 
Tree planting is continuing to enhance many of our 
streets and parks with over 2000 trees planted in our 
streets and parks to date. Several reserves in Altona 
North have recently been planted. These include Bond 
Reserve which has received three large advanced 
Moreton bay figs. This popular large tree will 
significantly improve the appearance and provide shade 
in the park. 
 
Cooper Reserve has had 50 new trees planted. Twenty 
Acer negundo were planted along Sutton Avenue and 
15 Pyrus ‘Southworth dancer’ were planted along Park 
Street. These new exotic trees will bring great colour 
and diversity to this reserve. 
 

Over 50 native trees have been planted in Harris 
Reserve to complement the great work the Friends 
Group has done along the neighboring Kororoit Creek 
Trail. In this reserve, the Tree team have continued with 
their theme of planting avenues to provide shade to 
path users. Planting was also carried out around the 
playground to give some much-needed shade to kids 
playing. 
 

 
Above: (L-R) Bond and Cooper Reserve 

 

 
Above: Harris Reserve 

 

Roadside Garden Bed Planting 
Over 2230 native plants and mulch has been used to 
improve 11 roadside locations. The locations include: 

• Maher Road naturestrip, abutting Laverton 
station 

• Kororoit Creek Road, south side garden bed 

• Cameron Avenue freeway shared trail garden 
beds 

• Harrington Square shopping area 

• Knights Reserve, Newport 

• Homestead Run, median strip 

• Point Cook Road/Central Avenue reserve 

• Dunnings Road, traffic islands 

• Railway Avenue from Aviation Road to Laverton 
station car park 

• Point Cook Road, east side from Dunnings Road 
to Seabrook Boulevard 

• Old Geelong Road from freeway exit to Bladin 
Street, Laverton. 
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ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS – SECTION 80A LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1989

Meeting Information
Note: If Councillors leave the room during the Assembly, please record the time the 

Councillor left the room and the time of their return

Meeting Name/Type Councillor Briefing Session   

Meeting Date
Meeting Start Time
Meeting Finish Time

4 August 2020
6.30pm
9.24pm

Attendees

Councillors Cr Colleen Gates    Cr Sandra Wilson

Cr Jonathon Marsden Cr Michael Grech

Cr Angela Altair Cr Tony Briffa JP

Cr Peter Hemphill

Officers Sanjay Manivasagasivam Penelope Winslade

Aaron van Egmond Andrew McLeod

Diane Eyckens Hamish Munro

Matthew Irving Mark Travers

Katy McMahon Michelle Cardamone (Timer)

Matters/Items Discussed Time Cr Left/
Time Cr 
Returned

Contract 2019.103 – Large Scale Solar Installation 
Program (Confidential)

Large Scale Solar Installation Program (for public 
agenda)

 Local Government Act 2020 Policy Suite

 Presentation of Budget and Rating Strategy 
Submissions 2020-21

Councillor Reports and Discussion

 Chief Executive Officer Report on Operations
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Delegation to the Chief Executive Officer

 Council Officer Delegations 2020

Review of Delegation – Delegated Planning Committee

Planning Policy Framework Translation and New 
Residential Zones

Community Grants Program Recommendations Report

Petition – Urban Forest Strategy Brooklyn

Petition – Request to abandon the proposal to make 
Acacia Avenue and Central Avenue, Seaholme 
one-way streets

Ferguson Street Precinct Plan

Building Asset Management Plan 2020

West Gate Tunnel Project Update Report

Conflict of Interest disclosures - Nil

Matter/Item No. Councillor making disclosure Councillor left 
meeting

Councillor 
returned to 

meeting
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ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS – SECTION 80A LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1989

Meeting Information
Note: If Councillors leave the room during the Assembly, please record the time the 

Councillor left the room and the time of their return

Meeting Name/Type Annual Community Survey, Councillor Briefing

Meeting Date
Meeting Start Time
Meeting Finish Time

6 August 2020
4.00pm
4.47pm

Attendees

Councillors Mayor Councillor Colleen Gates
Deputy Mayor Councillor Sandra Wilson
Councillor Tony Briffa
Councillor Peter Hemphill
Councillor Jonathon Marsden 

Officers Katy McMahon
Aaron van Egmond
Penelope Winslade
Michael Hooker (consultant)

Matters/Items Discussed Time Cr Left/
Time Cr Returned

1. Presentation from the consultant, Michael 
Hooker

2. Councillor discussion

Conflict of Interest disclosures - Nil

Matter/Item No. Councillor making disclosure Councillor left 
meeting

Time Cr Left/
Time Cr Returned

Yes/No
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ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS – SECTION 80A LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1989

Meeting Information
Note: If Councillors leave the room during the Assembly, please record the time the 

Councillor left the room and the time of their return

Meeting Name/Type Budget Meeting

Meeting Date
Meeting Start Time
Meeting Finish Time

Thursday, 6 August 2020
6.30pm

7.15pm

Attendees

Councillors Cr Colleen Gates (Mayor)
Cr Sandra Wilson (Deputy Mayor)
Cr Peter Hemphill
Cr Angela Altair
Cr Tony Briffa
Cr Jonathon Marsden

Officers Aaron van Egmond
Andrew McLeod
Pene Winslade
Sanjay Manivasagasivam 
Hamish Munro

Matter/Item No. Matters/Items Discussed Time Cr Left/
Time Cr Returned

1.0 Budget Discussion

Conflict of Interest Disclosures 

Matter/Item No. Councillor making disclosure Councillor left 
meeting

Time Cr Left/
Time Cr Returned

1.0 No disclosures recorded No
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ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS – SECTION 80A LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1989

Meeting Information
Note: If Councillors leave the room during the Assembly, please record the time the 

Councillor left the room and the time of their return

Meeting Name/Type Pre-Ordinary Council Meeting Agenda Briefing

Meeting Date
Meeting Start Time
Meeting Finish Time

11 August 2020
6.30pm
6.50pm

Attendees

Councillors Cr Colleen Gates    Cr Sandra Wilson

Cr Jonathon Marsden Cr Angela Altair

Cr Tony Briffa JP

Cr Peter Hemphill

Officers Sanjay Manivasagasivam Penelope Winslade

Aaron van Egmond Andrew McLeod

Diane Eyckens Hamish Munro

Martina Simkin

Matters/Items Discussed Time Cr Left/
Time Cr 
Returned

 Council Welcome/Apologies/Disclosures of 
Interest/Minutes Confirmation

Councillors’ Questions

 Public Question Time

 Petition – Urban Forest Strategy Brooklyn

Petition – Request to abandon the proposal to make 
Acacia Avenue and Central Avenue, Seaholme one-way 
streets

 Response to Petition - Lights at Newport Skate Park

Chief Executive Officer – Report on Operations
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 Presentation of Budget and Rating Strategy 
Submissions 2020-21

Delegations to the Chief Executive Officer, Members of 
Council Staff and Delegated Planning Committee

Audit Committee Update

Planning Policy Framework Translation and New 
Residential Zones

Community Grants Program Recommendations Report

Building Asset Management Plan 2020

Aviation Road, Laverton and Ferguson Street, 
Williamstown North Level Crossing Removal Project 
Precinct Plans

West Gate Tunnel Project Update Report

Delegate Report – Metropolitan Transport Forum

Conflict of Interest disclosures - Nil

Matter/Item No. Councillor making disclosure Councillor left 
meeting

Councillor 
returned to 

meeting
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ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS – SECTION 80A LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1989

Meeting Information
Note: If Councillors leave the room during the Assembly, please record the time the 

Councillor left the room and the time of their return

Meeting Name/Type Truganina Explosives Reserve Advisory Committee

Meeting Date
Meeting Start Time
Meeting Finish Time

12 August 2020
10.00 am
11.50 am

Attendees

Councillors Councillor Sandra Wilson

Officers Frank Fardell 

Matters/Items Discussed Time Cr Left/
Time Cr Returned

1. Business Arising

2. Update on Capital Works

3. Rangers Report

4. TERPS Update

5. General Business

Conflict of Interest disclosures - Nil

Matter/Item No. Councillor making disclosure Councillor left 
meeting

Time Cr Left/
Time Cr Returned

Yes/No
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ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS – SECTION 80A LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1989

Meeting Information
Note: If Councillors leave the room during the Assembly, please record the time the 

Councillor left the room and the time of their return

Meeting Name/Type COVID-19 Councillor Briefing Session   

Meeting Date
Meeting Start Time
Meeting Finish Time

14 August 2020
10.30am
11.05am

Attendees

Councillors Cr Colleen Gates    

Cr Sandra Wilson

Cr Tony Briffa

Cr Peter Hemphill

Officers Aaron van Egmond                        Andrew McLeod            

Sanjay Manivasagasivam              Jenn Legge                   

Dianne Eyckens         

Matters/Items Discussed Time Cr Left/
Time Cr 
Returned

 COVID-Update

 Hobsons Bay has Heart update
 Local Nursing home update
 Working for Victoria update

Conflict of Interest disclosures - Nil

Matter/Item No. Councillor making disclosure Councillor left 
meeting

Time Cr Left/
Time Cr Returned

There were no disclosures of interest
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ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS – SECTION 80A LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1989

Meeting Information
Note: If Councillors leave the room during the Assembly, please record the time the 

Councillor left the room and the time of their return

Meeting Name/Type Councillor Briefing Session   

Meeting Date
Meeting Start Time
Meeting Finish Time

18 August 2020
6.39pm
9.57pm

Attendees

Councillors Cr Colleen Gates    Cr Sandra Wilson

Cr Jonathon Marsden Cr Angela Altair

Cr Peter Hemphill

Officers Sanjay Manivasagasivam Penelope Winslade

Aaron van Egmond Andrew McLeod

Diane Eyckens Katy McMahon

Hamish Munro Matthew Irving

Mark Travers Julie Brne

Matters/Items Discussed Time Cr Left/
Time Cr 
Returned

Local Government Act 2020 Policy Suite

Public Submissions – Proposed Annual Budget and 
Rating Strategy for 2020-21

 Adoption of Annual Budget, Rating Strategy and 
Strategic Resource Plan for 2020-21

 Large Scale Solar Installation Program (public report)

Contract 2019.103 - Large Scale Solar Installation 
Program (confidential)

 Councillor Reports and Discussion
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Conflict of Interest disclosures - Nil

Matter/Item No. Councillor making disclosure Councillor left 
meeting

Councillor 
returned to 

meeting
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ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS – SECTION 80A LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1989

Meeting Information
Note: If Councillors leave the room during the Assembly, please record the time the 

Councillor left the room and the time of their return

Meeting Name/Type Pre-Ordinary Council Meeting Agenda Briefing

Meeting Date
Meeting Start Time
Meeting Finish Time

25 August 2020
6.30pm
6.59pm

Attendees

Councillors Cr Colleen Gates    Cr Sandra Wilson

Cr Jonathon Marsden Cr Michael Grech

Cr Angela Altair Cr Tony Briffa JP

Cr Peter Hemphill

Officers Sanjay Manivasagasivam Penelope Winslade

Aaron van Egmond Andrew McLeod

Diane Eyckens Hamish Munro

Martina Simkin

Matters/Items Discussed Time Cr Left/
Time Cr 
Returned

 Council Welcome/Apologies/Disclosures of 
Interest/Minutes Confirmation

Councillors’ Questions

 Public Question Time

 Petitions/Joint Letters

Local Government Act 2020 Policy Suite

 Adoption of Annual Budget, Rating Strategy and 
Strategic Resource Plan for 2020-21

Delegations to the Chief Executive Officer, Members of 
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Council Staff and Delegated Planning Committee

 Large Scale Solar Installation Program

Urgent and Other Business

CONFIDENTIAL: Contract 2019.103 - Large Scale Solar 
Installation Program

Conflict of Interest disclosures - Nil

Matter/Item No. Councillor making disclosure Councillor left 
meeting

Councillor 
returned to 

meeting
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ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS – SECTION 80A LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1989

Meeting Information
Note: If Councillors leave the room during the Assembly, please record the time the 

Councillor left the room and the time of their return

Meeting Name/Type COVID-19 Councillor Briefing Session   

Meeting Date
Meeting Start Time
Meeting Finish Time

28 August 2020
10.34am
11.05am

Attendees

Councillors Cr Colleen Gates    

Cr Sandra Wilson

Cr Tony Briffa

Cr Jonathon Marsden

Officers Aaron van Egmond                       Andrew McLeod            

Sanjay Manivasagasivam             Pene Winslade 

Dianne Eyckens                            Jenn Legge                   

Matters/Items Discussed Time Cr Left/
Time Cr 
Returned

 COVID-Update

 Hobsons Bay has Heart update
 Staff member who has contracted COVID-19
 Working for Victoria update
 House fire
 Wellbeing – Virtual lunch room

Conflict of Interest disclosures - Nil

Matter/Item No. Councillor making disclosure Councillor left 
meeting

Time Cr Left/
Time Cr Returned

There were no disclosures of interest
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Hobsons Bay City Council
2019/2020 Financial Report

Date : 8 September 2020

Councillor
Date : 8 September 2020
Altona

Councillor

Date : 8 September 2020
Altona

Chief Executive Officer

Altona

Page 1

 Certification of the Financial Statements

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 , the Local
Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 , the Australian Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting
requirements.

Hamish Munro, CPA
Principal Accounting Officer

Altona

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements present fairly the financial transactions of Hobsons Bay City Council for the year ended 30 June
2020 and the financial position of the Council as at that date.

As at the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render any particulars in the financial statements to be misleading or
inaccurate.

We have been authorised by the Council and by the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 to certify the financial statements
in their final form.

Councillor Colleen Gates

<Councillor 2 Name>

Aaron van Egmond
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Hobsons Bay City Council
2019/2020 Financial Report

Note 2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Income
Rates and charges 3.1 111,764                107,961               
Statutory fees and fines 3.2 4,474                    5,295                   
User fees 3.3 3,268                    6,351                   
Grants - operating 3.4 13,290                  12,750                 
Grants - capital 3.4 7,426                    5,585                   
Contributions - monetary 3.5 3,440                    4,671                   
Fair value adjustments for investment property 6.3 381                       -                       
Other income 3.7 3,941                    4,692                   
Total income 147,984                147,305               

Expenses
Employee costs 4.1 51,453                  55,850                 
Materials and services 4.2 48,148                  41,561                 
Depreciation 4.3 20,026                  18,626                 
Amortisation - right of use assets 4.4 889                       -                       
Bad and doubtful debts 4.5 550                       576                      
Borrowing costs 4.6 627                       627                      
Finance costs - leases 4.7 76                         -                       
Loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 3.6 1,980                    974                      
Other expenses 4.8 906                       1,437                   
Total expenses 124,655                119,651               

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 23,329                  27,654                 

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to surplus or deficit in future periods

Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 6.2 564                       (3,105)                  
Total comprehensive result 23,893                  24,549                 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020

The above comprehensive income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Page 4

Comprehensive Income Statement
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Hobsons Bay City Council
2019/2020 Financial Report

Note 2020 2019
 $'000  $'000 

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5.1                       5,471                         1,218 
Trade and other receivables 5.1                     13,537                       10,633 
Other financial assets 5.1                     69,000                       85,357 
Inventories 5.2                            29                              30 
Other assets 5.2                       1,325                         1,443 
Total current assets                     89,362                       98,681 

Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables 5.1                          271                            345 
Other financial assets 5.1                              1  - 
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 6.2                1,248,436                  1,204,325 
Right-of-use assets 5.8                       1,098                               -   
Investment property 6.3                     13,785                       13,404 
Total non-current assets                1,263,591                  1,218,074 
Total assets                1,352,953                  1,316,755 

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 5.3                     22,462                       13,848 
Trust funds and deposits 5.3                       8,078                         7,141 
Provisions 5.5                     11,566                       12,390 
Lease liabilities 5.8                          739                               -   
Total current liabilities                     42,845                       33,379 

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 5.5                          874                            753 
Interest-bearing liabilities 5.4                     14,200                       14,200 
Lease liabilities 5.8                          389                               -   
Total non-current liabilities                     15,463                       14,953 
Total liabilities                     58,308                       48,332 

Net assets                1,294,645                  1,268,423 

Equity
Accumulated surplus                   525,517                     482,695 
Reserves 9.1                   769,128                     785,728 
Total Equity                1,294,645                  1,268,423 

As at 30 June 2020

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
Page 5
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Hobsons Bay City Council

Accumulated Revaluation Other
Total Surplus Reserve Reserves

2020 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at beginning of the financial year 1,268,423          482,695            721,186                64,542                  
opening balance adjustment 9.3 2,329                 2,329                -                        
Adjusted Opening balance 1,270,752          485,024            721,186                64,542                  

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 23,329               23,329              -                        -                        
Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 6.2 564                    -                    564                       -                        
Transfers to other reserves 9.1 -                     28,396              -                        (28,396)                 
Transfers from other reserves 9.1 -                     (11,232)             -                        11,232                  

23,893               40,493              564                       (17,164)                 
Balance at end of the financial year 1,294,645          525,517            721,750                47,378                  

Accumulated Revaluation Other
Total Surplus Reserve Reserves

2019 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at beginning of the financial year 1,243,747          469,579            724,291                49,877                  
Change in accounting policy 127                    127                   -                        -                        
Balance at beginning of the financial year as restated 1,243,874          469,706            724,291                49,877                  

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 27,654               27,654              -                        -                        
Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 6.2 (3,105)                -                    (3,105)                   -                        
Transfers to other reserves 9.1 -                     (26,444)             -                        26,444                  
Transfers from other reserves 9.1 -                     11,779              -                        (11,779)                 
Balance at end of the financial year 1,268,423          482,695            721,186                64,542                  

Page 6

2019/2020 Financial Report
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Note

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Changes in Equity

Attachment 9.2.1.1 Page 53



Hobsons Bay City Council

2020 2019
Inflows/ Inflows/

(Outflows) (Outflows)
Note $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Rates and charges 110,023              106,624             
Statutory fees and fines 4,071                  4,541                 
User fees 3,717                  6,766                 
Grants - operating 12,804                12,750               
Grants - capital 6,691                  7,515                 
Contributions - monetary 3,440                  4,671                 
Interest received 1,679                  1,847                 
Trust funds and deposits taken 1,810                  2,258                 
Other receipts  2,890                  2,867                 
Net GST refund/payment 8,814                  6,824                 
Employee costs (52,156)               (56,128)             
Materials and services (54,903)               (48,455)             
Short-term, low value and variable lease payments (167)                    -                    
Trust funds and deposits repaid (873)                    (1,220)               
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 47,840                50,860               

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 6.2 (58,500)               (34,089)             
Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 475                     360                    
Payments for investments -                      (18,000)             
Proceeds from sale of investments 16,000                -                    
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (42,025)               (51,729)             

Cash flows from financing activities     

Finance costs (627)                    (627)                  
Interest paid - lease liability (76)                      -                    
Repayment of lease liabilities (859)                    -                    
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (1,562)                 (627)                  
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 4,253                  (1,496)               
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 1,218                  2,714                 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year     5,471                  1,218                 

Financing arrangements 5.6
Restrictions on cash assets 5.1

2019/2020 Financial Report

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
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Note 2020 2019

$'000 $'000

Property

Land -                      643                     

Total land -                      643                     

Buildings 19,464                7,550                  

Heritage buildings 527                     1,560                  

Total buildings 19,991                9,110                  

Total property 19,991                9,753                  
Plant and equipment
Heritage plant and equipment 50                       51                       
Plant, machinery and equipment 1,704                  1,321                  
Fixtures, fittings and furniture 4,728                  1,718                  
Computers and telecommunications 1,359                  693                     
Library books 705                     739                     
Total plant and equipment 8,546                  4,522                  

Infrastructure
Roads 5,151                  5,254                  
Bridges 725                     50                       
Footpaths and cycleways 3,901                  2,462                  
Drainage 3,185                  2,424                  
Recreational, leisure and community facilities 3,001                  2,018                  
Waste management 2,537                  266                     
Parks, open space and streetscapes 14,987                4,824                  
Off street car parks 468                     775                     
Other infrastructure 939                     552                     
Total infrastructure 34,894                18,625                

Total capital works expenditure 63,431                32,900                

Represented by:
New asset expenditure 7,285                  7,257                  
Asset renewal expenditure 21,511                23,010                
Asset upgrade expenditure 34,635                2,633                  
Total capital works expenditure 63,431                32,900                

2019/2020 Financial Report

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020

The above statement of capital works should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Capital Works
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2019/2020 Financial Report

OVERVIEW
 

Introduction
Hobsons Bay City Council was established by an Order of the Governor in Council on 22 June 1994 and is a body corporate.  
The Council's main office  is located at 115 Civic Parade, Altona.  

Statement of compliance 

These financial statements are a general purpose financial report that consists of a Comprehensive  Income Statement, 
Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Capital Works and Notes 
accompanying these financial statements. The general purpose financial report complies with the Australian Accounting 
Standards (AAS), other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the Local Government 
Act 1989, and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014.

Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting
The accrual basis of accounting has been used in the preparation of these financial statements, whereby assets, liabilities, 
equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is 
received or paid. 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated judgements are  based on professional judgement 
derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future periods 
that are affected by the revision.  Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application of AAS's that have 
significant effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to:
 - the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 6.2)
 - the determination of depreciation for  buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 6.2)
 - the determination of employee provisions (refer to Note 5.5)
 - the  determination of whether performance obligations are sufficiently specific so as to determine whether an arrangement 
is within the scope of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  or AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities 
(refer to Note 3)
 - the determination, in accordance with AASB 16 Leases , of the lease term, the estimation of the discount rate when not 
implicit in the lease and whether an arrangement is in substance short-term or low value (refer to Note 5.8)

The declaration of a global pandemic by World Health Organisation has resulted in various measures being taken by all 
levels of Government in Australia to reduce the spread of COVID-19. This has created a level of uncertainty around the 
judgements, assumptions and estimations used to determine the carrying values of assets and liabilities. 
Amounts which may be affected by the pandemic include:
 - Receivables and expected credit loss provision may be affected by a continuing economic downturn; 
- Fair value of non-financial assets valued by unit rates and direct replacement cost is not immediately affected:
- Impairment of non-financial assets may be affected by the continuation of work restrictions affecting the ability of Council to 
maintain assets;
- Superannuation The Vision Super defined benefit fund Vested Benefit Index may require support if there is a deterioration 
in the financial market; 
- Going concern - Council has the capacity and resources to continue operating during the Covid-19 pandemic and manage 
the economic challenges during the downturn. Council's Annual Budget for 2020-21 reflects Council's future expectations 
about the future environment and the capacity of Council to continue as a going concern.
- the assumption that Council can continue to operate as a going concern remains the appropriate basis to prepare the 
Annual Financial Report;
- Subsequent events including the stage 4 lockdown restrictions which have been met by Council's Community Support 
Package #2 outlined in the Annual Budget for 20-21.

Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the prior year.  Where appropriate, 
comparative figures have been amended to accord with current presentation (except where transitional requirements of 
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers , AASB 16 Leases  and AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities  do 
not require restatement of comparatives under the modified retrospective approach adopted by the Council), and disclosure 
has been made of any material changes to comparatives. 

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020
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COVID-19 PANDEMIC

On 30 January 2020, COVID-19 was declared as a global pandemic by World Health Organisation. Since then, various 
measures have been taken by all levels of Government in Australia to reduce the spread of COVID-19. This crisis and 
measures taken to mitigate it has impacted council operations in the following areas for the financial year ended 30 June 
2020:
In response to government directives amidst the COVID-19 outbreak, Council facilities, libraries, community centres and 
halls were closed to the community which has resulted in a decrease in Council User fee revenue.
User fees were also impacted by the downturn in the market and the refund of fees as part of the Community support 
package which included food premises registration ($414,000) and footpath trading permits ($122,000).
Council provided a full rental rebate and refunds to eligible business tenants in rent agreements from 1 April 2020 to 30 June 
2020 which reduced rent revenue within Other income ($316,000).
Statutory fees and fines were impacted by the market downturn from the pandemic and the refund of fees and charges as 
part of Council's Community Support Package ($593,000).
Council revised its Hardship Policy in response to the crisis on 23 June 2020. This is expected to result in an increase in the 
deferment of rates, fees, charges and rentals. Council has a net $16,000 reduction in rate interest from the deferment of 
interest to date.
The financial impact of the deferral of rates revenue has contributed to the rates debtor balance as at 30 June 2020 to 
increase by $1.734 million compared to last year - refer to Note 5.1 (c).

Subsequent events
Since 30 June 2020 there have been Covid-19 developments including an increase in transmission and the introduction of 
stage 4 restrictions from 2 August 2020 further impacting local socio-economic activity.
This will have an impact on service delivery, revenues, add additional expenses to the delivery of Council services and 
programs. The full effect is difficult to estimate due to the uncertainty and continuation of the Covid-19 pandemic.   
A further Community Support Package has been included in the Annual Budget 2020-21 which provides an estimated $5.2 
million to provide support to businesses, community organisations and the community affected by the Covid-19 pandemic. 
This includes approximately $2.2 million in rate adjustments (rebate), $1.965 million dedicated to business and economic 
recovery and nearly $943,000 invested into local community recovery.
The $2.2 million rate adjustment package includes an adjustment to each property type of :- $20 for residential, $60 for 
cultural and recreational, $200 for eligible commercial and $915 for eligible industrial. 
The business and economic recovery package of $1.965 million includes rebates for Food Safety registrations ($595,0000), 
Footpath trading permits ($150,000), Health registrations ($63,000) and planning fees ($177,000) commercial rental relief 
($210,000), Nelson Place, Williamstown parking fee suspension to December 2020 ($520,000) and business precinct 
support campaign ($250,00).

The community recovery package includes .Covid-19 recovery community grants ($500,000), local connections program 
($100,000), venue and facility use ($132,000), sports recovery program ($152,000) and access to technology ($60,000).

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020
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Note 1 Performance against budget

1.1 Income and expenditure
Budget Actual Variance Variance

2020 2020 2020 2020
$'000 $'000 $'000 % Ref

Income
Rates and charges 111,161            111,764            603                   0.5%
Statutory fees and fines 4,900                4,474                (426)                  (8.7%)
User fees 4,649                3,268                (1,381)               (29.7%) 1
Grants - operating 12,805              13,290              485                   3.8%
Grants - capital 6,003                7,426                1,423                23.7% 2
Contributions - monetary 4,136                3,440                (696)                  (16.8%) 3

61                     
-                        

(61)                    
(100.0%) 4

Fair value adjustments for investment property -                        381                   381                   0.0% 5
Other income 4,333                3,941                (392)                  (9.0%) 6
Total income 148,048            147,984            (64)                    0.0%

Expenses
Employee costs 54,175              51,453              2,722                5.0% 7
Materials and services 46,968              48,148              (1,180)               (2.5%) 8
Depreciation 19,571              20,026              (455)                  (2.3%)

-                        889                   (889)                  0.0%
Bad and doubtful debts 154                   550                   (396)                  (257.1%) 9
Borrowing costs 628                   627                   1                       0.2%

-                        76                     (76)                    0.0%

-                        1,980                (1,980)               0.0% 4
Other expenses 1,501                906                   595                   39.6%
Total expenses 122,997            124,655            (1,658)               -1.3%

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 25,051              23,329              (1,722)               -6.9%

(i) Explanation of material variations

Item Explanation

1

page 11

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020

The performance against budget  notes compare Council’s financial plan, expressed through its annual budget, with actual performance. 
The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014  requires explanation of any material variances. Council has adopted a 
materiality threshold of the lower of  ten percent or one million where further explanation is warranted. Explanations have not been provided 
for variations below the materiality threshold unless the variance is considered to be material because of its nature.

These notes are prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989  and the Local Government (Planning and 
Reporting) Regulations 2014 .

Net gain on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment

Finance costs - Leases

Amortisation - Right of use assets

Loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment

User fees were $1.381 million under budget but after adjusting for the reclassification of dispensation and pool registrations as 
statutory fees and fines the variance would be $1.278 million under budget. This is  mainly due to food premises registration fees 
in-line with Council’s COVID-19 Community Support Package ($414,000), Council transitioning out of providing family day care 
($248,000), reduced parking meter income as a result of COVID-19 ($198,000), deferment of the hard waste collection trial until 
next financial year ($127,000), footpath & furniture trading permit Community Support Package ($122,000), rates debt recovery 
costs – offset against reduced expenditure ($83,000), town planning advertising permits ($76,000), private chargeable works – 
offset by reduced expenditure ($75,000), reduced demand for meals for clients over 65 ($45,000), planning scheme amendment 
panel hearing fees ($42,000) and reduced fees for planned activity groups as a result of COVID-19 ($35,000).
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(i) Explanation of material variations

Item Explanation

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9 Bad and doubtful debts were over budget by $396,000. This mainly relates to the delays at Fines Victoria, Billing Bureau and 
Tenix for unpaid parking fines.

This non-cash amount represents the increase in value of Council's investment properties upon revaluation ($381,000).

Page 12

Capital grants were over budget from the Westgate Tunnel project funding forecast in 2018/19 and recognised in 2019/20 
($1.962million) and additional amounts for Esplanade pedestrian improvements ($229,000), Floodlighting ($200,000) offset by 
shortfalls for Digman Reserve ($250,000),  Bayside Paisley College ($565,000)  and Bayside Williamstown ($93,000) .

Contributions Monetary contributions were $696,000 under budget. The most significant decreases relate to open space 
contributions ($322,000), the former Caltex site Developer Contribution Plan ($266,000) and the Port Phillip Woollen Mill 
Developer Contribution Plan ($206,000).

The net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment of $1.854 million mainly occurred as a result of the 
‘disposal’ of the road surface, footpaths and cycleways when these assets are replaced or renewed ($760,000). Also other 
disposals for the Frances Sullivan kindergarten building ($696,000), other assets ($250,000), parks and open space ($175,000). 
also included is the disposal of shares in the Regional Kitchen Pty. Ltd ($245,000).

This was offset by the disposal of a strip of land acquired by the Westgate Distributor Authority ($274,000).

The most significant decreases relate to an ongoing focus on the recently introduced efficiency review ($2.421 million), 
community care services due to reduced funding as a result of the NDIS, contract negotiations and reduced services as a result 
of COVID-19 ($599,000), planning scheme amendments - as a result of projects deferred due to staff vacancies and COVID-19 
($511,000) and organisation wide training costs as a result of training on hold due to COVID-19 restrictions ($348,000).

Other income was under budget by $392,000 mainly due to the rental rebate provided to eligible business tenants in Council-
owned buildings in-line with Council’s COVID-19 Community Support Package ($316,000) and the closure of the Williamstown 
Hall ($74,000) as a result of COVID-19. This was offset by increased interest on investments as a result of higher available cash 
reserves ($50,000).

Employee costs were under budget by $2.722 million mainly due to the capitalisation of project management employee costs 
($1.44 million) to capital works expenditure, short term vacancies, a temporary hold on positions as a result of COVID-19 and a  
reduction in hours worked ($1.852 million), organisational restructure savings ($687,000) and a delay in the enterprise agreement 
($877,000).

The most significant increases relate to new positions that were not included in the budget ($1.419 million) and additional 
employee costs in relation to waste management for the Recycling 2.0 project ($730,000).

Materials includes operational projects transferred from the capital works program over budget that do not add to the Council’s 
asset base ($1.07 million) and capitalisation of operational expenditure ($57,000). From a financial perspective these are 
transfers of costs rather than additional costs. After adjusting for capital works transfers to and from, materials and services are 
$656,000 over budget.

Other increases include Road & drains administration works ($846,000), arboriculture works associated with updating park tree 
data and high risk works identified in a tree audit ($616,000) and the Hobsons 2.0 project relating to information technology, 
relocation and waste removal expenses ($325,000). 

The most significant increase on budget was for waste management costs including the Recycling 2.0 project ($1.172 million).
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1.2 Capital works
Budget Actual Variance Variance

2020 2020
$'000 $'000 $'000 % Ref

Property
Buildings 27,716              19,464              (8,252)              (0)                  1
Heritage buildings -                   527                  527                  0% 2
Total buildings 27,716              19,991              (7,725)              -28%
Total property 27,716              19,991              (7,725)              -28%

Plant and equipment
Heritage plant and equipment -                   50                    50                    0%
Plant, machinery and equipment 1,050                1,704                654                  62% 3
Fixtures, fittings and furniture 70                    4,728                4,658                6654% 4
Computers and telecommunications 1,160                1,359                199                  17% 5
Library books 900                  705                  (195)                 -22% 6
Total plant and equipment 3,180                8,546                5,366                169%

Infrastructure
Roads 4,675                5,151                476                  10% 7
Bridges 275                  725                  450                  164% 8
Footpaths and cycleways 3,537                3,901                364                  10% 9
Drainage 2,130                3,185                1,055                50% 10
Recreational, leisure and community facilities 2,143                3,001                858                  40% 11
Waste management 10                    2,537                2,527                25270% 12
Parks, open space and streetscapes 15,054              14,987              (67)                   0%
Off street car parks 420                  468                  48                    11% 13
Other infrastructure 630                  939                  309                  49% 14
Total infrastructure 28,874              34,894              6,020                21%

Total capital works expenditure 59,770              63,431              3,661                6%

Represented by:
New asset expenditure 12,150              7,285                (4,865)              -40% 15
Asset renewal expenditure 23,367              21,511              (1,856)              -8% 15
Asset upgrade expenditure 24,253              34,635              10,382              43% 15
Total capital works expenditure 59,770              63,431              3,661                6%

(i) Explanation of material variations

Item Explanation

1 Buildings

2 Heritage buildings

3 Plant, machinery and equipment

4 Fixtures, fittings and furniture

5 Computers and telecommunications

6 Library books

Page 13

Notes to the Financial Report
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Variance 
Ref

Heritage buildings were over budget ($363,000) as a result of works at the 
Williamstown Mechanics Institute and Williamstown Town Hall ($144,000).

Plant, machinery and equipment is over budget as a result of additional motor 
vehicle purchases ($788,000) as Council transitions to purchasing motor 
vehicles rather than leasing and the purchase of electric vehicles.

Furniture and fittings were over budget for the fitout of the Altona Civic 
Centre  ($4.368 million) which was budgeted under buildings.

J.T. Gray reserve pavilion ($2.543 million), Altona sports Centre extension 
($1.392 million), Dennis Reserve underspend ($1.323) million, Digman 
Reserve pavilion ($635,000), Bayside Paisley college ($856,000), public toilet 
renewals ($183,000).

Computers and telecommunications over spend is from audio visual 
equipment ($315,000) and under spend on the Library management system 
($110,000).

Library books under expenditure is offset by additional operating expenditure 
on e-books, licenses and subscriptions ($205,000).
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Item Explanation

7 Roads

8 Bridges

9 Footpaths and cycleways

10 Drainage

11 Recreational, leisure and community facilities

12 Waste management

13 Off street car parks

14 Other infrastructure

15 New renewal and upgrade expenditure

Off street car parks are over budget as a result of works at Altona golf course 
and box lacrosse ($306,000).

Other infrastructure is over budget from works at Esplanade Williamstown 
pedestrian improvements ($131,000), pedestrian crossing Douglas Parade 
($94,000) and Blyth Street and Grieve Parade Altona ($83,000).

Variance 
Ref

Page 14

Variations to the budget are the result of the above changes and the 
classification of expenditure to the appropriate category.

Roads were over budget by $675,000. Over budget spends were on Ajax 
Road Altona ($565,000), Truman Street South Kingsville ($366,000), Charles 
Street Williamstown ($171,000), Forrest Street Spotswood ($135,000) offset 
by underspends on Vernon Street Williamstown ($380,000) and pedestrian 
crossings at Pier Street Altona ($151,000) and Douglas Parade ($187,000).

Bridges is over budget due to the P.A. Burns bridge ($376,000) and Altona 
boat ramp foot bridge ($96,000).

Footpaths and cycleways are over budget due to P.A. Burns reserve Altona 
($424,000), Stevedore Street Williamstown beautification ($370,000) and 
Crofton Reserve Williamstown ($206,000), Armstrong Reserve Newport  
($105,000), Minor renewal works ($96,000) and Melbourne Road 
Williamstown ($66,000). Offset by underspends on Skeleton Creek Trail 
($662,000) and Champion Road Williamstown ($421,000).

Drainage is above budget as a result of works on Millers Road Altona outfall 
($431,000), Yarra Street, Dover Road and the Strand Newport  ($401,000), 
Esplanade and Sargood Street Altona flood mitigation ($292,000) .

Recreational, leisure and community facilities is over budget as a result of 
Bayside College Paisley campus ($968,000), Bayside College Williamstown 
($628,000) and Epsom Street Laverton project ($276,000). This was offset by 
underspends at H.D. Graham reserve development ($411,000) and Fearon 
Reserve floodlighting ($268,000).

Waste management is over budget as a result of Council's Recycling 2.0 
program including additional bins for each household. 
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Note 2 Analysis of Council results by program 

2 (a) Corporate Services

Sustainable Communities

Page 15

The planning services area includes the assessment of city development, health and local laws, planning strategy and 
urban growth. 

Council delivers its functions and activities through the  following  programs.  

Sustainable communities provides high quality community focused programs, service delivery and communication to 
residents. Sustainable communties is comprised of community care, community development, family and children's 
services, public health, and social planning and investment. 

Corporate services provides efficient, effective and proactive support services across council to enable the delivery of 
policy commitments, council vision and mission. The provision of these services includes finance services, digital 
information and technology, property and procurement, strategy and program delivery and program integration and 
development. 

The planning services area of Sustainable communities includes the assessment of city development, health, planning 
strategy and urban growth. 

Infrastructure and City Services 

City services is responsible for constructing new infrastructure and maintaining existing infrastructure across a very 
diverse range of assets that underpin the wellbeing of the community. These assets include capital works engineering 
services, environment and waste, city works, parks and gardens, emergency management and municipal resources. 
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2 (b) Summary of revenues, expenses, assets and capital expenses by program

 Income  Expenses  Surplus 
 Grants 

included in 
income 

 Total assets 

2020 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Corporate Services 33,651          27,491          6,160            1,443            48,366          
Sustainable Communities 56,329          46,925          9,404            9,153            142,893        
Infrastructure & City Services 58,004          50,239          7,765            10,120          1,161,694     

147,984        124,655        23,329          20,716          1,352,953     

 Income  Expenses  Surplus 
 Grants 

included in 
income 

 Total assets 

2019 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Corporate Services 29,588          22,423          7,165            484               53,190          
Sustainable Communities 66,813          52,907          13,906          10,227          173,213        
Infrastructure & City Services 50,904          44,321          6,583            7,624            1,090,352     

147,305        119,651        27,654          18,335          1,316,755     

Page 16

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020
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Note 3 Funding for the delivery of our services 2020 2019
3.1 Rates and charges $'000 $'000

General rates            101,054              97,894 
Waste management charge                9,073                8,839 
Supplementary rates and rate adjustments                   479                   255 
Interest on rates and charges                   465                   460 
Revenue in lieu of rates                   693                   513 
Total rates and charges            111,764            107,961 

3.2 Statutory fees and fines

Infringements and costs                2,145                2,721 
Court recoveries                       7                       3 
Town planning fees                1,566                1,745 
Land information certificates                     84                     74 
Permits                   672                   752 
Total statutory fees and fines                4,474                5,295 

3.3 User fees

Aged and health services 534                 1,691              
Leisure centre and recreation 134                 448                 
Child care/children's programs 81                   317                 
Parking 714                 921                 
Registration and other permits 195                 977                 
Roads and drains 365                 277                 
Town planning 134                 168                 
Facilities 340                 316                 
Building services 323                 409                 
Other fees and charges 448                 827                 
Total user fees 3,268              6,351              

User fees by timing of revenue recognition
User fees recognised over time -                      -                      
User fees recognised at a point in time 3,268              6,351              
Total user fees 3,268              6,351              

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020

Council uses Capital Improved Value (CIV) as the basis of valuation of all properties within the municipal district.  The Capital Improved 
Value  of a property is the sum which the property might be expected to realise at the time of valuation if offered for sale on any 
reasonable terms and conditions. 

The valuation base used to calculate general rates for 2019/20 was $37,726 million (2018/19 $37,059 million). The 2019/20 residential 
rate in the dollar was 0.2128 cents (2018/19 0.2060 cents). Differential rating factors are used for the purpose of applying variable rates 
according to land use

The date of the latest general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the municipal district was 1 January 2020, and the valuation 
will be first applied in the rating year commencing 1 July 2020.

Annual rates and charges are recognised as revenues when Council issues annual rates notices.  Supplementary rates are recognised 
when a valuation and reassessment is completed and a supplementary rates notice issued.

Statutory  fees and fines (including parking fees and fines) are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided, the payment 
is received, or when the penalty has been applied, whichever first occurs.

User fees are recognised as revenue at a point in time, or over time, when (or as) the performance obligation is satisfied.  Recognition 
is based on the underlying contractual terms.

User fee reduction from Councils response to the Covid-19 pandemic includes Community Support Package refunds of registration and 
permits of $518,000 at 30 June 2020. In addition, there has been a reduction in Aged Care services provided by Council of 
$1.157million.
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Note 3 Funding for the delivery of our services 2020 2019
$'000 $'000

3.4 Funding from other levels of government
Grants were received in respect of the following :
Summary of grants
Commonwealth funded grants                8,549                8,276 
State funded grants              12,167              10,059 
Total grants received              20,716              18,335 

(a) Operating Grants
Recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Financial Assistance Grants                2,859                2,683 
Aged home and community care                4,914                4,843 
Food Services                       3                       2 
Recurrent - State Government
Family Youth and children                1,826                   903 
Aged home and community care                1,086                1,417 
School crossing supervisors                   327                   284 
Libraries                   644                   627 
Maternal and child health                       -                   725 
Infrastructure                   487                   218 
Public Health                   108                   111 
Beach cleaning                   105                   104 
Recycling                   265                     98 
Community safety                       -                     72 
Recreation                   516                     42 
Other                       2                     99 
Total recurrent operating grants              13,142              12,228 

2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Non-recurrent - State Government
Recycling                       -                       3 
Recreation                       4                       - 
Family Youth and children                     92                       - 
Aged care                     34                   484 
Other                     18                     35 
Total non-recurrent operating grants                   148                   522 

Total operating grants              13,290              12,750 

(b) Capital Grants
Recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Roads to recovery                   477                   664 
Total recurrent capital grants                   477                   664 
Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Infrastructure                     66                     85 
Recreation                   229                       - 
Non-recurrent - State Government
Recreation                6,472                4,201 
Infrastructure                   182                   635 
Total non-recurrent capital grants                6,949                4,921 

Total capital grants                7,426                5,585 

(c) Unspent grants received on condition that they be spent in a specific manner
Operating

Balance at start of year 199                 350                 
Received during the financial year and remained unspent at balance date 1,544              199                 
Received in prior years and spent during the financial year (199)                (350)                
Balance at year end                1,544                   199 

Capital
Balance at start of year 1,930              -                      
Received during the financial year and remained unspent at balance date 223                 1,930              
Received in prior years and spent during the financial year (1,930)             -                      
Balance at year end                   223                1,930 

Grant income is recognised at the point in time when the council satisfies its performance obligations as specified in the underlying 
agreement.
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The Commonwealth government has brought forward an estimated half of the Financial Assistance Grants for the 20-21 year which 
were received in advance in 2019-20. This is a continuation of brought forward payments in 18-19 and the net effect is $95,000 in 
advance.
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2020 2019
3.5 Contributions $'000 $'000

Monetary 3,440              4,671              
Total contributions 3,440              4,671              

3.6 Net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

Proceeds of sale 475                 360                 
Written down value of assets disposed (2,455)             (1,334)             
Total net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (1,980)             (974)                

3.7 Other income 2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Interest 1,476              2,029              
Investment property rental 2,140              2,059              
Other rent 325                 599                 
Other -                      5                     
Total other income 3,941              4,692              

Monetary and non monetary contributions are recognised as revenue when Council obtains control over the contributed asset.  

Interest is recognised as it is earned.

The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined when control of the asset has passed to the buyer.

Other income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when Council gains control 
over the right to receive the income.
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Note 4 The cost of delivering services 2020 2019
4.1 (a) Employee costs $'000 $'000

Wages and salaries 44,341             48,412             
Casual and agency staff 2,209              2,427              
WorkCover 373                 372                 
Superannuation 4,012              4,372              
Fringe benefits tax 6                     6                     
Other 512                 261                 
Total employee costs 51,453             55,850             

(b) Superannuation
Council made contributions to the following funds:

Defined benefit fund
Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) 207                 301                 
Employer contributions  - other funds -                      -                      

207                 301                 
Employer contributions payable at reporting date. -                      -                      

Accumulation funds
Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) 2,133              2,280              
Employer contributions -  other funds 1,726              1,814              

3,859              4,094              
Employer contributions payable at reporting date. -                      -                      

Refer to note 9.3 for further information relating to Council's superannuation obligations.

4.2 Materials and services

Contracts 15,828             11,066             
General maintenance 11,722             7,756              
Recycling, tipping and refuse collections 6,547              5,360              
Building maintenance 2,088              5,188              
Utilities 3,144              3,224              
Consultants 2,772              2,628              
Office administration 1,264              1,905              
Information technology 2,060              1,857              
Community grants 1,110              1,095              
Insurance 1,020              881                 
Other 593                 601                 
Total materials and services 48,148             41,561             

4.3 Depreciation 

Property 3,303              3,063              
Plant and equipment 2,721              2,358              
Infrastructure 14,002             13,205             
Total depreciation 20,026             18,626             
Refer to note 5.2( c ), 5.8 and 6.2 for a more detailed breakdown of depreciation and amortisation charges and accounting policy.

4.4 Amortisation - Right of use assets

Office equipment 503                 -                      
Vehicles 386                 -                      
Total Amortisation - Right of use assets 889                 -                      
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4.5 Bad and doubtful debts 2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Parking fine debtors 436                 552                 
Other debtors 114                 24                   
Total bad and doubtful debts 550                 576                 

Movement in provisions for doubtful debts
Balance at the beginning of the year 2,664              2,115              
New provisions recognised during the year 551                 602                 
Amounts already provided for and written off as uncollectible (28)                  (27)                  
Amounts provided for but recovered during the year -                      (26)                  
Balance at end of year 3,187              2,664              

4.6 Borrowing costs

Interest - Borrowings 627                 627                 
Total borrowing costs 627                 627                 

4.7 Finance Costs - Leases

Interest - Lease Liabilities 76                   -                      
Total finance costs 76                   -                      

4.8 Other expenses

Auditors' remuneration - VAGO - audit of the financial statements, performance statement 
and grant acquittals

68                   68                   

Auditors' remuneration - Internal 121                 109                 
Councillors' allowances 259                 254                 
Others 458                 1,006              
Total other expenses 906                 1,437              

Provision for doubtful debt is recognised based on an expected credit loss model.  This model considers both historic and forward 
looking information in determining the level of impairment.

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, except where they are capitalised as part of a 
qualifying asset constructed by Council.
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The Covid-19 pandemic has increased economic uncertainty and the likelihood of future changes to the expected credit loss model 
assumptions. As at 30 June 2020 the provision for doubtful debts reflects the uncertainty ahead.  
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Note 5 Our financial position 2020 2019
5.1 Financial assets $'000 $'000

(a) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand 4                     4                     
Cash at bank (13)                  (216)                
Term deposits 5,480              1,430              
Total cash and cash equivalents 5,471              1,218              

(b) Other financial assets
Regional Kitchen Pty Ltd - at fair value -                      357
Procurement Australasia Ltd - at fair value 1                     -
Term deposits - current 69,000             85,000             
Total other financial assets 69,001             85,357             
Total financial assets 74,472             86,575             

- Trust funds and deposits (Note 5.3(b)) 5,718              5,325              
Total restricted funds 5,718              5,325              
Total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents (247)                (4,107)             
Other financial assets - term deposits Note 5.1 (b) 69,001             85,357             
Total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets 68,754             81,250             

Intended allocations

 - cash held to fund carried forward capital works 23,409             20,154             
 - Cash held to fund recreation land works 10,558             12,571             
 - Cash held to fund carried forward capital works 1,619              16,732             
 - Cash held to fund future loan repayments 9,650              8,125              
 - Cash held to fund carried forward waste management works (201)                4,689              
 - Cash held to fund unexpended grants 1,767              199                 
 - Cash held to fund car park reserves 222                 222                 
 - Cash held to fund street tree planting works 136                 161                 
 - Cash held to fund Hobsons Bay Caravan park site works 92                   92                   
 - Cash held to fund Port Phillip woollen mill works 414                 412                 
Total funds subject to intended allocations 47,666             63,357             
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Other financial assets are valued at fair value, at balance date.  Term deposits are measured at original cost. Any unrealised gains and 
losses on holdings at balance date are recognised as either a revenue or expense.  

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits at call, and other highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days 
or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Councils cash and cash equivalents are subject to external restrictions that limit amounts available for discretionary use.  These 
include:

Although not externally restricted the following amounts have been allocated for specific future purposes by Council:
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2020 2019
(c) Trade and other receivables $'000 $'000

Current
Rates debtors 9,123               7,389               
Net GST receivable 2,754               1,369               
Infringement debtors 3,837               3,434               
Provision for doubtful debts -  infringements (2,936)              (2,499)              

Non statutory receivables
Loans and advances to community organisations 36                    32                    

Other debtors 974                  1,073               
Provision for doubtful debts - other debtors (251)                 (165)                 

Total current trade and other receivables 13,537             10,633             
Non-current
Non statutory receivables
Other debtors 112                  150                  

Loans and advances to community organisations 159                  195                  
Total non-current trade and other receivables 271                  345                  

Total trade and other receivables 13,808             10,978             

(d) Ageing of Receivables

Current (not yet due) -                       -                       
Past due by up to 30 days 712                  969                  
Past due between 31 and 180 days 23                    15                    
Past due between 181 and 365 days 58                    108                  
Past due by more than 1 year 237                  193                  
Total trade and other receivables 1,030               1,285               

(e) Ageing of individually impaired Receivables

Current (not yet due) 3                      5                      
Past due by up to 30 days 1                      10                    
Past due between 31 and 180 days 48                    25                    
Past due between 181 and 365 days 93                    36                    
Past due by more than 1 year 106                  85                    
Total trade & other receivables 251                  161                  
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Short term receivables are carried at invoice amount. A provision for doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective evidence that an 
impairment has occurred.  Long term receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

The ageing of the Council's trade and other receivables (excluding statutory receivables) that are not impaired was:

At balance date, other debtors representing financial assets with a nominal value of $1.030 million (2019: $1.285 million) were impaired.  
The amount of the provision raised against these debtors was $251,000 (2019: $161,000).  They individually have been impaired as a result 
of their doubtful collection. Many of the long outstanding past due amounts have been lodged with Council's debt collectors or are on 
payment arrangements.

The ageing of receivables that have been individually determined as impaired at reporting date was:

Council's rate debtor increase reflects the economic uncertainty associated with the Covid-19 pandemic - councils rates remain secured 
against the property. The infringement debtor increase relates to Fines Victoria's collection of outstanding amounts and provision has been 
made to reflect the uncertainty and credit risk around this amount.  

While there will be an increase in the credit risk as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic it is expected to be immaterial in the short term. In the 
long term changes in expected credit losses may be required to reflect the uncertainty of estimated credit risk. 
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(a) Inventories $'000 $'000

Inventories held for distribution 29                     30                     
Total inventories 29                        30                        

(b) Other assets

Prepayments 842                      757                      
Accrued income 483                      686                      
Total other assets 1,325                  1,443                  

2020 2019
5.3 Payables $'000 $'000

(a) Trade and other payables

Trade payables 17,776              10,849              
Accrued expenses 3,977                1,069                
Total trade and other payables 21,753              11,918              

(b) Trust funds and deposits

Refundable deposits 5,718                5,325                
Fire services levy 1,828                1,343                
Other refundable deposits 532                   473                   
Total trust funds and deposits 8,078                7,141                

(c) Unearned income
Grants received in advance - operating 486                   -                        
Grants received in advance - capital 223                   1,930                
Total unearned income 709                   1,930                

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020
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Purpose and nature of items

Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost, adjusted when applicable for any loss of service potential.  All other inventories, including land held for 
sale, are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Where inventories are acquired for no cost or nominal consideration, they are measured at 
current replacement cost at the date of acquisition.

Amounts received as deposits and retention amounts controlled by Council are recognised as trust funds until they are returned, transferred in accordance with 
the purpose of the receipt, or forfeited. Trust funds that are forfeited, resulting in council gaining control of the funds, are to be recognised as revenue at the 
time of forfeit.

Fire Service Levy - Council is the collection agent for fire services levy on behalf of the State Government.  Council remits amounts received on a <<monthly>> 
basis.  Amounts disclosed here will be remitted to the state government in line with that process.

Retention Amounts - Council has a contractual right to retain certain amounts until a contractor has met certain requirements or a related warrant or defect 
period has elapsed.  Subject to the satisfactory completion of the contractual obligations, or the elapsing of time, these amounts will be paid to the relevant 
contractor in line with Council's contractual obligations.

Deferred income - Is the receipt of income funding a capital project which will be completed in subsequent years.

Refundable deposits - Deposits are taken by council as a form of surety in a number of circumstances, including in relation to building works, tender deposits, 
contract deposits and the use of civic facilities.
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5.4 Interest-bearing liabilities 2020 2019

Non-current
Borrowings - secured 14,200              14,200              
Total 14,200              14,200              

(a) The maturity profile for Council's borrowings is:

Later than one year and not later than five years 9,200                9,200                
Later than five years 5,000                5,000                

14,200              14,200              

5.5 Provisions
Employee Total

2020 $ '000 $ '000
Balance at beginning of the financial year 13,143              13,143              
Additional provisions 2,726                2,726                
Amounts used (2,902)               (2,902)               
Service transfers (643)                  (643)                  
Change in the discounted amount arising because of
time and the effect of any change in the discount rate 116                   116                   

Balance at the end of the financial year 12,440              12,440              

2019
Balance at beginning of the financial year 13,421              13,421              
Additional provisions 3,024                3,024                
Amounts used (3,174)               (3,174)               
Service transfers (96)                    (96)                    
Change in the discounted amount arising because of
time and the effect of any change in the discount rate (32)                    (32)                    

Balance at the end of the financial year 13,143              13,143              
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Borrowings are initially measured at fair value, being the cost of the interest bearing liabilities, net of transaction costs. The measurement basis subsequent to 
initial recognition depends on whether the Council has categorised its interest-bearing liabilities as either financial liabilities designated at fair value through the 
profit and loss, or financial liabilities at amortised cost. Any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value is recognised in net 
result over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the interest bearing liabilities. The Council determines the classification of its interest bearing liabilities 
at initial recognition.

Borrowings are secured  against the rates of the municipality.
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2020 2019
(a) Employee provisions $'000 $'000

Annual leave 3,453                3,592                
Time in lieu 89                     65                     
End of band leave 147                   152                   
Long service leave 5,249                6,136                

8,938                9,945                

Annual leave 878                   399                   
Long service leave 1,750                2,046                

2,628                2,445                
Total current employee provisions 11,566              12,390              

Non-current 
Long service leave 874                   753                   
Annual leave -                        -                        
Total non-current employee provisions 874                   753                   

Current 11,566              12,390              
Non-current 874                   753                   

12,440              13,143              

Wages and salaries and annual leave

Key assumptions:
- discount rate 0.24% to 0.58% 1.03% to 2.15%
- index rate 2% 2%

5.6 Financing arrangements

The Council has the following funding arrangements in place as at 30 June 2020.

Bank overdraft 700                   700                   
Credit card facilities 300                   300                   
Other facilities 14,200              14,200              
Total facilities 15,200              15,200              

Used facilities 14,349              14,285              
Unused facilities 851                   915                   

15,200              15,200              

Current provisions expected to be wholly settled after 12 

Aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions:

Current provisions expected to be wholly settled within 12 

Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. LSL is measured at present value. Unconditional LSL is disclosed as 
a current liability. Conditional LSL that has been accrued, where an employee is yet to reach a qualifying term of employment, is disclosed as a non - current 
liability.
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Total aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions

Long service leave

The calculation of employee costs and benefits includes all relevant on-costs and are calculated as follows at reporting date.

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulated sick leave expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of 
the reporting date are recognised in the provision for employee benefits in respect of employee services up to the reporting date, classified as current liabilities 
and measured at their nominal values.

Liabilities that are not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in the provision for employee benefits as current 
liabilities, measured at the present value of the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at 
the time of settlement.
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5.7 Commitments

2020
Not later than 1 

year

Later than 1 
year and not 

later than 2 
years

Later than 2 
years and not 

later than 5 
years

Later than 5 
years Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Operating
Garbage collection 2,529                2,262                2,182                -                    6,973                
Building facilities 1,348                1,160                1,163                -                    3,671                
Meals for delivery 670                   670                   468                   -                    1,808                
Utilities 591                   -                    -                    -                    591                   
Information and communications 484                   403                   -                    -                    887                   
Open space management 426                   -                    -                    -                    426                   
Recycling 110                   44                     -                    -                    154                   
Other 874                   4                       -                    -                    878                   
Total 7,032                4,543                3,813                -                    15,388              

Capital
Buildings 20,490              15,083              11,877              -                    47,450              
Roads 916                   916                   1,216                -                    3,048                
Open space management 258                   96                     -                    -                    354                   
Other 328                   -                    -                    -                    328                   
Total 21,992              16,095              13,093              -                    51,180              

2019
Not later than 1 

year

Later than 1 
year and not 

later than 2 
years

Later than 2 
years and not 

later than 5 
years

Later than 5 
years Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Operating
Garbage collection 3,469                79                     -                    -                    3,548                
Utilities 1,437                595                   -                    -                    2,032                
Building facilities 1,410                1,160                2,327                -                    4,897                
Open space management 981                   3                       -                    -                    984                   
Information and communications 672                   -                    -                    -                    672                   
Meals for delivery 670                   670                   1,139                -                    2,479                
Home care services 192                   1                       -                    -                    193                   
Recycling 91                     10                     3                       -                    104                   
Other 1,443                226                   1                       -                    1,670                
Total 10,365              2,744                3,470                -                    16,579              
Cleaning contracts for council buildings
Capital
Buildings 13,589              177                   -                    -                    13,766              
Open space management 256                   -                    -                    -                    256                   
Roads 916                   916                   2,134                -                    3,966                
Total 14,761              1,093                2,134                -                    17,988              

5.8 Leases

Policy applicable before 1 July 2019

The Council has entered into the following commitments. Commitments are not recognised in the Balance Sheet. Commitments are disclosed at their nominal 
value and presented inclusive of the GST payable.
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As a lessee, council classifies leases as operating or finance leases based on its assessment of whether the lease transferred significantly all of the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset to council. 

Operating lease payments, including any contingent rentals, were recognised as an expense in the comprehensive income statement on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the leased asset. 
The leased asset was not recognised in the balance sheet.

All incentives for the agreement of a new or renewed operating lease were recognised as an integral part of the net consideration agreed for the use of the 
leased asset, irrespective of the incentive’s nature or form or the timing of payments.

In the event that lease incentives were received to enter into operating leases, the aggregate cost of incentives were recognised as a reduction of rental 
expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis, unless another systematic basis was more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits 
from the leased asset were consumed.
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Policy applicable after 1 July 2019

Right-of-Use Assets  Vehicles  Other  Total 
$'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2019                     842                  1,145                  1,987 
Amortisation charge                   (386)                   (503)                   (889)
Balance at 30 June 2020                     456                     642                  1,098 

Lease Liabilities 2020
$'000

Less than one year                     622 
One to five years                     543 
More than five years                          - 

                 1,165 

Current                     739 
Non-current                     389 
Total lease liabilities                  1,128 

Short-term and low value leases

2020
Expenses relating to: $'000
Short-term leases                     143 
Leases of low value assets                       17 

                    160 
                         - 

Payable:
Within one year                     145 
Later than one year but not later than five years                         7 
Total lease commitments                     152 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the 
right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property, plant 
and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain measurements of the lease 
liability. 

· Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

Council has applied AASB 16 Leases  using a modified retrospective approach with the cumulative effect of initial application recognised as an adjustment to 
the opening balance of accumulated surplus at 1 July 2019, with no restatement of comparative information. The council applied the approach consistently to 
all leases in which it is a lessee.

On transition to AASB 16 Leases , Council elected to apply the practical expedient to ‘grandfather’ the assessment of which transactions are leases. The 
council has applied this practical expedient to all of its contracts and therefore applied AASB 16 Leases  only to contracts that were previously identified as 
leases.
At inception of a contract, all entities would assess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To identify whether a contract conveys the right to control the 
use of an identified asset, it is necessary to assess whether:

- The contract involves the use of an identified asset;
- The customer has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset throughout the period of use; and
- The customer has the right to direct the use of the asset. 

This policy is applied to contracts entered into, or changed, on or after 1 July 2019.
As a lessee, Council recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost 
which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for:

· any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received; plus 
· any initial direct costs incurred; and 
· an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located.

Maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted cash flows 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, an appropriate incremental borrowing rate. Generally, Council uses an appropriate 
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:
· Fixed payments

· Amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and
· The exercise price under a purchase option that Council is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in an optional renewal period if Council is 
reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless Council is reasonably certain not to terminate 
early.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

Council has elected to apply the temporary option available under AASB 16 Leases which allows not-for-profit entities to not measure right-of-use assets at
initial recognition at fair value in respect of leases that have significantly below-market terms. 

 - Information about the entity's reliance on peppercorn leases. 
- Nature and term of leases such as any qualitative information about restrictions on use of asset, information about lease term, description of underlying

assets.

Total undiscounted lease liabilities as at 30 June:

Lease liabilities included in the Balance Sheet at 30 June:

Council has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of machinery that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of low-value assets (individual assets worth less than existing capitalisation thresholds for a like asset up to a maximum of AUD$10,000), including IT
equipment. Council recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Non-cancellable lease commitments - Short-term and low-value leases

Total

Commitments for minimum lease payments for short-term and low-value leases are payable as follows:
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Variable lease payments (not included in measurement of lease liabilities)
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Impact on financial statements

2019
$'000

                 2,256 
                  (153)
                  (116)

Finance lease liability recognised as at 30 June 2019                  1,987 

- Recognition exemption for:
short-term leases                   (143)
leases of low-value assets                     (10)

- Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 July 2019 (153)                  

Note 6 Assets we manage 2020 2019
6.1 Non current assets classified as held for sale $'000 $'000

Opening balance -                        147                   
Sale of land -                        (147)                  
Total non current assets classified as held for sale -                        -                        

Non-current assets classified as held for sale (including disposal groups) are measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs of disposal, 
and are not subject to depreciation. Non-current assets, disposal groups and related liabilities and assets are treated as current and classified as held for sale 
if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is 
highly probable and the asset's sale is expected to be completed within 12 months from the date of classification.

There are no indicators that any of the right of use assets are impaired or affected by the Covid-19 pandemic.
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Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 July 2019 

On transition to AASB 16 Leases , Council recognised an additional $1.986 million of right-of-use assets and $1.986 million of lease liabilities, recognising the 
difference in retained earnings. 
When measuring lease liabilities, Council discounted lease payments using its incremental borrowing rate at 1 July 2019. The weighted-average rate applied is
6%. 

Council used the following practical expedients when applying AASB 16 Leases  to leases previously classified as operating leases under AASB 117 Leases . 

At transition, lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at Council's incremental borrowing rate as at 1 
July 2019. Right-of-use assets are measured at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments. 
Council applied this approach to all applicable leases.

Council is not required to make any adjustments on transition to AASB 16 Leases for leases in which it acts as a lessor, except for a sub-lease. Council
accounted for its leases in accordance with AASB 16 Leases  from the date of initial application. 

- Applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with similar characteristics.
- Adjusted the right-of-use assets by the amount of AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets  onerous contract provision immediately 
before the date of initial application, as an alternative to an impairment review.
- Applied the exemption not to recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases with less than 12 months of lease term.
- Used hindsight when determining the lease term if the contract contains options to extend or terminate the lease.

Recognition exemption for short term leases and leases of low value assets
Operating lease commitment at 30 June 2019 as disclosed in Council's financial statements 

i. Leases classified as operating leases under AASB 117 Leases
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6.2 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

Summary of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

At Fair Value 
30 June 2019

Opening 
balance 

adjustment Additions Revaluation Depreciation Disposal Reclassification Write-off Transfers
At Fair Value 
30 June 2020

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Property 711,084.00     2,329.00           3,606.00           (1,090.00)         (3,303.00)        (835.00)           (11.00)                 -                  771.00              712,551.00     
Plant and equipment 10,917.00       -                    4,178.00           -                   (2,721.00)        (84.00)             11.00                  -                  120.00              12,421.00       
Infrastructure 474,168.00     -                    20,440.00         1,654.00           (14,002.00)      (1,164.00)        -                      -                  2,845.00           483,941.00     
Work in progress 8,156.00         -                    35,207.00         -                   -                  -                  -                      (104.00)           (3,736.00)          39,523.00       

1,204,325.00  2,329.00           63,431.00         564.00              (20,026.00)      (2,083.00)        -                      (104.00)           -                    1,248,436.00  

Summary of Work in Progress  Opening WIP  Additions  Write-off  Transfers  Closing WIP 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Property 3,359.00         16,384.00         -                    (447.00)            19,296.00       
Plant and equipment 1.00                4,369.00           -                    -                   4,370.00         
Infrastructure 4,796.00         14,454.00         (104.00)             (3,289.00)         15,857.00       
Total 8,156.00         35,207.00         (104.00)             (3,736.00)         39,523.00       

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020

Page 30

Attachment 9.2.1.1 Page 77



Hobsons Bay City Council

2019/2020 Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020

(a) Property

Land - 
specialised Total Land

Heritage 
buildings

Buildings - 
specialised

Buildings - 
non 

specialised
Total 

Buildings Total Property
Work In 

Progress
Total property 

plus WIP
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At fair value 1 July 2019 565,893.00     565,893.00       23,981.00         163,016.00       35,410.00       222,407.00     788,300.00         3,359.00         791,659.00       
Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2019 -                  -                    (6,486.00)          (70,730.00)       -                  (77,216.00)      (77,216.00)          -                  (77,216.00)        

565,893.00     565,893.00       17,495.00         92,286.00         35,410.00       145,191.00     711,084.00         3,359.00         714,443.00       
Movements in fair value
Additions -                  -                    164.00              3,396.00           46.00              3,606.00         3,606.00             16,384.00       19,990.00         
Discovered 2,113.00         2,113.00           -                    303.00              -                  303.00            2,416.00             -                  2,416.00           
Revaluation (10,105.00)      (10,105.00)        (2,082.00)          19,864.00         5,064.00         22,846.00       12,741.00           -                  12,741.00         
Disposal (139.00)           (139.00)             -                    (696.00)            -                  (696.00)           (835.00)               -                  (835.00)             
Transfers -                  -                    136.00              716.00              (90.00)             762.00            762.00                (447.00)           315.00              
Impairment losses recognised in operating result -                  -                    -                    -                   -                  -                  -                      -                  -                    

(8,131.00)        (8,131.00)          (1,782.00)          23,583.00         5,020.00         26,821.00       18,690.00           15,937.00       34,627.00         
Movements in accumulated depreciation
Depreciation and amortisation -                  -                    (230.00)             (3,073.00)         -                  (3,303.00)        (3,303.00)            -                  (3,303.00)          
Accumulated depreciation of disposals -                  -                    -                    -                   -                  -                  -                      -                  -                    
Revaluation -                  -                    (4,399.00)          (9,432.00)         -                  (13,831.00)      (13,831.00)          -                  (13,831.00)        
Transfers -                  -                    -                    (86.00)              -                  (86.00)             (86.00)                 -                  (86.00)               

-                  -                    (4,629.00)          (12,591.00)       -                  (17,220.00)      (17,220.00)          -                  (17,220.00)        

At fair value 30 June 2020 557,762.00     557,762.00       22,199.00         186,599.00       40,430.00       249,228.00     806,990.00         19,296.00       826,286.00       
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2020 -                  -                    (11,115.00)        (83,321.00)       -                  (94,436.00)      (94,436.00)          -                  (94,436.00)        

557,762.00     557,762.00       11,084.00         103,278.00       40,430.00       154,792.00     712,554.00         19,296.00       731,850.00       
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(b) Plant and Equipment
Heritage plant 

and 
equipment

Plant 
machinery and 

equipment

Fixtures 
fittings and 

furniture
Computers and 

telecomms Library books
Work In 

Progress
Total plant and 

equipment
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At fair value 1 July 2019 1,601.00         8,316.00           9,537.00           6,058.00           11,751.00       1.00                37,264.00           
Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2019 -                  (4,517.00)          (6,793.00)          (4,870.00)         (10,167.00)      (26,347.00)          

1,601.00         3,799.00           2,744.00           1,188.00           1,584.00         1.00                10,917.00           
Movements in fair value
Additions 50.00              1,704.00           360.00              1,359.00           705.00            4,369.00         8,547.00             
Disposal -                  (455.00)             (1,075.00)          (75.00)              -                  -                  (1,605.00)            
Transfers -                  -                    131.00              -                   -                  -                  131.00                

50.00              1,249.00           (584.00)             1,284.00           705.00            4,369.00         7,073.00             

Depreciation and amortisation -                  (1,127.00)          (398.00)             (610.00)            (585.00)           -                  (2,720.00)            
Accumulated depreciation of disposals -                  391.00              1,066.00           63.00                -                  -                  1,520.00             

-                  (736.00)             668.00              (547.00)            (585.00)           -                  (1,200.00)            

At fair value 30 June 2020 1,651.00         9,565.00           8,953.00           7,342.00           12,456.00       4,370.00         44,337.00           
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2020 -                  (5,253.00)          (6,125.00)          (5,417.00)         (10,752.00)      -                  (27,547.00)          

1,651.00         4,312.00           2,828.00           1,925.00           1,704.00         4,370.00         16,790.00           
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Movements in accumulated depreciation
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(c) Infrastructure

Roads Bridges
Footpaths and 

cycleways
Drainage

Recreational, 
leisure and 
community

Waste 
Management

Parks open 
spaces and 

streetscapes

Off street car 
parks

Other 
Infrastructure

Total 
Infrastructure

Work In 
Progress

Total 
Infrastructure

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At fair value 1 July 2019 412,333.00     25,382.00         79,873.00         238,274.00       25,850.00       3,718.00         38,672.00           9,523.00         11,722.00         845,347.00     4,796.00        850,143.00       
Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2019 (203,747.00)    (7,753.00)          (55,334.00)        (81,377.00)       (7,608.00)        (2,575.00)        (6,299.00)            (1,083.00)        (5,403.00)          (371,179.00)    -                 (371,179.00)      

208,586.00     17,629.00         24,539.00         156,897.00       18,242.00       1,143.00         32,373.00           8,440.00         6,319.00           474,168.00     4,796.00        478,964.00       
Movements in fair value
Additions 3,336.00         631.00              3,137.00           876.00              967.00            2,537.00         7,913.00             425.00            617.00              20,439.00       14,454.00      34,893.00         
Revaluation 768.00            1,127.00           -                    -                   -                  -                  -                      7,327.00         -                    9,222.00         -                 9,222.00           
Disposal (2,218.00)        -                    (756.00)             (58.00)              (250.00)           -                  (378.00)               -                  -                    (3,660.00)        -                 (3,660.00)          
WIP Transfers 252.00            112.00              585.00              168.00              506.00            -                  1,032.00             131.00            57.00                2,843.00         (3,393.00)       (550.00)             
Other transfers (2,886.00)        314.00              -                    -                   -                  -                  (314.00)               2,886.00         -                    -                  -                 -                    

(748.00)           2,184.00           2,966.00           986.00              1,223.00         2,537.00         8,253.00             10,769.00       674.00              28,844.00       11,061.00      39,905.00         
Movements in accumulated depreciation
Depreciation and amortisation (6,780.00)        (280.00)             (2,005.00)          (2,787.00)         (598.00)           (62.00)             (1,011.00)            (223.00)           (256.00)             (14,002.00)      -                 (14,002.00)        
Accumulated depreciation of disposals 1,459.00         -                    646.00              23.00                166.00            -                  203.00                -                  -                    2,497.00         -                 2,497.00           
Revaluation 1,283.00         (5,436.00)          -                    -                   -                  -                  -                      (3,414.00)        -                    (7,567.00)        -                 (7,567.00)          
Transfers 1,767.00         (75.00)               -                    -                   -                  -                  75.00                  (1,767.00)        -                    -                  -                 -                    

(2,271.00)        (5,791.00)          (1,359.00)          (2,764.00)         (432.00)           (62.00)             (733.00)               (5,404.00)        (256.00)             (19,072.00)      -                 (19,072.00)        

At fair value 30 June 2020 411,585.00     27,566.00         82,839.00         239,260.00       27,073.00       6,255.00         46,925.00           20,292.00       12,396.00         874,191.00     15,857.00      890,048.00       
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2020 (206,018.00)    (13,544.00)        (56,693.00)        (84,141.00)       (8,040.00)        (2,637.00)        (7,032.00)            (6,487.00)        (5,659.00)          (390,251.00)    -                 (390,251.00)      

205,567.00     14,022.00         26,146.00         155,119.00       19,033.00       3,618.00         39,893.00           13,805.00       6,737.00           483,940.00     15,857.00      499,797.00       
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Acquisition

Depreciation 
Period

Threshold Limit

Asset recognition thresholds and depreciation periods $'000

Land & land improvements

   land                         -                            1 

Buildings

   buildings 50 years                   2,000 

   heritage buildings 150 years                   2,000 

Plant and Equipment

   heritage plant and equipment -                          1 

   plant, machinery and equipment 3 - 10 years                      500 

   computers and telecommunications 3 - 5 years                          1 

   furniture, fixtures and fittings 5 - 20 years                   1,000 

   library books 5 years                          1 

Infrastructure

   roads - pavements, substructure, formation and earthworks 70 years                   5,000 

   roads - kerb, channel and minor culverts and other 70 years                   5,000 

   roads - surface 30 years                   5,000 

   bridges - deck and substructure 50 - 100 years                   5,000 

   footpaths and cycleways 30 years                   5,000 

   drainage 50 - 100 years                   2,000 
   recreational, leisure and community facilities 10 - 50 years                   2,000 
   waste management 50 years                   5,000 
   off street car parks 30 - 70 years                   5,000 
Other infrastructure 7 - 50 years                   1,000 
Parks openspace and streetscapes 10 - 50 years                   1,000 

Land under roads

Depreciation and amortisation

Repairs and maintenance

Land under roads acquired after 30 June 2008 is brought to account using the cost method. The Council does not recognise land under roads that 
it controlled prior to that period in its financial report.

Buildings, plant and equipment, infrastructure, and other assets having limited useful lives are systematically depreciated over their useful lives to 
the Council in a manner which reflects consumption of the service potential embodied in those assets.  Estimates of remaining useful lives and 
residual values are made on a regular basis with major asset classes reassessed annually.  Depreciation rates and methods are reviewed 
annually.
Where  assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are assigned distinct useful lives 
and residual values and a separate depreciation rate is determined for each component.

Road earthworks are not depreciated on the basis that they are assessed as not having a limited useful life.
Straight line depreciation is charged based on the residual useful life as determined each year.
Depreciation periods used are listed above and are consistent with the prior year unless otherwise stated.

Where the repair relates to the replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation threshold the cost is capitalised 
and depreciated.  The carrying value of the replaced asset is expensed. 

Page 34

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020

The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets, being the fair value of assets provided as consideration at the date of 
Where assets are constructed by Council, cost includes all materials used in construction, direct labour, borrowing costs incurred during 
construction, and an appropriate share of directly attributable variable and fixed  overheads.

In accordance with Council's policy, the threshold limits have applied when recognising assets within an applicable asset class and unless 
otherwise stated are consistent with the prior year.
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Valuation of land and buildings 

Level 1 Level2 Level 3 Date of Valuation
Specialised land                         -                           -                 557,762 June 2020
Heritage Buildings                         -                        705                 10,379 June 2020
Buildings                         -                   39,725               103,983 June 2020
Total                         -                   40,430               672,124 

Valuation of infrastructure

Level 1 Level2 Level 3 Date of Valuation

Roads                         -                           -                 205,567 June 2020
Bridges                         -                           -                   14,022 June 2020
Off street car parks                         -                           -                   13,805 June 2020
Footpaths and cycleways                         -                           -                   26,146 June 2019
Drainage                         -                           -                 155,119 June 2019
Recreational, leisure and community facilities                         -                           -                   19,033 
Waste management                         -                           -                     3,618 
Parks, open space and streetscapes                         -                           -                   39,893 
Other infrastructure                         -                           -                     6,737 
Total                         -                           -                 483,940 

Details of the Council’s infrastructure and information about the fair value hierarchy as  at 30 June 2020 are as follows:

Valuation of infrastructure assets has been determined in accordance with a valuation undertaken by the Council's asset management team as at 
30 June 2020, supervised by Matthew Irving B.Eng (Civil) based on current replacement cost less accumulated depreciation as at the date of 
valuation.  
The dates of current valuations are detailed in the following table and the valuations were based on current supply unit rates.
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Valuation of land and buildings were undertaken by a qualified independent valuer Liam McNamara, AAPI, CPV, valuer registration no: 63119. The 
valuation of land and buildings is at fair value, being market value based on highest and best use permitted by relevant land planning provisions.  
Where land use is restricted through existing planning provisions the valuation is reduced to reflect this limitation.  This adjustment is an 
unobservable input in the valuation.  The adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive income statement.  

Specialised land is valued at fair value using site values adjusted for englobo (undeveloped and/or unserviced) characteristics, access rights and 
private interests of other parties and entitlements of infrastructure assets and services.  This adjustment is an unobservable input in the valuation.  
The adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive income statement.

Any significant movements in the unobservable inputs for land and land under roads will have a significant impact on the fair value of these assets.

Details of the Council’s  land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as  at 30 June 2020 are as follows:

The valuation is at fair value based on replacement cost less accumulated depreciation as at the date of valuation.
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Asset impairment and Covid-19

2020 2019
Reconciliation of specialised land $'000 $'000
Community facilities 54,511                57,813                
Parks and reserves 486,767              488,026              
Other 16,484                20,054                
Total specialised land 557,762              565,893              

Specialised buildings are valued using a depreciated replacement cost technique.  Significant unobservable inputs include the current 
replacement cost and remaining useful lives of buildings.  Current replacement costs are calculated on a square metre basis and ranges from $50 
to $20,000 per square metre.  The remaining useful lives of buildings are determined on the basis of the current condition of buildings and vary 
from 0 years to 50 years.  Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions, with any increase or decrease in cost flowing through to 
the valuation. Useful lives of buildings are sensitive to changes in expectations or requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives 
of buildings.

At the date of this report there are no indications of impairment from the Covid-19 pandemic for property, plant and equipment valuations. This may 
change with the continuing economic uncertainty. The market conditions created by Covid-19 were considered in the land and market value 
assessments of land and buildings. While uncertainty remains in the market there is less volatility in the market for land and buildings compared to 
financial markets in the short term. However, this has the capacity to change over a short period of time.   
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Infrastructure assets  are valued based on the depreciated replacement cost.   Significant unobservable inputs include the current replacement 
cost and remaining useful lives of infrastructure.  The remaining useful lives of infrastructure assets are determined on the basis of the current 
condition of the asset and vary from 7 years to 100 years.  Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions, with any increase or 
decrease in cost flowing through to the valuation.  Useful lives of infrastructure are sensitive to changes in use, expectations or requirements that 
could either shorten or extend the useful lives of infrastructure assets.

Description of significant unobservable inputs into level 3 valuations

Specialised land is valued using a market based direct comparison technique.  Significant unobservable inputs include the extent and impact of 
restriction of use and the market cost of land per square metre.  The extent and impact of restrictions on use varies and results in a reduction to 
surrounding land values between 5% and 95%.  The market value of land varies significantly depending on the location of the land and the current 
market conditions.  Currently land values range between $5 and $5,650 per square metre.  

Infrastructure assets are valued by using unit cost rates from Council contracts. The unit rates are unlikely to change in the short term but may be 
subject to variability and contractor capacity with the continuation of Covid-19 restrictions.
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2020 2019
$'000 $'000

6.3 Investment property

Balance at beginning of financial year 13,404             13,404             
Fair value adjustments 381                  -                       
Balance at end of financial year 13,785             13,404             

Valuation of investment property

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020
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Valuation of investment property has been determined in accordance with an independent valuation by Liam McNamara, AAPI, CPV, 
valuer registration no: 63119 of Opteon Property Group who has recent experience in the location and category of the property being 
valued.  The valuation is at fair value, based on the current market value for the property.

Investment property is held to generate long-term rental yields. Investment property is measured initially at cost, including transaction 
costs. Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefit in excess of the 
originally assessed performance of the asset will flow to the Council. Subsequent to initial recognition at cost, investment property is 
carried at fair value, determined annually by independent valuers. Changes to fair value are recorded in the comprehensive  income 
statement in the period that they arise.

Council has provided rent relief to eligible tenants during 19/20 to provide financial support duriing teh Covid-19 pandemic and this will 
continue into 20/21. This will increase their ability to negotiate the effects of the Covid-19 business downturn upon their activity. The 
valuation of investment property may be subject to future falls in value if the Covid-19 pandemic continues to reduce commercial 
economic activity. 
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2020 2019
Note 7 People and relationships No. No.

7.1 Council and key management remuneration
(a) Related Parties

Parent entity
Model Council is the parent entity.

(b) Key Management Personnel

Councillors Councillor Colleen Gates ( Mayor 8 November 2019 to 30 June 2020 )
Councillor Jonathon Marsden ( Mayor 1 July 2019 to 7 November 2019 )
Councillor Angela Altair
Councillor Tony Briffa 
Councillor Michael Grech 
Councillor Peter Hemphill
Councillor Sandra Wilson
Chief Executive Officer
Director - Corporate Services
Director - Infrastructure and City Services
Director - Sustainable Communities

Total Number of Councillors 7                      7                           

Total of Chief Executive Officer and other Key Management Personnel 4                      6                           
Total Number of Key Management Personnel 11                    13                         

(c) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 2020 2019
$ $

Total remuneration of key management personnel was as follows:
Short-term benefits 1,038               1,314                    
Post employment benefits 103                  105                       
Long-term benefits 28                    35                         
Termination benefits -                   -                        
Total 1,169               1,454                    

2020 2019
No. No.

$10,000 - $19,999 1                      -                        
$20,000 - $29,999 5                      5                           

1                      1                           
1                      1                           

-                   1                           
-                   1                           
-                   1                           

$190,000 - $199,999 -                   1                           
1                      -                        
1                      1                           
1                      -                        

-                   1                           
1                      -                        

12                    13                         

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020

The numbers of key management personnel whose total remuneration from Council and any 
related entities, fall within the following bands:

$40,000 - $49,999
$60,000 - $69,999
$80,000 - $89,999

$280,000 - $289,999

Details of persons holding the position of Councillor or other members of key management personnel at any time during the year are:

$90,000 - $99,999
$150,000 - $159,999

$270,000 - $279,999

$350,000 - $359,999

$260,000 - $269,999

$360,000 - $369,999
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(d) Senior Officer Remuneration

The number of Senior Officers are shown below in their relevant income bands:

2020 2019
No. No.

3                      2                           
4                      6                           
3                      4                           
6                      2                           
2                      4                           
1                      -

-                   1                           
19                    19                         

3,352               4,121                    

2020 2019
7.2 Related party disclosure $'000 $'000

- -

- -

- -

- -

A Senior Officer is an officer of Council, other than Key Management Personnel, who: 

a) has management responsibilities and reports directly to the Chief Executive; or

Income Range:

b) whose total annual remuneration exceeds $151,000

$151,000 - $159,999

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties 

$160,000 - $169,999

$210,000 - $219,999

$170,000 - $179,999
$180,000 - $189,999
$190,000 - $199,999
$200,000 - $209,999

(a) Transactions with related parties 

During the period Council entered into the following transactions with related parties.

Total Remuneration for the reporting year for Senior Officers included above, amounted to:
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(c) Loans to/from related parties

The aggregate amount of loans in existence at balance date that have been made, guaranteed 
or secured by the council to a related party as follows:

The following balances are outstanding at the end of the reporting period in relation to 
transactions with related parties

(d) Commitments to/from related parties

The aggregate amount of commitments  in existence at balance date that have been made, 
guaranteed or secured by the council to a related party are as follows:
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Note 8 Managing uncertainties
8.1 Contingent assets and liabilities

Operating lease receivables

2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Not later than one year                   1,985                   2,069 
Later than one year and not later than five years                   7,122                   7,324 
Later than five years                 11,288                 12,908 

                20,395                 22,301 

(b) Contingent liabilities

Superannuation

Future superannuation contributions

Insurance claims

Legal matters

Building cladding

2020 2019

$'000 $'000
Altona Sports Centre - Loan guarantee 1,500                  1,500                  

The amount disclosed for financial guarantee in this note is the nominal amount of the underlying loan that is guaranteed by the Council, not 
the fair value of the financial guarantee.
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Financial guarantee contracts are not recognised as a liability in the balance sheet unless the lender has exercised their right to call on the 
guarantee or Council has other reasons to believe that it is probable that the right will be exercised.  

(c) Guarantees for loans to other entities

The Council has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property, consisting of surplus freehold office complexes. These 
properties held under operating leases have remaining non-cancellable lease terms of between 1 and 24 years. All leases include a CPI based 
revision of the rental charge annually.

Future undiscounted minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet, but are disclosed and if quantifiable, are measured at 
nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable, respectively.

Council has no major insurance claims that could have a material impact on future operations.

Council has no major legal matters  that could have a material impact on future operations.

Council has no potential contingents that may exist in relation to rectification works or other matters associated with building cladding that may 
have the potential to adversely impact on Council.

In addition to the disclosed contributions, Hobsons Bay City Council has not paid unfunded liability payments to Vision Super during the 
2019/20 year (2018/19 $nil). There were no contributions outstanding and no loans issued from or to the above schemes as at 30 June 2020. 
The expected contributions to be paid to the Defined Benefit category of Vision Super for the year ending 30 June 2021 are $200,000.

Council has obligations under a defined benefit superannuation scheme that may result in the need to make additional contributions to the 
scheme, matters relating to this potential obligation are outlined below.   As a result of the volatility in financial markets the likelihood of making 
such contributions in future periods exists. It is not known if additional contributions will be required, their timing or potential amount.
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8.2

8.3 Financial instruments
(a)  Objectives and policies

(b) Market risk

Interest rate risk

 - diversification of investment product;
 - monitoring of return on investment; and
 - benchmarking of returns and comparison with budget.

Interest rate movements have not been sufficiently significant during the year to have an impact on the Council's year end result.

AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Definition of Material (applies 2020/21 for LG Sector)
The Standard principally amends AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements  and AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors . The amendments refine the definition of material in AASB 101. The amendments clarify the definition of material and its 
application by improving the wording and aligning the definition across AASB Standards and other publications. The impacts on the local 
government sector are expected to be minimal.

AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - References to the Conceptual Framework (applies 2020/21 for LG 
Sector)

This Standard sets out amendments to Australian Accounting Standards, Interpretations and other pronouncements to reflect the issuance of 
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (Conceptual Framework) by the AASB. The impacts on the local government sector are 
expected to be minimal.
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AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors (AASB 1059) (applies 2020/21 for LG Sector)

The following new AAS's have been issued that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2020 reporting period.  Council has assessed these pending 
standards and has identified the following potential impacts will flow from the application of these standards in future reporting periods.

AASB 1059 addresses the accounting for a service concession arrangement by a grantor that is a public sector entity by prescribing the 
accounting for the arrangement from the grantor’s perspective.

Change in accounting standards

The Council's principal financial instruments comprise cash assets, term deposits, receivables (excluding statutory receivables), payables 
(excluding statutory payables) and bank borrowings.  Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria 
for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial 
asset, financial liability and equity instrument is disclosed in the notes of the financial statements.  Risk management is carried out by senior 
management under policies approved by the Council. These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure to Council and 
appropriate procedures, controls and risk minimisation.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of council financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.  
The Council's exposure to market risk is primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant exposure to other price risks and no exposure 
to foreign currency risk. 

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market interest rates. Council's  interest rate liability risk arises primarily from long term loans and borrowings at fixed rates which 
exposes council to fair value interest rate risk / Council does not hold any interest bearing financial instruments that are measured at fair value, 
and therefore has no exposure to fair value interest rate risk.  Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Council has minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risk through its 
cash and deposits that are at floating rates. 

Investment of surplus funds is made with approved financial institutions under the Local Government Act 1989 . Council manages interest rate 
risk by adopting an investment policy that ensures:

There has been no significant change in the Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing interest rate risk or the 
methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.

Based on the Council’s current assessment, there is expected to be no impact on the transactions and balances recognised in the financial 
statements as the Council is not a grantor in a service concession arrangement.
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(c) Credit risk

 - council have a policy for establishing credit limits for the entities council deal with; 
 - council may require collateral where appropriate; and

There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired.

(d) Liquidity risk

(e) Sensitivity disclosure analysis

To help reduce these risks Council:
 - have a liquidity policy which targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash equivalents to be maintained;
 - have readily accessible standby facilities and other funding arrangements in place;
 - have a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within various bands of liquid instruments;

Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of council's operational liquidity requirements it will not have sufficient funds to settle a 
transaction when required or will be forced to sell a financial asset at below value or may be unable to settle or recover a financial asset.
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Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and cause Council to make a financial 
loss. Council have exposure to credit risk on some financial assets included in the balance sheet.  Particularly significant areas of credit risk 
exist in relation to outstanding fees and fines as well as loans and receivables from sporting clubs and associations.   To help manage this risk:

Receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across the ratepayer, business and government sectors. Credit risk associated 
with the council's financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is secured by a charge over the rateable property. 

 - council only invest surplus funds with financial institutions which have a recognised credit rating specified in council's investment policy.

Council may also be subject to credit risk for transactions which are not included in the balance sheet, such as when council provide a 
guarantee for another party. Details of our contingent liabilities are disclosed in Note 8.1(b).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for 
impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements. Council does not hold any collateral.

Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value.

Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management's knowledge and experience of the financial 
markets,  Council believes the following movements are 'reasonably possible' over the next 12 months:
 - A parallel shift of + .25% and -1.5% in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end rates of 1.24%.
These movements will not have a material impact on the valuation of Council's financial assets and liabilities, nor will they have a material 
impact on the results of Council's operations.

With the exception of borrowings, all financial liabilities are expected to be settled within normal terms of trade.  Details of the maturity profile for 
borrowings are disclosed at Note 5.4.

 - monitor budget to actual performance on a regular basis; and
 - set limits on borrowings relating to the percentage of loans to rate revenue and percentage of loan principal repayments to rate revenue.

The Council's maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as disclosed on the face of the balance sheet 
and the amounts related to financial guarantees disclosed in Note 8.1(c), and is deemed insignificant based on prior periods' data and current 
assessment of risk.

There has been no significant change in Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing liquidity risk or the methods 
used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.
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8.4 Fair value measurement

Revaluation

Impairment of assets

8.5 Events occurring after balance date 
With the exception of the Covid-19 pandemic no matters have occurred after balance date that require disclosure in the financial report.

Fair value hierarchy
Council's financial assets and liabilities are not valued in accordance with the fair value hierarchy , Council's financial assets and liabilities are 
measured at amortised cost. 

Council measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value where required or permitted by Australian Accounting Standards. AASB 13 Fair value 
measurement, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement 
and disclosure requirements for use across Australian Accounting Standards.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within a fair value hierarchy, described 
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and
Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Council has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of 
the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

In addition, Council determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Page 43

At each reporting date, the Council reviews the carrying value of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have been 
impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in 
use, is compared to the assets carrying value. Any excess of the assets carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the comprehensive 
income statement, unless the asset is carried at the revalued amount in which case, the impairment loss is recognised directly against the revaluation 
surplus in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that same 
class of asset.

Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve except to the extent that an increment 
reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset that had been recognised as an expense in which case the increment is recognised as revenue 
up to the amount of the expense.  Revaluation decrements are recognised as an expense except where prior increments are included in the asset 
revaluation reserve for that class of asset in which case the decrement is taken to the reserve to the extent of the remaining increments.  Within the 
same class of assets, revaluation increments and decrements within the year are offset.

The Covid-19 pandemic is likely to impact Council's future financial capacity. Council has provided a Community Support package in 2019/20 and 
continued support through the budget in 2020/21. This will impact Councl's future capacity to operate at the same service level. The details of the effect 
of the Covid-19 pandemic is made in the overview section of the financial report.

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020

Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, non-current physical assets, other than plant and equipment, are measured at their fair value, being the 
price that would be received to sell an asset (or paid to transfer a liability) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date.  At balance date, the Council reviewed the carrying value of the individual classes of assets measured at fair value to ensure that each asset 
materially approximated its fair value.  Where the carrying value materially differed from the fair value at balance date, the class of asset was revalued.

Fair value valuations are determined in accordance with a valuation hierarchy.  Changes to the valuation hierarchy will only occur if an external change 
in the restrictions or limitations of use of an asset result in changes to the permissible or practical highest and best use of the asset. In addition, Council 
undertakes a formal revaluation of land, buildings, and infrastructure assets on a regular basis ranging from one to two years.  The valuation is 
performed either by experienced council officers or independent experts.
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Note 9 Other matters

9.1 Reserves

Balance at
beginning of 

reporting period
Increment 

(decrement)
Balance at end of 

reporting period
(a) Asset revaluation reserves $'000 $'000 $'000

2020
Property
Land 468,789                     (10,105)                      458,684                     
Heritage buildings 952                            (6,934)                        (5,982)                        
Buildings 4,661                         15,949                       20,610                       

474,402                     (1,090)                        473,312                     
Infrastructure
Roads 157,167                     -                             157,167                     
Bridges 2,951                         (4,309)                        (1,358)                        
Drainage 75,442                       2,050                         77,492                       
Footpaths and cycleways 11,225                       3,913                         15,138                       

246,785                     1,654                         248,439                     
Total asset revaluation reserves 721,187                     564                            721,751                     

2019
Property
Land and land improvements 468,789                     -                             468,789                     
Heritage buildings 952                            -                             952                            
Buildings 4,661                         -                             4,661                         

474,402                     -                             474,402                     
Infrastructure
Roads 158,733                     (1,566)                        157,167                     
Bridges 2,951                         -                             2,951                         
Footpaths and cycleways 12,564                       (1,339)                        11,225                       
Drainage 75,642                       (200)                           75,442                       
Offstreet car parks -                             -                             -                             

249,890                     (3,105)                        246,785                     
Total asset revaluation reserves 724,292                     (3,105)                        721,187                     

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record the increased (net) value of Council's assets over time.

Balance at
beginning of 

reporting period

Transfer from 
accumulated 

surplus

Transfer to
 accumulated 

surplus
Balance at end of 

reporting period
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(b) Other reserves

2020
Car Park reserve 222                            -                             -                             222                            
Infrastructure reserve 20,154                       3,255                         -                             23,409                       
Recreation land fund reserve 12,571                       3,178                         (5,191)                        10,558                       
Street tree planting reserve 161                            82                              (107)                           136                            
Capital works carryover reserve 16,732                       1,619                         (16,732)                      1,619                         
Discretionary loan repayment reserve 8,125                         1,525                         -                             9,650                         
Grants commission reserve 1,384                         1,479                         (1,384)                        1,479                         
Port Phillip Woollen Mill reserve 412                            94                              (92)                             414                            
Hobsons Bay Caravan Park reserve 92                              -                             -                             92                              
Waste management sinking fund 4,689                         -                             (4,890)                        (201)                           
Total Other reserves 64,542                       11,232                       (28,396)                      47,378                       

2019
Car Park reserve 222                            -                             -                             222                            
Infrastructure reserve 20,604                       150                            (600)                           20,154                       
Recreation land fund reserve 9,178                         4,096                         (703)                           12,571                       
Street tree planting reserve 198                            69                              (106)                           161                            
Capital works carryover reserve 6,947                         18,497                       (8,712)                        16,732                       
Discretionary loan repayment reserve 6,600                         1,525                         -                             8,125                         
Grants commission reserve 1,401                         1,384                         (1,401)                        1,384                         
Port Phillip Woollen Mill reserve 166                            271                            (25)                             412                            
Hobsons Bay Caravan Park reserve -                             92                              -                             92                              
Waste management sinking fund 4,561                         360                            (232)                           4,689                         
Total Other reserves 49,877                       26,444                       (11,779)                      64,542                       
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2020 2019
9.2 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus/(deficit) $'000 $'000

Surplus for the year 23,329                  27,654                  
Loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 1,980                    974                       
Depreciation/amortisation 20,915                  18,626                  
Receivables impairment 524                       549                       
Fair value adjustments for investment property (381)                      -                        
Change in assets and liabilities:
Increase in trade and other receivables (3,355)                   (2,618)                   
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (85)                        117                       
Increase/(decrease) in accrued income 203                       (182)                      
Increase in trade and other payables 5,696                    4,990                    
Increase in trust funds and deposits 937                       1,031                    
Decrease in deferred income (1,221)                   -                        
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 1                           (3)                          
Decrease in provisions (703)                      (278)                      
Net cash provided by operating activities 47,840                  50,860                  

9.3 Superannuation

Accumulation

Defined Benefit

Funding arrangements

    Net investment returns 6.0% pa
    Salary information 3.5% pa
    Price inflation (CPI) 2.0% pa.

Employer contributions
Regular contributions

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020

Hobsons Bay City Council (the Council) makes the majority of its employer superannuation contributions in respect of its 
employees to the Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (the Fund). This Fund has two categories of membership, 
accumulation and defined benefit, each of which is funded differently. Obligations for contributions to the fund are recognised 
as an expense in the Comprehensive Income Statement when they are made or due.

The Fund's accumulation categories, Vision MySuper/Vision Super Saver, receives both employer and employee 
contributions on a progressive basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings 
(for the year ended 30 June 2020, this was 9.5% as required under Superannuation Guarantee (SG) legislation).

Council does not use defined benefit accounting for its defined benefit obligations under the Fund's Defined Benefit category. 
This is because the Fund's Defined Benefit category is a pooled multi-employer sponsored plan.

There is no proportional split of the defined benefit liabilities, assets or costs between the participating employers as the 
defined benefit obligation is a floating obligation between the participating employers and the only time that the aggregate 
obligation is allocated to specific employers is when a call is made. As a result, the level of participation of Council in the 
Fund cannot be measured as a percentage compared with other participating employers. Therefore, the Fund Actuary is 
unable to allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between employers for the purposes of AASB 119.

Council makes employer contributions to the Defined Benefit category of the Fund at rates determined by the Trustee on the 
advice of the Fund Actuary.

As at 30 June 2019, an interim actuarial investigation was held as the Fund provides lifetime pensions in the Defined Benefit 
category. The vested benefit index (VBI) of the Defined Benefit category of which Council is a contributing employer was 
107.1%. The financial assumptions used to calculate the VBIs were:

Vision Super has since advised that the estimated VBI at June 2020 was 104.6% .

The VBI is used as the primary funding indicator. Because the VBI was above 100%, the 30 June 2019 interim actuarial 
investigation determined the Defined Benefit category was in a satisfactory financial position and that no change was 
necessary to the Defined Benefit category’s funding arrangements from prior years.

The VBI at 30 June 2020 is subject to various assumptions which may be affected by a continuance of the economic 
downturn and the Covid-19 pandemic restrictions on business activity.

On the basis of the results of the 2017 full actuarial investigation conducted by the Fund Actuary, Council makes employer 
contributions to the Fund’s Defined Benefit category at rates determined by the Fund’s Trustee. For the year ended 30 June 
2020, this rate was 9.5% of members' salaries (9.5% in 2018/2019). This rate will increase in line with any increases in the 
SG contribution rate.

In addition, Council reimburses the Fund to cover the excess of the benefits paid as a consequence of retrenchment above 
the funded resignation or retirement benefit.

Page 45

Attachment 9.2.1.1 Page 92



Hobsons Bay City Council

2019/2020 Financial Report
Notes to the Financial Report

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020

Funding calls

2019 2018
$m $m

 - A VBI Surplus 151.3                      131.9                    
 - A total service liability surplus 233.4                      218.3                    
 - A discounted accrued benefits surplus 256.7                      249.1                    

2020 2019
Scheme Type of Scheme Rate $,000 $,000
Vision super Defined benefit 9.50% 207                       301                       
Vision super Accumulation fund 9.50% 1,926                    2,280                    
Other funds Accumulation fund 9.50% 1,726                    1,814                    

Using the agreed methodology, the shortfall amount is apportioned between the participating employers based on the pre-1 
July 1993 and post-30 June 1993 service liabilities of the Fund’s Defined Benefit category, together with the employer’s 
payroll at 30 June 1993 and at the date the shortfall has been calculated.

An actuarial investigation is conducted annually for the Defined Benefit category of which Hobsons Bay City Council is a 
contributing employer. Generally, a full actuarial investigation conducted every three years and interim actuarial investigations 
are conducted for each intervening year. An interim investigation was conducted as at 30 June 2019 and a full actuarial 
investigation was conducted as at 30 June 2017.
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Due to the nature of the contractual obligations between the participating employers and the Fund, and that the Fund includes 
lifetime pensioners and their reversionary beneficiaries, it is unlikely that the Fund will be wound up.

If there is a surplus in the Fund, the surplus cannot be returned to the participating employers.

The 2019 interim actuarial investigation surplus amounts

In the event that the Fund Actuary determines that there is a shortfall based on the above requirement, the Fund’s 
participating employers (including Council) are required to make an employer contribution to cover the shortfall.

The expected contributions to be paid to the Defined Benefit category of Vision Super for the year ending 30 June 2020 is 
$190,000.

The 2020 actuarial investigation
An actuarial investigation has been conducted for the Fund’s position as at 30 June 2020 as the Fund provides lifetime 
pensions in the Defined Benefit category. 

Contributions by Council (excluding any unfunded liability payments) to the above superannuation plans for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2020 are detailed below:

There were no contributions outstanding and no loans issued from or to the above schemes as at 30 June 2020.

The Fund’s actuarial investigations identified the following for the Defined Benefit category of which Council is a contributing 
employer:

The VBI surplus means that the market value of the fund’s assets supporting the defined benefit obligations exceed the 
vested benefits that the defined benefit members would have been entitled to if they had all exited on 30 June 2019.

The total service liability surplus means that the current value of the assets in the Fund’s Defined Benefit category plus 
expected future contributions exceeds the value of expected future benefits and expenses as at 30 June 2019.
The discounted accrued benefit surplus means that the current value of the assets in the Fund’s Defined Benefit category 
exceeds the value of benefits payable in the future but accrued in respect of service to 30 June 2019.

Council was notified of the 30 June 2019 VBI during August 2019 (2018: August 2018).

In the event that a participating employer is wound-up, the defined benefit obligations of that employer will be transferred to 
that employer’s successor.
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9.3 Prior period adjustments

At 30 June 2019 Prior period 
adjustments

At 1 July 2019 as 
restated

$'000 $'000 $'000
Property, 
infrastructure, plant 
and equipment 1,204,325               2,329                    1,206,654             
Total non-current 
assets 1,218,074               2,329                    1,220,403             
Total assets 1,316,755               2,329                    1,319,084             

Net assets 1,268,423               2,329                    1,270,752             

Equity -                        
Accumulated 
surplus 482,695                  2,329                    485,024                
Total Equity 1,268,423               2,329                    1,270,752             

Council has been able to identify land and building assets not previously recognised. These errors have been corrected by 
restating each affected financial statement line item at 1 July 2019. As a result of historical data collection methods the value 
of land and buildings has been misstated.

The impact of each is set out in the table below:
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020
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10 Change in accounting policy

a) AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers - Impact of Adoption

b) AASB 16 Leases

c) AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities

d) Transition impacts

As reported 30 
June 2019 Adjustments Post adoption

Assets $'000 $'000 $'000
Right of use assets                             -                        1,987                      1,987 

                            -                        1,987                      1,987 
Liabilities
Lease liability - current                             -                           933                         933 
Lease liability - non-current                             -                        1,054                      1,054 

                            -                        1,987                      1,987 

Council adopted AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities  using the modified (cumulative catch up) method. Income for 
2019 is not adjusted, because the new standard is only applied from the date of initial application.

The following table summarises the impacts of transition to the new standards on Council's balance sheet for the year ending 
30 June 2019.
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Council adopted the practical expedient of deeming the lease asset to be equal in value to the lease liability at 1 July 2019.  
As such there was no impact on retained earnings on the adoption of AASB 16 Leases .

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities  requires income to be recognised as Council satisfies the performance 
obligations under the contract.  

AASB 16 Leases  requires right of use assets and related liabilities for all lease agreements to be recognised on the balance 
sheet. The Statement of Comprehensive Income is to separately recognise the amortisation of the right of use asset, and the 
finance costs relating to the lease. Council has elected to adopt the modified (cumulative catch up) method under the 
standard and as such has not adjusted 2019 disclosures. The transition impact of these are detailed below.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  applies to revenue transactions where Council provides services or goods 
under contractual arrangements. 

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities  applies to income received where no contract is in place. This includes statutory 
charges (such as rates) as well as most grant agreements.

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020

Council has adopted AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers , AASB 16 Leases  and AASB 1058 Income of Not-
for-Profit Entities , from 1 July 2019. This has resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

Council adopted AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  using the modified (cumulative catch up) method. 
Revenue for 2019 as reported under AASB 118 Revenue  is not adjusted, because the new standard is only applied from the 
date of initial application.
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  requires revenue from contracts with customers to be recognised as 
Council satisfies the performance obligations under the contract. 

Due to the transition methods chosen by Council in applying these standards, comparative information throughout these 
financial statements has not been restated to reflect the requirements of the new standards except in relation to contracts that 
were not complete at 1 July 2019. The transition impact of these are detailed below.
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Performance Statement 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 
 
 

 
Hobsons Bay is situated at the northern end of Port Phillip Bay, about 10km west of central 
Melbourne and includes the suburbs of Altona, Altona Meadows, Altona North, Brooklyn, Laverton, 
Newport, Seabrook, Seaholme, South Kingsville, Spotswood, Williamstown and Williamstown North. 
Each suburb has its own unique character, from the historic seaport of Williamstown with its range 
of heritage buildings, to the more recently developed residential areas of Altona Meadows and 
Seabrook. Hobsons Bay also has a range of major industrial complexes, which contribute significantly 
to the economy of Victoria. 
 
It covers an area of approximately 66 square kilometres with over 20 kms of coastline. It is also 
home to significant coastal wetlands, five creek systems, remnant native grasslands, and important 
flora and fauna habitats, which makes up 24 per cent of the city’s total land area.   
 
The city is located between seven and 20 kilometres from the CBD and has good access to regional 
transport facilities such as the West Gate Freeway, the Western Ring Road, CityLink, the National 
Rail Line, together with the ports and airports of Melbourne and Avalon. 
 
In 2019, Hobsons Bay had an estimated resident population of 97,751 people, which is forecast to 
increase to 114,426 by 2030. Thirty per cent of our residents are born overseas, speaking over 100 
different languages and practising over 90 faiths.  
 
These features contribute to the City's culture, which is strongly linked to its maritime heritage, rich 
natural environment, industry and lifestyle. 
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COVID-19 Pandemic 
On 30 January 2020, COVID-19 was declared as a global pandemic by World Health Organisation. 

Since then, various measures have been taken by all levels of Government in Australia to reduce the 

spread of COVID-19. This crisis and measures taken to mitigate it has impacted council operations in 

the following areas for the financial year ended 30 June 2020: 

In response to government directives amidst the COVID-19 outbreak, Council facilities, libraries, 

community centres and halls were closed to the community which has resulted in a decrease in 

Council User fee revenue. 

User fees were also impacted by the downturn in the market and the refund of fees as part of the 

Community support package which included food premises registration ($414,000) and footpath 

trading permits ($122,000). 

Council provided a full rental rebate and refunds to eligible business tenants in rent agreements 

from 1 April 2020 to 30 June 2020 which reduced rent revenue within Other income ($316,000). 

Statutory fees and fines were impacted by the market downturn from the pandemic and the refund 

of fees and charges as part of Council's Community Support Package ($593,000). 

Council revised its Hardship Policy in response to the crisis on 23 June 2020. This is expected to 

result in an increase in the deferment of rates, fees, charges and rentals. Council has a net $16,000 

reduction in rate interest from the deferment of interest to date. 

The financial impact of the deferral of rates revenue has contributed to the rates debtor balance as 

at 30 June 2020 to increase by $1.734 million compared to last year - refer to Note 5.1 (c). 

Subsequent events 

Since 30 June 2020 there have been Covid-19 developments including an increase in transmission 

and the introduction of stage 4 restrictions from 2 August 2020 further impacting local socio-

economic activity. 

This will have an impact on service delivery, revenues, add additional expenses to the delivery of 

Council services and programs. The full effect is difficult to estimate due to the uncertainty and 

continuation of the Covid-19 pandemic.    

A further Community Support Package has been included in the Annual Budget 2020-21 which 

provides an estimated $5.2 million to provide support to businesses, community organisations and 

the community affected by the Covid-19 pandemic. This includes approximately $2.2 million in rate 

adjustments (rebate), $1.965 million dedicated to business and economic recovery and nearly 

$943,000 invested into local community recovery. 

The $2.2 million rate adjustment package includes an adjustment to each property type of :- $20 for 

residential, $60 for cultural and recreational, $200 for eligible commercial and $915 for eligible 

industrial.  
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The business and economic recovery package of $1.965 million includes rebates for Food Safety 

registrations ($595,0000), Footpath trading permits ($150,000), Health registrations ($63,000) and 

planning fees ($177,000) commercial rental relief ($210,000), Nelson Place, Williamstown parking 

fee suspension to December 2020 ($520,000) and business precinct support campaign ($250,00). 

The community recovery package includes Covid-19 recovery community grants ($500,000), local 

connections program ($100,000), venue and facility use ($132,000), sports recovery program 

($152,000) and access to technology ($60,000).
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Sustainable Capacity Indicators 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

  Results Results Results Results   

Indicator / measure  
2017 2018 2019 2020 

Comments 

Population           

Expenses per head of municipal population $1,209.64 $1,300.43 $1,240.29 $1,275.25 
The increase in 2019-20 is in-line with 
additional expenditure after a reduction 
was achieved in 2018-19. 

 [Total expenses / Municipal population]          

Infrastructure per head of municipal population $5,606.40 $6,623.13 $6,617.93 $7,065.66 

The increasing trend, including the 
significant increase to this indicator in 
2019-20, is in-line with Council's 
commitment to increase its capital works 
program. 

 [Value of infrastructure / Municipal population]          

Population density per length of road 216.19 219.87 223.64 226.59 

There are minimal changes to this 
indicator due to generally consistent road 
lengths and a slowly increasing 
population. 

 [Municipal population / Kilometres of local roads]          

Own-source revenue           

Own-source revenue per head of municipal population $1,241.27 $1,299.73 $1,288.47 $1,266.77 

The reduction in this indicator reflects the 
drop in own-source revenue, including 
Council's reimbursement of fees through 
its COVID-19 Community Support 
Packages. 

 [Own-source revenue / Municipal population]          

Recurrent grants           

Recurrent grants per head of municipal population $149.69 $140.30 $133.64 $140.83 
The increase in 2019-20 is in-line with 
the increase in operating recurrent grants 
after a reduction in 2018-19. 
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  Results Results Results Results   

Indicator / measure  
2017 2018 2019 2020 

Comments 

 [Recurrent grants / Municipal population]          

Disadvantage           

Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 
Socio-Economic Disadvantage indicator 
remains consistent. 

 [Index of Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage by decile]          

Workforce turnover           

Percentage of staff turnover 11.3% 13.6% 28.7% 15.3% 

The turnover rate has returned to normal 
levels in 2019-20 after the significant 
increase during 2018-19 as a result of 
the transfer of home care staff to a third-
party service provider. 

[Number of permanent staff resignations and terminations / 
Average number of permanent staff for the financial year] x100 
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Service Performance Indicators 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

  Results Results Results Results   

Service/indicator/measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 Comments 

Aquatic Facilities           

Utilisation         

Council does not have operational 
control of the aquatic facilities in its 
municipality and therefore the indicators 
are not reported on. 

Utilisation of aquatic facilities 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00   

[Number of visits to aquatic facilities / Municipal population]           

Animal Management           

Health and safety           

Animal management prosecutions 
New in 
2020 

New in 
2020 

New in 
2020 

94% 

36 prosecutions on hold. Adjournments 
are due to COVID-19. Council conducts 
thorough investigations with an aim to 
resolve matters outside court where 
possible and where prosecution takes 
place that strong evidence ensures 
success.  

[Number of successful animal management prosecutions]           

Food Safety           

Health and safety           

Critical and major non-compliance outcome notifications 90.32% 92.47% 90.95% 81.70% 

Staff resource shortages contributed to 
the decrease in the number of follow-up 
inspections for major and critical 
outcomes. 

[Number of critical non-compliance outcome notifications and 
major non-compliance notifications about a food premises 
followed up / Number of critical non-compliance outcome 
notifications and major non-compliance notifications about a 
food premises] x100 
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  Results Results Results Results   

Service/indicator/measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 Comments 

Governance           

Satisfaction            

Satisfaction with council decisions 64.00 64.00 63.00 58.00 

As reported in the 2020 Annual 
Community Survey one in four (25%) of 
the residents were dissatisfied with the 
Council making decisions in the interest 
of the community. Waste and recycling 
services was the main reason for 39% of 
those respondents to be dissatisfied. In 
February 2020, Council implemented 
significant reform in its waste and 
recycling service.  

[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how council has 
performed in making decisions in the interest of the community] 

          

Libraries           

Participation            

Active library borrowers in municipality 19.15% 18.80% 20.36% 19.46% 

No substantial reduction in active 
borrower numbers despite temporary 
branch closures and social distancing 
requirements. 

[Number of active library borrowers in the last three years / The 
sum of the population for the last three years] x100 

          

Maternal and Child Health (MCH)           

Participation           

Participation in the MCH service 72.47% 74.42% 73.21% 72.94% 

Council's MCH service has practices in 
place to ensure all families are contacted 
and reminded to attend the Key Age and 
Stage visit (KAS). Due to the COVID-19 
pandemic, there were many more 
telehealth and additional consultations, 
which were not calculated in these 
numbers. All KAS continued either via 
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  Results Results Results Results   

Service/indicator/measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 Comments 

telehealth or face to face. There were 
additional nursing hours worked to 
support the alternative modes of service 
delivery.   

[Number of children who attend the MCH service at least once 
(in the year) / Number of children enrolled in the MCH service] 
x100 

          

Participation           

Participation in the MCH service by Aboriginal children 60.20% 75.00% 62.50% 71.88% 

Hobsons Bay has only a small number of 
known Aboriginal families. This past 
year, more emphasis was placed on 
MCH providing a service that was flexible 
and culturally safe with the aim of 
supporting families to access and remain 
engaged. 

[Number of Aboriginal children who attend the MCH service at 
least once (in the year) / Number of Aboriginal children enrolled 
in the MCH service] x100 

          

Roads           

Satisfaction            

Satisfaction with sealed local roads 69.00 62.00 63.00 56.00 

The ratings from the residents in 
Spotswood, South Kingsville and 
Newport areas have driven the drop in 
the overall satisfaction rating with sealed 
local roads. Council is committed to 
continuously improve this. 

[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how council has 
performed on the condition of sealed local roads] 
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  Results Results Results Results   

Service/indicator/measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 Comments 

Statutory Planning           

Decision making            

Council planning decisions upheld at VCAT 50.00% 70.69% 53.06% 61.54% 

The result is typical for the last few years 
and consistent with the State average. 
There has been no significant change in 
policy over this period that would explain 
the number of decisions set aside by 
VCAT. Council continues to work 
towards implementing a number of new 
policies including an updated 
Neighbourhood Character Study, 
Housing Strategy and Activity Centre 
Strategy which will see updates in the 
Planning Scheme including the 
application of the residential zones.  This 
will provide greater guidance to 
applicants, Council and VCAT when 
making decisions. 

[Number of VCAT decisions that did not set aside council's 
decision in relation to a planning application / Number of VCAT 
decisions in relation to planning applications] x100 

          

Waste Collection           

Waste diversion           
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  Results Results Results Results   

Service/indicator/measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 Comments 

Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill 47.89% 46.33% 40.84% 45.37% 

There has been significant change during 
2019-20 resulting in a decline in 
diversion at the beginning of the year and 
increase towards the end. Following the 
collapse of SKM Recycling early in the 
financial year, some recyclables were 
landfilled due to the lack of processing 
capacity available. In February 2020, 
Council implemented significant reform in 
its waste and recycling service 
implementing a weekly food and green 
waste service, fortnightly garbage 
service, four weekly glass service and 
retaining its fortnightly recycling 
collection. The data captures the tonnes 
collected and diverted in the glass 
collection service as a compulsory 
recycling service. The implementation of 
the food and green waste system and 
changes in collection schedules have led 
to a significant increase in tonnes of 
organics diverted from landfill since 
February 2020. The COVID-19 pandemic 
has substantially impacted household 
waste volumes, with more people at 
home generating waste for their kerbside 
bins. This has amplified pressure on 
garbage bins. Council has responded to 
this challenge by offering a weekly 
Saturday garbage drop-off for two 
months, and by rolling out a free 240L 
garbage bin upsizing program for eligible 
households. 
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  Results Results Results Results   

Service/indicator/measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 Comments 

[Weight of recyclables and green organics collected from 
kerbside bins / Weight of garbage, recyclables and green 
organics collected from kerbside bins] x100 
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Financial Performance Indicators 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

 
  Results Results Results Results Forecasts   

Dimension/indicator/measure 
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

Material Variations and 
Comments 

Efficiency                   

Expenditure level                   

Expenses per property 
assessment 

$2,785.75 $2,957.28 $2,828.70 $2,927.72 $3,064.45 $2,815.61 $2,893.10 $2,967.06 

The increase in 2019-20 is 
consistent with the increase in 
expenses during the financial 
year. A further increase is 
expected in 2020-21, consistent 
with additional expenditure funded 
through the Working for Victoria 
program. A decrease is expected 
in 2021-22 after the program 
finishes. The number of property 
assessments continues to 
increase gradually and reasonably 
consistently. 

 [Total expenses / Number of 
property assessments]  

             

Revenue level              

Average rate per property 
assessment 

New in 
2020 

New in 
2020 

New in 
2020 

$2,371.57 $2,415.22 $2,460.84 $2,507.17 $2,554.19 

The result in 2019-20 and the 
forecasts for future years reflect 
increases to rates consistent with 
the current rate cap. The 
increased forecasts for rates are 
compared against consistent 
property values (due to the 
uncertainty moving forward) 
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  Results Results Results Results Forecasts   

Dimension/indicator/measure 
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

Material Variations and 
Comments 

leading to increased measures in 
later years. 

[General rates and Municipal 
charges / Number of property 
assessments] 

             

Liquidity              

Working capital               

Current assets compared to 
current liabilities 

215.69% 271.82% 295.64% 208.57% 130.38% 107.70% 108.80% 122.07% 

The decrease in 2019-20 is 
consistent with the decreased 
level of cash at year end 
compared to the prior year. This 
trend is expected to continue as 
Council continues to use its cash 
reserves to fund its significant 
increase in capital works and the 
repayment of loan principal. 

[Current assets / Current 
liabilities] x100 

             

Unrestricted cash              

Unrestricted cash compared to 
current liabilities 

-38.11% -69.90% -108.78% -40.13% -27.76% -27.25% -38.39% -44.58% 

The negative results since 2016-
17 are offset by other financial 
assets (investments) of $69 million 
in 2019-20, which are investments 
held for periods over 90 days.  
These investments are not 
included in the unrestricted cash 
figure, but they are used to fund 
Council's ongoing operations and 
liabilities. 
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  Results Results Results Results Forecasts   

Dimension/indicator/measure 
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

Material Variations and 
Comments 

[Unrestricted cash / Current 
liabilities] x100 

             

Obligations              

Loans and borrowings               

Loans and borrowings compared 
to rates 

14.36% 13.76% 13.15% 12.71% 12.67% 4.24% 4.12% 4.01% 

Council existing loans are held as 
part of two Local Government 
Funding Vehicle (LGFV) interest 
only bonds and this is reflected in 
the consistent indicators between 
2016-17 and 2020-21. The 
indicator is forecast to reduce in 
2021-22 as $9.2 million will be 
repaid that year. 

[Interest bearing loans and 
borrowings / Rate revenue] x100 

             

Loans and borrowings 
repayments compared to rates 

0.63% 0.61% 0.58% 0.56% 0.56% 8.11% 0.16% 0.16% 

Council has paid interest only on 
its Local Government Funding 
Vehicle loans since 2016-17, 
resulting in the extremely low 
indicators. The forecast increase 
to the indicator in 2021-22 reflects 
the bullet principal repayment that 
year. 

[Interest and principal 
repayments on interest bearing 
loans and borrowings / Rate 
revenue] x100 

             

Indebtedness               

Non-current liabilities compared 
to own source revenue 

12.96% 12.16% 12.03% 12.49% 4.74% 4.44% 4.35% 4.25% 
The indicator has remained 
consistent since 2015-16, 
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  Results Results Results Results Forecasts   

Dimension/indicator/measure 
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

Material Variations and 
Comments 

minimally impacted by own source 
revenue. The indicator is forecast 
to reduce significantly in 2020-21, 
when $9.2 million worth of 
borrowings is regarded as a 
current liability, the year before it 
is due to be repaid. 

[Non-current liabilities / Own 
source revenue] x100 

             

Asset renewal and upgrade              

Asset renewal and upgrade 
compared to depreciation 

      280.37% 289.96% 269.51% 184.69% 183.18% 

The 2019-20 indicator reflects 
Council's significant investment in 
capital works. Whilst it is forecast 
to reduce in future years, the 
indicator remains relatively high, 
consistent with Council's ongoing 
commitment to capital works.  

[Asset renewal and asset 
upgrade expense / Asset 
depreciation] x100 

             

Operating position              

Adjusted underlying result              

Adjusted underlying surplus (or 
deficit) 

15.89% 12.78% 15.88% 11.56% 7.99% 16.72% 17.35% 18.08% 

The decrease in 2019-20 is 
consistent with the reduction in the 
operational surplus, which has 
been impacted by COVID-19. The 
indicator is expected to reduce 
further in 2020-21 reflecting the 
assistance Council will continue to 
provide through its COVID-19 
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  Results Results Results Results Forecasts   

Dimension/indicator/measure 
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

Material Variations and 
Comments 

Community Support Packages. It 
is forecast that the indicator will 
increase significantly in 2021-22 
and remain reasonably consistent 
there-after. 

[Adjusted underlying surplus 
(deficit)/ Adjusted underlying 
revenue] x100 

             

Stability              

Rates concentration               

Rates compared to adjusted 
underlying revenue 

73.62% 72.85% 75.90% 79.29% 78.47% 80.85% 80.04% 79.17% 

This indicator continues to 
gradually increase as a result of 
rate income (including 
supplementary growth) increasing 
at a greater rate than other own-
source revenue. There is a slight 
decrease forecast in 2020-21, 
reflecting Council's decision to 
provide assistance to ratepayers 
through a COVID-19 rate 
adjustment. 

[Rate revenue / Adjusted 
underlying revenue] x100 

             

Rates effort               

Rates compared to property 
values 

0.35% 0.36% 0.29% 0.30% 0.31% 0.32% 0.33% 0.34% 

Rates compared to property 
values increased slightly in 2019-
20 due to a slight decrease in 
property values during the 2019 
revaluation. Future forecasts are 
based on consistent property 
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  Results Results Results Results Forecasts   

Dimension/indicator/measure 
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

Material Variations and 
Comments 

values due to the uncertainty 
moving forward. 

[Rate revenue / Capital 
improved value of rateable 
properties in the municipality] 
x100 
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Other Information 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 
 
 

 

1. Basis of preparation 

Council is required to prepare and include a performance statement within its annual report. The performance statement includes 
the results of the prescribed sustainable capacity, service performance and financial performance indicators and measures 
together with a description of the municipal district and an explanation of material variations in the results. This statement has 
been prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2014.  

Where applicable the results in the performance statement have been prepared on accounting bases consistent with those 
reported in the Financial Statements. The other results are based on information drawn from Council information systems or from 
third parties (e.g. Australian Bureau of Statistics).  

The performance statement presents the actual results for the current year and for the prescribed financial performance 
indicators and measures, the results forecast by the Council’s strategic resource plan. The Local Government (Planning and 
Reporting) Regulations 2014 requires explanation of any material variations in the results contained in the performance 
statement. Council has adopted materiality thresholds relevant to each indicator and measure and explanations have not been 
provided for variations below the materiality thresholds unless the variance is considered to be material because of its nature.  

The forecast figures included in the performance statement are those adopted by Council in its strategic resource plan on 18 
August 2020 and which forms part of the council plan. The strategic resource plan includes estimates based on key assumptions 
about the future that were relevant at the time of adoption and aimed at achieving sustainability over the long term. Detailed 
information on the actual financial results is contained in the General Purpose Financial Statements. The strategic resource plan 
can be obtained by contacting Council.  
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1. Income Statement 

 

 
 
 

Actual @ 
30/6/20 
$’000 

Budget 
2019-20 
$’000 

Forecast 
2019-20 
$’000 

Ref 

Actual / 
Budget 

Variance 
$’000 

      

Income      

      

Rates and charges 111,764   111,161   111,455  1.1  603  

Statutory fees and fines  4,474   4,900   4,258  1.2  (426) 

User fees  3,268   4,649   3,180  1.3  (1,381) 

Grants - operating  13,289   12,805   13,973  1.4  484  

Grants - capital  7,427   6,003   6,482  1.5  1,424  

Contributions - monetary  3,440   4,136   3,060  1.6  (696) 

Net gain on disposal of 
property, infrastructure, plant 
and equipment 

-   61  374 1.14 (61) 

Fair value adjustment for 
investment property 

 381  - - 1.7  381  

Other income  3,941   4,333   4,011  1.8  (392) 

      
Total Income 147,984   148,048   146,793    (64) 

      

Expenses      

      

Employee costs  51,453   54,175   52,447  1.9  2,722  

Materials and services  48,148   46,968   48,405  1.10  (1,180) 

Bad and doubtful debts  550   154   203  1.11  (396) 

Depreciation  20,026   19,571   19,488  1.12  (455) 

Amortisation 889 - - 1.13 (889) 

Net loss on disposal of 
property, infrastructure, plant 
and equipment 

1,980 - - 1.14  (1,980) 

Borrowing costs  627   628   628    1  

Finance cost - leases 76 - - 1.13 (76) 

Other expenses  906   1,501   1,428  1.15  594  

      
Total Expenses 124,655   122,997   122,599    (1,658)  

      
Surplus / (deficit)  23,329   25,051   24,194   (1,722) 
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1. Income Statement (cont.) 

Explanation of Variances 

The operational surplus for the year ended 30 June 2020 was $23.329 million, compared to 
the annual budget of $25.051 million and a forecast surplus of $24.194 million determined at 
the March forecast review. 

The decreased forecast surplus of $1.722 million compared to budget is explained as: 

1.1 Rates and charges were $603,000 over mainly due to an increase in payments in lieu 
of rates ($349,000), the amount originally raised for rates ($137,000), supplementary 
rates ($79,000), garbage charges ($18,000) and interest on rates after reductions in-
line with Council’s COVID-19 Community Support Package ($16,000). 

1.2 Statutory fees and fines were $426,000 under budget mostly due to planning 
application and enforcement fees relating to a downturn in the market and the 
Community Support Package ($593,000). There were also decreases in road 
management act fees ($37,000), planning scheme amendments ($31,000) and parking 
fines ($30,000).  

The most significant increase was due to the re-commencement of infringement 
collection from Fines Victoria ($175,000). Building dispensation fees were originally 
budgeted as user fees but were transferred to Statutory fees and fines and now 
include an additional income stream for pool registration fees ($113,000). 

1.3 User fees were $1.381 million under budget but this includes the adjustment for the 
reclassification of building dispensation fees to statutory fees and fines. The variance 
would otherwise be $1.278 million under budget. 

The most significant decreases relate to food premises registration fees in-line with 
Council’s COVID-19 Community Support Package ($414,000), Council transitioning 
out of providing family day care ($248,000), a reduction in parking meter income as a 
result of COVID-19 ($198,000), delay of the hard waste collection trial until next 
financial year ($127,000), the footpath & furniture trading permit Community Support 
Package ($122,000), rate debt recovery income – offset against a reduction in 
expenditure ($83,000), town planning advertising permits ($76,000), private 
chargeable works – offset by a reduction in expenditure ($75,000), reduced demand 
for meals for clients over 65’s ($45,000), planning scheme amendment panel hearing 
fees ($42,000) and reduced fees for planned activity groups as a result of COVID-19 
($35,000).  

The most significant increases relate to case management administration fees – a 
carryover from the previous financial year ($101,000), engineering services legal point 
of discharge and private subdivision supervision fees ($53,000) and equipment hire for 
venues – mostly offset by expenditure ($37,000). 

1.4 Operating grants were $484,000 over budget mainly due to the West Gate tunnel 
project inclusive of new funding for a neighbourhood fund program of ($287,000), 
unbudgeted funding contribution for kerbside recycling ($265,000), boat ramps 
($122,000), renewed funding for Youth Services School Youth Focus program 
($174,000), preschool access and support ($88,000) and new funding for seniors 
participation program – youth services ($75,000). 
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The most significant reductions relate to Community Care funding rolled over to 2020-
21 ($415,000), level crossing removal as the memorandum of understanding is still to 
be signed ($200,000) and a decline in demand for services as a result of the National 
Disability Insurance Scheme for the environmental HACC program ($79,000) and 
HACC Personal Care ($73,000).  

1.5 Capital grants were over budget by $1.424 million mainly due to income that was 
forecast in 2018-19, that has been accounted for in 2019-20 ($1.359 million). 

For a more detailed explanation, please refer to the summary capital works program 
section of this report and the detailed capital works attachment. 

1.6 Monetary contributions were $696,000 under budget. The most significant decreases 
relate to open space contributions ($322,000), the former Caltex site Developer 
Contribution Plan ($266,000) and the Port Phillip Woollen Mill Developer Contribution 
Plan ($206,000). These reduction in urban development contributions will be funded by 
reductions to the appropriate reserves.  

The most significant increase relates to contributions to capital works projects 
($86,000). 

1.7 The fair value adjustment for investment property of $381,000 recognised the increase 
in value following the revaluation of investment properties.  

1.8 Other income was under budget by $392,000 mainly due to the full rental rebate 
provided to eligible business tenants in Council-owned buildings in-line with Council’s 
COVID-19 Community Support Package ($316,000) and the closure of the 
Williamstown Hall as a result of COVID-19 ($74,000). This was offset against interest 
on investments due to higher available cash reserves ($50,000). 

1.9 Employee costs were under budget by $2.722 million mainly due to $1.44 million 
project management employee costs that have been transferred and absorbed within 
capital works expenditure ($1.789 million in actual expenditure), short term vacancies, 
a temporary hold on positions and reduced hours ($1.852 million), organisational 
restructure savings ($687,000) and a delay in the enterprise agreement ($877,000). 

The most significant increases relate to new positions that were not originally included 
in the budget ($1.419 million) and additional employee costs in relation to waste 
management, in particular the Recycling 2.0 project ($730,000).  

1.10 Materials and services have exceeded budget by $1.18 million. 

The most significant increases were for waste management costs including the 
Recycling 2.0 project ($1.172 million) and operational expenditure on projects 
transferred from the capital works program that do not add to the Council’s asset base. 
From a financial perspective this is a transfer of costs rather than additional costs. 
($1.07 million).  

Other increases include road & drainage contracts maintenance ($989,000), 
arboriculture works associated with updating park tree data and high risk works 
identified in a tree audit ($616,000) and the Hobsons 2.0 project relating to information 
technology, relocation and waste removal expenses ($325,000). 
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The most significant decreases relate to an ongoing focus on the recently introduced 
efficiency review ($2.421 million), community care services due to reduced funding as 
a result of the NDIS, contract negotiations and reduced services as a result of COVID-
19 ($599,000) and planning scheme amendments - as a result of projects deferred due 
to staff vacancies and COVID-19 ($511,000). 

Materials and services have also been reduced in relation for computer ($305,000) 
and photocopiers ($221,000) costs. These reductions have generally been transferred 
to Amortisation to reflect the new accounting treatment of lease contracts.  

1.11 Bad and doubtful debts were over budget by $396,000. This mainly relates to the 
delays at Fines Victoria, Billing Bureau and Tenix for unpaid parking fines. 

1.12 Depreciation is over budget by $455,000 largely as a result of the revaluation 
(including condition assessment) of roads and an increase in IT equipment. This is a 
non-cash item that has minimal impact on Council’s future financial planning. 

1.13 Amortisation of $889,000 and finance costs – leases of $76,000 are both the result of 
a change in the accounting treatment of lease contracts. Some cost previously 
allocated within materials and services are now included here to reflect the change in 
accounting treatment, which has been applied for the first time. This change has 
minimal impact on Council’s future financial planning. 

1.14 The net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment of ($1.98 
million) combined with the net gain of disposal ($61,000) results in a combined 
increased net loss of $2.041 million. This mainly occurred as a result of the ‘disposal’ 
of the road surface, footpaths and cycleways when these assets are replaced or 
renewed ($760,000), which has not been applied before. Other disposals are for the 
Frances Sullivan kindergarten building ($696,000), regional kitchen ($371,000), other 
assets ($230,000) and parks and open space ($175,000). 

The most significant profit is from the disposal of a strip of land acquired by the 
Westgate Distributor Authority ($274,000). 

1.15 Other expenses are $595,000 under budget mainly due to the change in the 
accounting treatment of motor vehicle lease costs ($409,000) and reductions in plant 
operating costs ($167,000).  
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2. Summary Capital Works Program 
 

 Actual @ 
30/6/20 
$’000 

Budget 
2019-20 
 $’000 

Forecast 
2019-20 
$’000 

Actual / 
Budget  

Variance 
$’000 

     

Items to be Capitalised  63,431   59,770   64,035   (3,661) 

Less items Capitalised from the 
Operational Budget 

 (57)  -   -   57  

Operational Projects  1,435   365   537   (1,070) 

Total Capital Works Expenditure  64,809   60,135   64,572   (4,674) 

     

Capital Works Income  7,513   6,003   6,482   1,510  

Transfers from Capital Carryover Reserve  7,490   4,619   7,490   2,872  

Transfers to Carryover Reserve - Expense  2,238   -   1,303   (2,238) 

Transfers to Carryover Reserve - Income  (618)  -   (1,470)  618  

Net Capital Works Program  51,426   49,513   50,433   (1,912) 

 
The Council’s 2019-20 Capital Works Program, including variations to individual capital 
projects are highlighted in the capital works attachment. 

The result of the Capital Works Program compared to budget is a deficit of $1.912 million 
after carryovers are considered. When additional expenditure in relation to the Recycling 2.0 
project is removed (as it is funded out of the waste reserve) a revised surplus of $602,000 is 
calculated. 

It should be noted that budgeted project management employee costs of $1.44 million 
($1.789 million in actual expenditure) have also been absorbed within capital works 
expenditure. 

Capital Works Expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2020 was $64.809 million 
compared to the annual budget of $60.135 million and forecast of $64.572 million 
determined at the March forecast review. The increased expenditure of $4.674 million 
compared to the budget is attributable to: 

• expenditure carryover adjustments from the prior year’s program ($4.231 million) 

• the net deficit to capital expenditure ($1.912 million) 

• the increase in funded capital expenditure ($769,000) 

• less carryovers to next year’s program ($2.238 million) 

Capital Income for the year ended 30 June 2020 was $7.513 million. The increased income 
of $1.51 million compared to budget is attributable to:  

• income that was forecast to be received in 2018-19, that was received in 2019-20 
($1.359 million) 

• additional unbudgeted income that has been received to fund the capital program 
($769,000) 

• less income now expected to be received next year ($618,000) 

Transfers from the capital carryover over reserve fund the additional capital works 
required in 2019-20 to complete the 2018-19 program and income budgeted to be received 
in 2018-19 that is now expected to be received 2019-20. The initial budgeted transfer from 
the reserve of $13.86 million was adjusted to $16.732 million after post budget adjustments. 
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Transfers to the capital carryover over reserve fund the capital works budgeted in 2019-
20, now expected to be completed in 2020-21. Capital expenditure of $2.238 million and 
$618,000 capital income has been delayed until the next financial year.  

 

3. Available Funding Result 
 

 Actual @ 
30/6/20 
$’000 

Budget  
2019-20 
$’000 

Forecast 
2019-20 
$’000 

    

Operating Surplus 23,329    25,051    24,194 

    

Less Items to be Capitalised   (63,431)  (59,770)  (64,035) 

Less Net asset revaluation increment / decrement (381) - - 

Plus Transfers to/from Reserves  17,163   15,049    20,154 

Plus Depreciation  20,026   19,571   19,488  

Plus Amortisation 889 - 1 

Plus Book Value Assets Sold   2,455  150   250  

    

Available Funding Result  50   51   51  

 

4. Summary Cash Flow Statement 
 

 Actual @ 
30/6/20  
$’000 

Budget 
2019-20 
$’000 

Forecast 
2019-20  
$’000 

    

Cash flows from Operating Activities  47,840   46,001   45,008  

Cash Flows from Investing Activities  (58,025)  (59,559)  (63,412) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities  (1,562)  (628)  (628) 

Net Increase/(Decrease) in cash held (11,747)  (14,186)  (19,032) 

    

Add Cash at beginning of the year  86,218   80,595   86,218  

    

Cash at end of Financial Period 74,471  66,409   67,186  

 

The Summary Cash Flow Statement indicates that Council’s cash and investment balance 
was $86.471 million as at 30 June 2020 compared to an original budget of $66.409 million 
and forecast of $67.186 million determined at the March forecast review. The increased level 
of cash at year end when compared to the budget ($8.062 million) is largely a result of the 
significant increase to year end trade and other payables ($8.614 million). 
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5. Reconciliation of Operating Result and Net Cash flows from operating 

Activities 
 

 Actual @ 
30/6/20  
$’000 

Budget 
2019-20 
$’000 

Forecast 
2019-20  
$’000 

    

Result from Ordinary Activities 23,329  25,051    24,194 

    

Depreciation  20,026   19,571   19,488  

Amortisation 889 - - 

(Gain) / Loss on Disposal of Property, Infrastructure, 
Plant & Equipment 

 1,980   (61)  (374) 

Net asset revaluation increment / (decrement)  (381) - - 

Net movement in Operating Assets & Liabilities  1,997   1,441   1,700  

    

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from operating activities 47,840  46,001   45,008 

 

 
6. Summary Balance Sheet 
 

 Actual @ 
30/6/20  
$’000 

Budget 
2019-20 
$’000 

Forecast 
2019-20  
$’000 

    

Total Current Assets 89,362  76,238  78,004  

Total Non-Current Assets 1,263,591  1,267,479  1,261,951  

    

Total Assets 1,352,953  1,343,717  1,339,955  

    

Total Current Liabilities 42,845  31,144  32,359  

Total Non-Current Liabilities 15,463  15,066  14,979  

    

Total Liabilities 58,308  46,210  47,339  

    

Net Assets 1,294,645  1,297,508  1,292,617  

    

Represented By    

    

Accumulated Surplus 525,516  529,233  527,042  

Asset Revaluation Reserve 721,751  724,291  721,187  

Other Reserves 47,378  43,984  44,388  

    

Total Equity 1,294,645  1,297,508  1,292,617  
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7. Financial Health Indicators 
 

 
 
 

Actual @ 
30/6/20  
$’000 

Budget 
2019-20 
$’000 

Forecast 
2019-20   
$’000 

    

Financial ratios    

    

Debt Servicing Ratio    

    

Debt servicing costs / Total revenue 0.4% 0.4% 0.4% 

    

Debt Commitment Ratio    

    

Debt servicing & redemption costs / Rate revenue 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 

    

Revenue ratio    

    

Rate revenue / Total revenue 75.6% 75.1% 75.9% 

    

Working Capital Ratio    

    

Current assets / Current liabilities 208.6% 244.8% 241.1% 

    

Operating ratios    

    

Revenue flexibility    

    

Own source revenue / Operating revenue 83.4% 84.5% 83.7% 

    

Sustainability    

    

Operating surplus / Operating revenue 15.8% 16.9% 16.6% 

    

Efficiency ratios    

    

Labour    

Employee costs / Revenue 34.8% 36.6% 35.7% 

    

Return on investment    

Interest revenue / Total investments 2.0% 2.1% 2.2% 

    

Debt recovery    

Total Receivables / Revenue 9.3% 5.8% 6.2% 
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Ratio Definitions 
 

Financial Ratios 
 

Debt Servicing Ratio This ratio indicates the ability of the Council to pay interest on its loans, 
from total revenue.  Aim is for the Council to keep this ratio at a low level. Debt servicing costs  

Total revenue 
  
Debt Commitment Ratio This ratio indicates the ability of the Council to pay interest on its loans, 

and to repay the loans, from rates.  Aim is for the Council to keep this 
ratio at a low level. 

Debt servicing & redemption costs  
Rate revenue 
  
Revenue Ratio This ratio indicates the ability of the Council to generate rates and its 

dependence on rates, when compared to total revenue. Rate revenue 
Total revenue 
  
Working Capital Ratio This ratio indicates the amount by which the Council's short-term assets 

exceed short-term obligations. 
The amount of excess current assets over current liabilities required is 
dictated by the requirement to fund recurrent operations.  Working capital 
ratios should be well in excess of 100%. 

Current assets 
Current liabilities 

 
Operating Ratios 

 
Revenue flexibility This ratio indicates the ability of the Council to generate its own revenues, 

and thus its self-reliance. 
The higher the proportion of revenue that the Council generates from its 
own operations, the more control it has over recurrent sources of funding. 
There is less reliance on grants and cash contributions that are outside 
the Council's control, and which may be inconveniently timed, or which 
may simply stop. 
Many outside revenue sources (such as grants) are tied to specific 
purposes and cannot be used to meet discretionary expenditures. 

Own source revenue 
Operating revenue 

  
Sustainability This ratio indicates the extent to which the Council's operations are 

sustainable in the longer-term. 
Ideally, this ratio will always be positive.  Larger and/or persistent 
underlying operating deficits may lead to insufficient funds to maintain 
infrastructure.  This may lead to sudden and large funding requirements 
that cannot be financed from operations. 

Operating surplus 
Operating revenue 

 
 

Efficiency Ratios 
 

Labour Typically, labor costs are the biggest discretionary operating expenditure 
item for the Council.  This ratio shows what percentage of own-source 
revenue is spent on employee expenses and indicates the Council's 
sensitivity to changes in these expenses. 

Employee costs 
Revenue 

  
Return on investment This ratio indicates the average return on unutilised cash and investment 

balances.  To indicate performance, it can be compared with an 
appropriate, risk-free reference rate applicable to the average term to 
maturity of the investments. 

Interest revenue 
Total investments 

  
Debt recovery This ratio indicates how efficiently debts are converted into cash. If a 

significant proportion of debtors are overdue, a higher level of working 
capital may be required, or payments to suppliers or planned capital 
works may need to be deferred because of a lack of cash. 

Total Receivables 
Revenue 
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8. Long Term Financial Plan – Basic Financial Assessment 

The following graph outlines Hobsons Bay’s operational and financial (rate determination) 
results until 2029-30. The reduced surpluses in 2019-20 and 2020-21 are heavily impacted 
by COVID-19 and the associated Community Support Packages. 

The variances in future results are largely due to capital works funding, which fluctuates 
throughout the Long Term Financial Plan (LTFP). The declining surpluses in future years 
needs to be monitored. 

 

The following graph outlines Council’s cash and investments over the current LTFP. The 
graph also predicts cash levels if outstanding loans were paid in full. The significantly 
reducing cash levels in the first few years of the LTFP are a result of the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and Council allocating its infrastructure, recreation, open space and 
waste reserves towards a robust capital works program, with a focus on asset renewal. It  

Generally, Council should be looking to slowly grow its cash reserves due to the natural 
growth (CPI) that will occur within expenditure and salaries. This is the aim after the initial 
significant capital investment. 
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The following graph outlines Council’s liquidity ratio, which indicates the amount that 
Council's short term assets exceed its short term obligations and thus Council’s ability to 
fund its short term operations. A ratio over 100 per cent generally indicates a manageable 
short term financial position. 

The graph highlights Council’s extremely healthy liquidity ratio that currently exists. The ratio 
is expected to be significantly reduced over the next few years, in-line with the anticipated 
reduction in cash and investments. The ratio decreases reasonably consistently and will 
need to be carefully monitored in the latter years of the LTFP. 

 

The following graph outlines Hobsons Bay’s outstanding loans and borrowing costs (interest) 
predicted in each year of the LTFP. It also predicts the amounts that Council will hold in its 
loan repayment reserve, used to ensure that that adequate funding is available to repay 
principal when required. 
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The following graph provides guidance on Hobsons Bay’s debt servicing capacity and 
indicates that Council is within all indicators throughout the LTFP. Despite some existing 
borrowings Hobsons Bay has relatively low levels of debt. The figures indicate that Council 
has the capacity to increase its debt, whilst maintaining a financially sustainable position, 
within acceptable debt levels. 

It should be remembered that borrowing money does not increase the amount of money 
available to spend. It allows a higher level of expenditure in a given year, but as it must be 
repaid with interest it requires a reduction in expenditure in future years. 

 

Attachment 9.2.2.1 Page 129



Capital Works Program 2019-20
Adopted 

Budget

Post Budget 

adjustments

Revised 

Budget
YTD Actuals

Proposed 

Brought 

Forward/ 

Carried Over

Adopted 

Budget

Post Budget 

adjustments

Revised 

Budget
YTD Actuals

Proposed 

Brought 

Forward/ 

Carried Over

Active Community
Pavilions Minor Works 0 0 0 28,877 0 289,500 0 289,500 0 0

Buildings 100,000 0 100,000 146,366 0 0 0 0 0 0

Coastal Management Plan - Development 80,000 0 80,000 29,324 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Works
Digman Reserve Master Plan Implementation 2,400,000 0 2,400,000 1,845,897 640,000 (250,000) 225,000 (25,000) 0 0

Public Toilet Program 443,190 311,810 755,000 259,687 688,000 0 0 0 0 0

Kororoit Creek Development 340,000 300,000 640,000 438,344 500,000 0 0 0 0 0

Sports Ground Floodlighting 480,000 180,000 660,000 554,435 340,000 0 0 0 (200,000) 0

Playground Upgrades 450,000 70,000 520,000 493,492 330,000 0 0 0 0 0

Bayside College Williamstown Campus Sports Redevelopment 2,000,000 0 2,000,000 3,259,467 260,000 (693,730) (29,010) (722,740) (600,696) (122,044)

Better Places - City Image and place making Program 2,520,000 350,000 2,870,000 3,273,967 680,000 (390,000) 0 (390,000) (419,234) 0

Vibrant Villages Program 170,000 0 170,000 35,063 158,000 0 0 0 0 0

Street Lighting 50,000 250,000 300,000 178,695 130,000 0 0 0 0 0

Parks, open space & streetscapes 70,000 0 70,000 6,804 90,000 0 0 0 0 0

Bayside College Paisley Sports Campus Redevelopment 3,167,832 67,168 3,235,000 3,280,535 80,000 (789,950) 275,000 (514,950) (225,000) (289,950)

Williamstown Mechanics Institute 0 0 0 332,864 0 0 0 0 0 0

N'port Library /Youth/Senior Centre 0 275,000 275,000 189,912 0 0 0 0 0 0

Buildings 20,000 0 20,000 17,057 0 0 0 0 0 0

Recreational, leisure & community facilities 295,000 0 295,000 351,435 0 0 0 0 (10,000) 0

Early Years Altona / Seaholme 0 0 0 20,393 0 0 0 0 0 0

Greenwich Reserve, Williamstown - Renewal & Upgrades 0 0 0 56,416 (53,000) 0 0 0 0 0

Foreshore Remedial Program 1,903,695 596,305 2,500,000 5,027,788 0 0 0 0 (15,000) 0

Park Lighting Upgrade 60,000 (60,000) 0 85,834 0 0 0 0 0 0

Community Parks upgrade 670,000 0 670,000 812,139 0 0 0 0 0 0

Biodiversity Strategy 220,000 0 220,000 190,373 (25,000) (50,000) 0 (50,000) 0 0

Fencing Renewal Program 230,000 0 230,000 317,817 0 0 0 0 0 0

Epsom Street 800,000 150,000 950,000 1,759,193 0 0 0 0 0 0

West Gate Tunnel-Open Space enhance 7,500,000 0 7,500,000 3,793,079 (870,000) (1,860,000) (1,765,000) (3,625,000) (3,793,079) 197,295

Tennis Needs - Assessment 0 0 0 114,987 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sporting Grounds - W'town Cricket 0 0 0 51,823 0 0 0 0 0 0

Recreational, leisure & community facilities 0 0 0 19,263 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cricket Practice Nets Renewal Program 20,000 0 20,000 6,439 0 0 0 0 0 0

Wayfinder Signage 0 90,000 90,000 89,310 0 0 0 0 0 0

City Design
Blenheim Road Open Space 0 0 0 16,610 0 0 0 0 0 0

Civil

EXPENDITURE INCOME
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Brought 
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Carried Over

EXPENDITURE INCOME

Drainage New and Upgrade Program 650,000 0 650,000 1,312,129 1,095,000 0 0 0 0 0

Skeleton Creek Shared Trails Upgrade 1,500,000 450,000 1,950,000 892,409 540,000 0 0 0 0 0

Road Rehabilitation Program 1,010,000 220,000 1,230,000 2,597,555 370,000 0 0 0 (177,167) 0

Trail- Point Cook (Shane-Catherine) 0 180,000 180,000 26,784 150,000 0 0 0 0 0

Drainage Renewal Program 1,400,000 0 1,400,000 1,334,745 80,000 0 0 0 0 0

Bridge Renewal Program 275,000 130,000 405,000 295,522 0 0 0 0 0 0

Car Park - Various 360,000 400,000 760,000 802,783 0 0 0 0 0 0

Stevedore Street Beautification Program 490,000 (130,000) 360,000 392,594 0 0 0 0 0 0

Footpaths & cycleway 130,000 0 130,000 16,639 0 0 0 0 0 0

Shared Trails Design and Investigation 60,000 0 60,000 10,451 0 0 0 0 0 0

Footpath New Program 200,000 0 200,000 325,632 0 0 0 0 0 0

Road Resurfacing Program 1,000,000 0 1,000,000 1,818,471 (623,266) 0 0 0 0 0

Road Rehabilitation Merton Street 1,450,000 0 1,450,000 302,561 0 (380,000) 0 (380,000) (300,000) 0

Road Rehabilitation Program - Minor Works 240,000 170,000 410,000 613,813 0 0 0 0 0 0

Road Rehabilitation Hudsons Road 100,000 100,000 200,000 49,160 0 0 0 0 0 0

Road Rehabilitation Altona Road 0 0 0 55,314 0 0 0 0 0 0

Unsealed Laneway Upgrade Program 0 0 0 4,750 0 0 0 0 0 0

Road Rehab - Railway Pl 0 0 0 6,480 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cultural
Cultural Assets Renewal 65,000 0 65,000 37,542 0 0 0 0 (38,989) 0

Heritage Interpretation Signage 45,000 0 45,000 48,682 0 0 0 0 0 0

Environmental Management
Waste Management Program 10,000 0 10,000 2,523,568 0 0 0 0 0 0

ICT
IT Strategy Implementation 850,000 (100,000) 750,000 797,290 0 0 0 0 0 0

Libraries
Library Collections 1,210,000 100,000 1,310,000 1,161,180 50,000 (15,000) 0 (15,000) 0 (15,000)

Library Signage 30,000 0 30,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Library Furniture/Fitout 70,000 0 70,000 61,295 0 0 0 0 0 0

Operations Centre
Buildings 150,000 0 150,000 122,146 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pit Upgrade Program (industrial and main roads 80,000 0 80,000 79,155 0 0 0 0 0 0

Incorrect Ledger 0 0 0 3,745 0 0 0 0 0 0

Irrigation Upgrades 200,000 0 200,000 113,224 0 0 0 0 0 0

Altona Meadows - Community park 100,000 50,000 150,000 167,093 0 0 0 0 0 0

Parks, open space & streetscapes 40,000 0 40,000 10,586 0 0 0 0 0 0

Williamstown Botanic Gardens Master Plan Implementation 350,000 40,000 390,000 620,398 0 0 0 0 0 0
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Footpaths & cycleway 517,000 (42,000) 475,000 57,814 0 0 0 0 0 0

Footpaths & cycleway 500,000 60,000 560,000 473,471 0 0 0 0 0 0

Elm Tree Management 55,000 0 55,000 44,357 0 0 0 0 0 0

Significant Operation (Tree Planting Program) 310,000 0 310,000 466,183 0 0 0 0 0 0

Vehicle Plant Replacement Program 1,050,000 0 1,050,000 1,704,449 (655,000) 0 0 0 0 0

Property Management
All projects 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Strategic
Dennis Reserve - Master Plan Implementation 1,400,000 0 1,400,000 88,700 1,222,000 0 0 0 0 0

Buildings 8,025,708 (30,000) 7,995,708 10,542,019 351,000 (490,000) 0 (490,000) (166,875) (323,125)

Traffic/ Road Safety/ Pedestrian Safety Program 590,000 0 590,000 484,240 140,000 (150,000) 0 (150,000) (112,940) 0

Altona sports centre extension 7,297,109 (297,109) 7,000,000 5,904,615 (3,300,000) (900,000) 0 (900,000) (900,000) 0

HD Graham Reserve Sport Facility Development 500,000 0 500,000 88,608 0 0 0 0 0 0

JT Gray Reserve New Pavilion 2,965,466 (40,466) 2,925,000 421,988 (270,000) (325,000) (65,000) (390,000) (325,000) (65,000)

Sundry
Sundry 0 0 0 1,010 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sustainability
Greenhouse Strategy Program 515,000 190,000 705,000 236,340 0 0 0 0 0 0

Traffic
Traffic/ Road Safety/ Pedestrian Safety Program 200,000 0 200,000 181,912 140,000 0 0 0 0 0

Traffic/ Road Safety/ Pedestrian Safety Program 0 200,000 200,000 275,437 0 0 0 0 (229,104) 0

Traffic/ Road Safety/ Pedestrian Safety Program 155,000 0 155,000 125,535 0 0 0 0 0 0

Traffic Calming Devices Renewal Program 0 0 0 25,227 0 0 0 0 0 0

60,135,000 4,230,708 64,365,708 64,809,286 2,237,734 (6,004,180) (1,359,010) (7,363,190) (7,513,084) (617,824)
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What is the urban forest?
The urban forest refers to all trees on public 
and private land within urban areas. The 
urban forest is comprised of tree groves, 
avenues or individual specimens, located in 
a range of environments from public parks, 
squares, street verges, main streets to rail 
corridors, creek embankments, schools, 
campuses, business parks and private 
gardens. The urban forest can also include 
all types of trees including exotics, natives, 
deciduous and evergreens of varying sizes.

Benefits of the urban forest
Trees in urban areas have traditionally been 
valued for their role in creating attractive 
streets, parks and gardens. However, in the 
last two decades, research has indicated 
that urban trees also provide substantial 
environmental, economic and social benefits. 
Increasingly, urban trees have been viewed 
as critical infrastructure, protecting and 
enhancing community health and wellbeing.

Urban trees shade streets and buildings and 
reduce the amount of heat absorbed by dark 
surfaces such as streets. Trees can alleviate 
the urban heat island, a phenomenon that 
occurs when a city experiences much warmer 
temperatures than nearby rural areas.

Trees in cities have been found to reduce 
temperatures by up to 10 degrees C and can 
reduce the need for air conditioning. Trees can 
also provide a range of environmental benefits, 
as carbon sinks absorbing carbon from the 
atmosphere, improving air quality, reducing 
stormwater flows and absorbing nutrients that 
can pollute waterways. They can also enhance 
biodiversity and support a wide range of 
species, including endangered animals.

They can reduce household electricity costs 
by shading buildings, improve livability of 
homes and attractiveness of businesses 
areas and therefore increase retail sales 
and tourism activities. Tree shade can also 
improve the lifespan of certain assets, 
such as asphalt, reducing maintenance 
and replacement costs. Trees have also 
been found to provide multiple physical 
and mental health benefits from reducing 
obesity levels to reducing stress and 
alleviating depression Trees can improve 
social connection and cohesion by providing 
attractive places to meet and socialise.

BACKGROUND  
AND CONTEXT

Tree canopy in dense urban setting
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The evolution of urban canopy  
in hobsons bay
Located on a basalt plain, the natural 
landscape of Hobsons Bay would have been 
comprised of grasslands, mud flats, wetlands, 
saltmarshes, mangroves and she-oak forests. 
This landscape provided an abundance of 
hunting and gathering opportunities for 
the local Aboriginal people who lived in 
this area. The rivers feeding into the bay 
and the coastal lands fostered confluence 
and exchange between the neighbouring 
communities of the Woi wurrung and 
Bunurong language groups, all part of the 
alliance now described as the Kulin Nation.

Hobsons Bay’s natural landscape has been 
significantly altered through quarrying, land 
reclamation, and heavy industry. While much 
of the ecological landscape has been lost, 
several unique landscapes remain including 
saltmarshes, mangroves and wetlands at 
Altona Coastal Park, Jawbone Flora and 
Fauna Reserve, Cheetham wetlands, and 
Truganina Explosives Reserve.

While much of the natural landscape has 
disappeared, cultural tree plantings in the 
city’s streets, parklands, foreshore areas and 
cemeteries remain. At Logan Reserve in Altona, 
the Moreton Bay Fig (Ficus macrophylla), likely 
planted in 1917 is a spectacular specimen 
and local landmark. Likewise, plantings at 
Williamstown Botanic Gardens and avenues 
of Norfolk Island Pines, located on at Altona 
Foreshore are unique features.

Trees were seen as fundamental elements in 
the early design of the city. Extensive planting 
of street trees probably began in the 1880’s 
in Williamstown and were integrated into the 
streetscape design. They were often given 
elaborate guards of timber or iron. According 
to newspapers from 1884, trees were “one of 
the most noticeable features in the place”.

Logan Reserve in Altona, the Moreton Bay Fig (Ficus macrophylla), 
likely planted in 1917 is a landmark specimen, 2019.
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Canopy cover in Hobsons Bay
There is approximately 7.5 per cent canopy 
cover across Hobsons Bay. Almost two thirds 
of these trees (4.7 per cent) are in streets, 
parks and reserves. While over half of the 
LGA is comprised of private land (54 per cent 
including land zoned residential, industrial, 
commercial, comprehensive development 
and mixed use), these lands contain only one 
third of trees in the LGA. Over half of the city’s 
total urban tree forest is in residential lands, 
whereas only one tenth of the total urban 
tree canopy is in industrial lands.

Street trees are a major contributor to urban 
canopy. Trees on residential streets form 
over one third (38 per cent) of Hobsons Bay’s 
urban forest. Even in locations where there 
are few streets, street verges provide the 
primary space for trees. In industrial lands, 
streets comprise only a small portion of area 
(6 per cent) they contain the same number of 
trees as all private industrial land combined.

Almost one quarter (22 per cent) of the 
LGA is public parklands and conservation 
reserves. Many of these parks have very low 
canopy cover (5 per cent or less). Over half 
(12 per cent) of this land is in conservation 
zones, reserves and golf courses with many 
of these conservation zones being wetland 
and saltmarsh environments. Additional tree 
planting needs to be carefully considered 
in these zones to ensure there would be 
minimal impact on the ecological integrity 
and health of these vegetation communities.

Areas of public land with the most 
opportunity for additional tree planting 
are streets and public parks. Other public 
lands such as conservation lands, private 
golf courses, public facilities and Port of 
Melbourne Planning Scheme areas may have 
limited capacity for additional tree planting. 
There are also opportunities available to 
substantially increase tree canopy in  
industrial lands and on residential lands.

THE EXISTING URBAN FOREST  
IN HOBSONS BAY

Figure 2.1: Hobsons Bay’s existing urban forest location and value.
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Trees in parks and streets
There are over 76 000 trees in parks and 
streets in the city, worth over $600 million 
dollars. Many of the city’s trees are young 
and only a very small proportion (less than 1 
per cent) are in decline. Some existing trees 
including Lagunaria patersonia (Norfolk Island 
Hibiscus), mature Melaleucas and mature 
Melia azedarach (White Cedar) have been 
a concern to some residents. The Norfolk 
Island Hibiscus is known to cause health 
issues and this species of tree is likely to be 
unsuitable for future use.

In urban environments, trees can be impacted 
by harsher conditions, such as low water 
availability, reduced soil volumes and regular 
disruptions to roots and canopies. This can 
make trees susceptible to death and decline.

A diverse range of tree species can help to 
minimise tree loss. While there are more 
than 550 different tree species in the city, 50 
per cent of Hobsons Bay’s trees are in the 
Myrtaceae family. This dominance of a single 
family or genus can leave the overall tree 
population at risk of mass decline if a pest or 
disease is introduced. Future tree plantings 
should also incorporate a wider range of 
taller species with generous canopies to help 
combat urban heat.

Cool Streets© event Hobsons Bay in 2019
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Climate change and urban heat
Victoria is predicted to be warmer and drier 
with fewer frosts, more frequent and intense 
downpours and less rainfall in winter and 
spring. Melbourne’s urban areas are, on 
average, predicted to be over 8̊ C hotter 
than non-urban areas. Heatwaves are likely 
to be more frequent and last longer. Heat 
waves can cause critical urban infrastructure 
to malfunction or fail, and interrupt health 
services such as medical supplies, hospitals 
and emergency services. Heat waves have 
been linked to higher hospital admissions 
and illnesses. The elderly, the very young, 
infirm and the economically disadvantaged 
suffer the most in these conditions. The 
Heat Vulnerability Index (HVI) developed by 
Planning Victoria has found some suburbs in 
Hobsons Bay including Altona North, Altona 
Meadows, Seabrook, Laverton and Brooklyn 
have high heat vulnerability.

Tree canopy has been found to be effective 
in reducing urban heat and mitigating the 
urban heat island effect. However, trees 
will also be affected by changes to climate, 
through irregular rainfall patterns, heatwaves 
and extreme weather events such as storms 
which can damage trees. Urban trees can also 
be vulnerable to more pests and diseases.

Tree canopy in Hobsons Bay is already 
challenged due to the LGA’s soils, wind 
exposure, and contaminated lands. Climate 
change will place further pressure on tree 
health. Strategies need to be employed 
to improve tree health and resilience. 
‘Tree friendly’ civil and engineering design 
standards can be developed to ensure trees 
can thrive. Design standards that are ‘tree 
friendly’ requires adequate provision of soil, 
free of services and incorporating permeable 
materials, passive watering and adequate 
space above and below ground for healthy 
tree growth.

Development and change
Urban development can impact on urban 
tree canopy. The resident population in 
Hobsons Bay is forecast to increase from an 
estimated 88,990 people to 107,240 people 
by 2036. Urban renewal, infill and green field 
development can mean existing trees and 
garden areas are removed and replaced with 
buildings and paved surfaces. With many 
neighbourhoods transitioning from single 
dwellings to higher density apartments, 
designing to allow appropriate space for 
urban trees is critical.

Urban tree canopy crosses multiple 
jurisdictions and disciplinary boundaries and 
can be impacted by decisions from multiple 
parties. Adopting clear goals, targets and 
standards and mechanisms to deliver these 
targets, can provide clarity and facilitate 
a coordinated process for prioritising and 
planning for urban tree canopy. Compliance 
and tree protection may also require 
strengthening to protect existing trees on 
private land.

The design of urban infrastructure – roads, 
utilities, etc. are critical to providing capacity 
for urban tree canopy. Historically urban 
infrastructure has not provided the best 
conditions for trees. Space above and below 
ground for trees can be constrained, with 
little to no space for trees. In Hobsons Bay, 
existing infrastructure (such as the LGA’s 
extensive gas pipelines and overhead power 
lines) and new infrastructure (such as the 
Westgate tunnel) impacts on tree canopy. 
Holistic streetscape design, that integrates 
trees as priority is necessary. Early integration 
for trees at the project outset can overcome 
obstacles. Collaboration with other 
infrastructure stakeholders, such as VicRoads 
and Melbourne Water, can improve tree 
canopy provision.

CHALLENGES FACING THE  
URBAN FOREST IN HOBSONS BAY
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HOBSONS BAY URBAN FOREST -  
PRINCIPLES AND STRATEGIES

The guiding principles underpinning the Hobsons Bay  
Urban Forest Strategy are to:

Develop a healthy and resilient urban 
forest in Hobsons Bay that:

Increase the understanding of the 
attributes, role and benefits of 
Hobsons Bay’s urban canopy to:

Cools neighbourhoods including 
residential and industrial areas

 encourage greater care, protection and 
custodianship of urban trees

Is healthy, resilient and will thrive in our 
changing climatic conditions

 promote greater participation in 
decision making on urban trees

Improves neighbourhood amenity

Improves community health  
and wellbeing

Reflects the unique character and 
identity of Hobsons Bay

 encourage all members of the 
community (including residents and 
businesses) to contribute by planting 
new trees on private land

Assists in climate mitigation  
and adaptation

Supports healthy ecosystems and 
improves biodiversity

Creates attractive and comfortable 
streets, parks, waterfronts and  
public spaces

To achieve the vision for a 
healthy and resilient urban 
forest in Hobsons Bay, four 
key objectives have been 
developed. These objectives 
are supported by a series of 
priority actions to assist in 
delivery and implementation.
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Strategies and actions

Figure 1.2: Hobsons Bay Urban Canopy Targets
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OBJECTIVE 1

Increase Tree Canopy in  
Hobsons Bay to 30% by 2040

A generous urban tree canopy that cools  
the city is crucial to improving community 
health and wellbeing. This can vary 
depending on a city’s structure, climate and 
land use patterns. Targets are best developed 
based on constraints to creating canopy 
such as densities and land use.

The objective of 30 per cent canopy target 
provides an aspirational yet achievable target 
for Hobsons Bay. This considers the unique 
attributes of the LGA including the large 
proportion of industrial areas, parklands and 
conservation lands including grasslands 
and wetlands. This overall canopy target of 
30 per cent is informed by detailed canopy 
projections for each land use. Projections for 
trees in each land use have been drawn from 
existing canopy cover averages for various 
land uses in western Melbourne (Hurley et 
al 2018), as well examples for tree canopy in 
other Australian cities.

Actions

•  develop an LGA wide Urban Canopy 
Delivery Plan that identifies locations 
for new trees in high priority locations 
(areas with high urban heat vulnerability, 
low cover, main streets, parks, locations 
connecting to public transport, activity 
centres and active transport links)

•  adopt best practice planting details for all 
new trees (such as soil and water availability)

•  Review planning polices, reporting 
frameworks, and statutory planning 
instruments to facilitate increased  
canopy cover

•  apply mechanisms and controls to improve 
tree canopy provision on private land  
(such as minimum provision of unimpeded 
soil zones and tree replenishment)

•  strengthen protection of tree canopy  
on private land and improve reporting  
on tree removal

•  integrate canopy targets, where 
appropriate, into Plans of Management  
for public reserves, parks and open space

•  promote tree planting on private land 
through education programs

•  prioritise infill street trees in locations 
identified as available for immediate planting

•  Link biodiversity corridors with conservation 
reserves, creeks and open spaces across the 
municipality through tree planting
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OBJECTIVE 2

Develop a diverse and  
healthy urban forest

A diverse range of urban trees ensures the 
long-term health and viability of Hobsons 
Bay’s urban forest. With a changing urban 
climate including hotter and drier conditions 
it is important to provide a wider range 
of species that can tolerate new climatic 
conditions. A diverse range of tree species 
will also lower the risk of loss from pests  
and diseases.

In Hobsons Bay, over 50 per cent of the LGA’s 
street and park trees are in the Myrtaceae 
family. This dominance of a single family or 
genus within a family can leave the overall 
tree population at risk of mass decline if a 
pest or disease is introduced. The discovery 
of Myrtle Rust (Puccinia psidii) in the Greater 
Melbourne area presents a significant 
potential threat to the LGA’s trees. It is 
important to develop a long-term plan that 
can withstand these threats. It also provides 
an opportunity to explore a more eclectic 
and unique tree palette that can enhance 
local character and create memorable  
parks and streets.

Actions

•  adopt a target of no more than 5 per cent 
of one tree species, no more than 10 per 
cent of one genus and no more than 20 per 
cent of one family

•  update Council’s asset management 
system to provide improved ULE 
classification, risk assessment and to 
enable monitoring of tree health

•  increase resourcing and staff to allow for 
increased tree inspections and monitoring

•  undertake annual tree health assessments

•  develop standard engineering details that 
prioritise tree health through integrating 
passive watering, maximising soil volume 
and minimising impermeable paving

•  explore opportunities to trial new urban 
tree species that can thrive in changed 
climatic conditions

•  monitor and review urban canopy pests 
and pathogens and develop management 
plans to address these issues
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OBJECTIVE 3

Adopt a ‘trees led’ approach to  
city planning, design and delivery

Delivering a successful urban canopy 
requires an effective and integrated approach 
across all levels of administration, planning 
and delivery. Knowledge sharing, planning 
and collaboration are required to deliver an 
expanded, healthy and resilient urban forest 
for Hobsons Bay. Many of the challenges 
of integrating trees into the landscape can 
be overcome by developing an integrated 
approach that is supported in strategic 
planning, design and delivery. This objective 
reflects Hobson Bay City Council’s wider 
commitment to be a council of excellence 
and innovation, in order to deliver well 
designed, maintained and environmentally 
sustainable places to the community.

The city’s street verges are important areas 
for the delivery of urban trees. Many of the 
obstacles to tree planting can be overcome 
by early planning. An integrated approach to 
designing streets for trees can provide the 
dual benefit of reducing local temperatures 
on hot streets and mitigating stormwater 
runoff in the form of roadside tree pits, 
bioswales and rain gardens. This approach 
not only improves tree health but can  
reduce stormwater pollution.

Actions

•  incorporate minimum urban tree  
canopy and deep soil targets into all  
capital works projects

•  increase resourcing and staff for  
Council’s Urban Forest team

•  promote early engagement with Council’s 
Urban Forest team to ensure appropriate 
design that will achieve canopy targets

•  incorporate an integrated approach to 
streetscape design that prioritises tree 
provision, passive watering, soil volume  
and permeable paving

•  develop park masterplans that increase  
tree canopy and incorporate alternative 
water sources for irrigation
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OBJECTIVE 4

Educate and foster care  
for urban trees

Delivering a healthy urban forest relies 
on not only community acceptance but 
encouraging care for the urban forest. 
Information sharing can increase acceptance 
and encourage wider participation from 
residents. Allowing people to participate  
in growing and sustaining the urban  
forest is critical.

A coordinated approach to working with 
the local community can provide a robust 
mechanism for information sharing and 
partnering that supports more tree planting. 
This may involve partnering with existing 
advocacy groups and/or developing new 
ways to engage with a wider cross section 
of residents. This aligns with Council’s 2030 
Community Vision which identified a strong 
desire from the Hobsons Bay community  
for expanded natural areas and more 
sustainable practices.

Actions

•  develop a coordinated urban forest 
communication strategy that educates the 
community on the benefits of trees and 
encourages increased tree planting

This can incorporate:

-  advocacy and information sharing 
through multiple platforms including 
social media

-  a calendar of events including Cool 
Streets© engagement activities, 
workshops, community planting days  
and school planting days

-  arts and culture activities focused  
on and about trees

-  plant giveaways and information seminars

•  develop key regional partnerships with 
organisations such as Greening the West, 
and service and utility providers such  
as VicRoads

•  encourage landowner participation  
in greening particularly for businesses  
on industrial lands

•  strengthen partnerships with other  
greening agencies such as Landcare, 
Greening Australia, and local greening 
community groups

•  Provide information and advice on the best 
way to manage large trees on your property 
and the highlight the benefits they provide 
to your property and local area
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Priority locations
Priority locations have been identified across 
the LGA. These priority locations have been 
selected based on a range of factors and 
include areas that have been identified as 
priorities by staff during workshop sessions 
(Gallagher Studio 2019).

These factors include:

•  places where there is capacity for additional 
trees on public lands, such as in street 
verges, in reserves and parklands

•  suburbs and locations which have  
been identified as having high urban  
heat vulnerability

•  locations where there will be high volumes 
of pedestrian movement such as retail 
streets, activity centres, school zones and 
public transport interchanges

•  active transport corridors such as  
cycleways, waterfront and coastal trails

•  locations zoned for increased  
residential density.

There are locations in Hobsons Bay that 
have been identified as having urban heat 
vulnerability index of 4 or higher in Planning 
Victoria data. These areas include the suburbs 
in the south and west including Altona North, 
Altona Meadows, Seabrook, Laverton and 
Brooklyn. The HVI rating is based on three 
indicators - heat exposure, sensitivity to 
heat and adaptive capability; and indicates 
how vulnerable specific populations are to 
extreme heat events on a scale from 1 to 5, 
with 5 indicating the highest vulnerability.

The following locations have been identified 
as priority locations for new tree plantings on 
public land:

•  local streets and parks in Altona North, 
Altona Meadows, Seabrook, Laverton  
and Brooklyn

•  main streets including Kororoit Creek 
Road, Grieve Parade, Millers Road, Civic 
parade, Central Avenue, Point Cook Road, 
Blackshaws Road and Melbourne Road

•  parks including Glouster Reserve, Hatt 
Reserve, Sadler Reserve, Cherry Lake 
(perimeters) and JK Grant Reserve 
(boundaries and edges)

•  waterfronts and coastal paths  
including Esplanade

•  public park and reserves

•  local streets within industrial precincts at 
Altona North, Brooklyn and Spotswood

•  existing and future neighbourhood activity 
centres including new centres at Altona 
Meadows, Newport and Altona Gate

•  cycleway links, shared paths, coastal trails 
and waterfront paths

•  Council carparks in shopping precincts  
and at sports fields

•  streets, car parks and public spaces near  
bus stops and train stations (Laverton, 
Westona, Altona Stations)

•  streets in new residential precincts and 
urban renewal sites

•  Westgate Tunnel interfaces

There is a requirement for much of the tree 
canopy to be delivered on private land. 
There are opportunities to develop planning 
mechanisms to increase tree planting in 
new developments. There may also be 
opportunities to explore opportunities for 
voluntary agreements for private industrial 
landowners to provide increased tree  
canopy on their lands.
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IMPLEMENTATION
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Action Time frame

1.1 Develop an LGA wide Urban Canopy Delivery Plan that  
identifies locations for new trees in high priority locations and 
implementation targets.

1 to 2 years

1.2 Employ a Project Manager to oversee annual tree planting  
program and to assist with identifying priorities and delivery of  
new tree plantings.

Ongoing

1.3 Deliver an annual tree planting program that is in line with proposed 
target model recommended in Strategy (Delivery of 8,000 to 8,500 
trees per year for 5 years, 4,000 to 4,500 trees thereafter).

1 to 5 years

1.4 Review planning polices, reporting frameworks, and statutory  
planning instruments to facilitate increased canopy cover.  
Review tree protection policies.

1 to 2 years

1.5 Improve tree protection and planting requirements in planning scheme 
to increase tree canopy delivery requirements on private land.

1 to 2 years

1.6 Investigate opportunities for matching grants and community planting 
programs to expand upon Council’s tree planting programs.

Ongoing

Action Time frame

2.1 Employ a Inspecting Arborist to review plans and ensure compliance 
is met with Tree Protection requirements and landscape plans are 
being delivered within developments and projects. Ensure trees are 
managed in accordance with industry and legislative requirements.

Ongoing

2.2 Improve inspection frequency of trees and tree maintenance works. 
Improving ULE classification and review.

Ongoing

2.3 Provide specialised tree health measures to existing tree canopy. Ongoing

2.4 Undertake regular audits of maintenance performance and to ensure 
all works are performed in accordance with Australian Standards

Ongoing

2.5 Replacing the Laguanaria patersonia species with appropriate  
new large trees.

1 to 5 years

Objective 1: Increase Tree Canopy in 
Hobsons Bay to 30% by 2040

Objective 2: Develop a diverse and 
healthy urban forest
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Objective 3: Adopt a ‘trees led’ 
approach to city planning, design 
and delivery

Action Time frame

3.1 Integrate minimum urban tree canopy and deep soil targets into all 
capital works projects.

1 to 2 years

3.2 Develop and deliver an LGA wide Urban Canopy Delivery Plan 
that identifies locations for new trees in high priority locations and 
implementation targets.

1 to 2 years

3.3 Review and early engagement with council’s Urban Forest team to 
ensure appropriate design to achieve canopy targets.

Ongoing

3.4 Develop/review standard engineering details that prioritise tree health, 
incl. passive watering, soil volume and permeable paving. Review 
WSUD standards and integrate with tree canopy requirements.

1 to 2 years

Objective 4: Educate and foster care 
for urban trees

Action Time frame

4.1 Develop key regional partnerships with organisations such as Greening 
the West, and with service and utility providers such as VicRoads.

Ongoing

4.2 Strengthen partnerships with other greening agencies such as 
Landcare, Greening Australia, and local greening community groups.

Ongoing

4.3 Develop a coordinated urban forest communication strategy. This 
would include coordination of approach including fact sheets, 
templates, process and response to all council related tree enquiries, 
for ongoing use by the Urban Forest team.

1 to 2 years

4.4 Develop partnerships with businesses and offer grants for tree planting 
on existing industrial sites. Commitment would have to be made with 
organization to match $2 for every dollar council gives in grants.

Ongoing

4.5 Provide residents with a free tree at engagement events. Ongoing

4.6 Continued delivery of ‘Cool Streets’ program Ongoing
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Biodiversity refers to the wide variety of 
ecosystems and living organisms from all 
sources including terrestrial, marine and 
other aquatic ecosystems, their habitats and 
their genes, and the ecological complexes of 
which they are part. Biodiversity also refers to 
the degree of variation of life forms within a 
given species or ecosystem, and is a measure 
of the health of ecosystems.

Botanical family (pl. families). A taxonomic 
group composed of one or more genera. 
The names of most botanical families end 
in ‘-aceae’ (e.g., Myrtaceae, Ulmaceae, 
Plantanaceae etc.), however, there are some 
exceptions. Groups of similar families are 
placed in orders.

Botanical genus (pl. genera). A taxonomic 
group consisting of related species that 
resemble each other more closely than they 
resemble other groups. Genus is subordinate 
to family and ranked above species. The 
genus name forms the first part of a scientific 
name (e.g., Eucalyptus leucoxylon) and is 
written in Latin with the first letter capitalized. 
Collections of similar genera are grouped  
into families.

Canopy (in addition to the definition in 
Section 2.1). The uppermost branches of 
the trees in a forest, forming a more or less 
continuous layer of foliage.

A carbon sink is a natural or artificial reservoir 
process that accumulates and stores any 
carbon-containing chemical compound 
for an indefinite period, thus lowering the 
amount of carbon dioxide in the atmosphere.

Photosynthesis by terrestrial plants is a major 
natural carbon sink.

Climate change adaptation refers to the 
ability of natural or human systems (i.e. 
ecosystems or communities) to adjust in 
response to actual or expected climate 
change, including climate variability and 
extremes. It involves a process (or outcome 
of processes) of anticipating or monitoring 
change and undertaking actions to address 
the consequences of that change – such 
as moderating potential damage, reducing 
harm or risk of harm, coping with the 
consequences, and taking advantage 
of beneficial opportunities (evident or 
unforeseen) of climate events, variability  
and climate change.

Greenfield sites are areas of land, often in 
rural or countryside areas in proximity to 
towns and cities that have not been built on 
before but are being considered for urban 
development. While these areas usually 
support agricultural or environmental 
amenity, as development potential they offer 
better access, have less congestion, a more 
pleasant environment, and have more space 
to expand.

Resilience is the capacity to deal with 
change and continue to develop. Ecological 
resilience refers to the capacity of an 
ecosystem or natural population to resist 
or recover from major changes in structure 
and function following natural or human-
caused disturbances, without undergoing a 
shift to a vastly different regime but remain 
within its natural variability and viability. Social 
resilience is the ability of human communities 
to withstand and recover from stresses, such 
as environmental change

or social, economic or political upheaval. 
Resilience in societies and their life-
supporting ecosystems is the key to 
sustainable development and is crucial 
in maintaining options for future human 
development.

GLOSSARY
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Urban forest (in addition to definition in 
Section 1.1). ‘The art, science and technology 
of managing trees and forest resources in 
and around urban community ecosystems 
for the physiological, sociological, economic 
and aesthetic benefits trees provide 
society’. (Helms, 1998) ‘The art, science and 
technology of managing trees, forests and 
natural systems in and around cities, suburbs 
and towns for the health and wellbeing of all 
people’. (USDA Forest Service).

Urban forestry is a planned and 
programmatic approach to the development 
and maintenance of an urban forest, 
including all elements of green infrastructure 
within the community, especially when 
resulting from a community visioning and 
goal-setting process. (Schwab, 2009). In 
its broadest sense, it is a multidisciplinary 
process that takes account of water municipal 
water catchments, wildlife habitats, outdoor 
recreation opportunities, design, and care of 
trees and cultivated landscapes.

Urban Heat Island Effect (UHI) or urban 
heat refers to the significantly warmer 
temperatures found in urban areas in 
comparison to surrounding areas due to 
there being less green cover and more hard 
surfaces which absorb, store and radiate heat.

Useful Life Expectancy (ULE) (in addition to 
the definition in Section 2.3) is the safe ‘with 
an acceptable level of risk’ life expectancy of 
a tree modified by economic considerations 
(Jeremy Barrell 1996). The objective of an 
ULE assessment is to determine the relative 
value of individual trees for the purpose of 
informing future management options.

Vulnerability refers to the propensity and 
degree of sensitivity of social and ecological 
systems to suffer from exposure to external 
stresses and shocks. It is generally regarded as 
the antithesis of resilience.

Water Sensitive Urban Design (WSUD) is an 
approach to urban planning and design that is 
‘sensitive’ to the issues of water sustainability, 
resilience and environmental protection. 
The strategy is often to reuse stormwater, 
stopping it from reaching natural waterways 
by mimicking the natural water cycle as 
closely as possible.
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The guiding principles underpinning the Hobsons Bay  
Urban Forest Strategy are to:

The following describes the principles, strategies and actions 
required to deliver the Urban Forest Strategy.

GUIDING PRINCIPLES

Develop a healthy and resilient urban 
forest in Hobsons Bay that:

Increase the understanding of the 
attributes, role and benefits of 
Hobsons Bay’s urban canopy to:

Cools neighbourhoods including 
residential and industrial areas

 encourage greater care, protection and 
custodianship of urban trees

Is healthy, resilient and will thrive in our 
changing climatic conditions

 promote greater participation in 
decision making on urban trees

Improves neighbourhood amenity

Improves community health  
and wellbeing

Reflects the unique character and 
identity of Hobsons Bay

 encourage all members of the 
community (including residents and 
businesses) to contribute by planting 
new trees on private land

Assists in climate mitigation  
and adaptation

Supports healthy ecosystems and 
improves biodiversity

Creates attractive and comfortable 
streets, parks, waterfronts and  
public spaces

To achieve the vision for a 
healthy and resilient urban 
forest in Hobsons Bay, four 
key objectives have been 
developed. These objectives 
are supported by a series of 
priority actions to assist in 
delivery and implementation.

3Hobsons Bay Urban Forest Strategy        2020 Action Plan 
Attachment 9.3.1.2 Page 157



Four key objectives have been developed - these are:

STRATEGIES

Figure 1.2: Hobsons Bay Urban Canopy Targets

Objective 1: Increase Tree Canopy in 
Hobsons Bay to 30% by 2040

Objective 2: Develop a diverse and 
healthy urban forest

A generous urban tree canopy that cools the 
city is crucial to improving community health 
and wellbeing. This can vary depending 
on a city’s structure, climate and land use 
patterns. Targets are best developed based 
on constraints to creating canopy such as 
densities and land use.

The objective of 30 per cent canopy target 
provides an aspirational yet achievable target 
for Hobsons Bay. This considers the unique 
attributes of the LGA including the large 
proportion of industrial areas, parklands and 
conservation lands including grasslands 
and wetlands. This overall canopy target of 
30 per cent is informed by detailed canopy 
projections for each land use. Projections for 
trees in each land use have been drawn from 
existing canopy cover averages for various 
land uses in western Melbourne (Hurley et 
al 2018), as well examples for tree canopy in 
other Australian cities.

A diverse range of urban trees ensures the 
long-term health and viability of Hobsons Bay’s 
urban forest. With a changing urban climate 
including hotter and drier conditions it is 
important to provide a wider range of species 
that can tolerate new climatic conditions.  
A diverse range of tree species will also lower 
the risk of loss from pests and diseases.

In Hobsons Bay, over 50 per cent of the 
LGA’s street and park trees are in the 
Myrtaceae family. This dominance of a single 
family or genus within a family can leave 
the overall tree population at risk of mass 
decline if a pest or disease is introduced. 
The discovery of Myrtle Rust (Puccinia psidii) 
in the Greater Melbourne area presents 
a significant potential threat to the LGA’s 
trees. It is important to develop a long-term 
plan that can withstand these threats. It 
also provides an opportunity to explore a 
more eclectic and unique tree palette that 
can enhance local character and create 
memorable parks and streets.

40% 40% 20%
Public parks Residential zones 

(nature strips included)
Industrial zones 

(nature strips 
included)

30%
Hobsons Bay 
urban forest,  
by 2040

Achieved by
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Objective 3: Adopt a ‘trees led’ 
approach to city planning, design 
and delivery

Objective 4: Educate and foster care 
for urban trees

Delivering a successful urban canopy 
requires an effective and integrated approach 
across all levels of administration, planning 
and delivery. Knowledge sharing, planning 
and collaboration are required to deliver an 
expanded, healthy and resilient urban forest 
for Hobsons Bay. Many of the challenges 
of integrating trees into the landscape can 
be overcome by developing an integrated 
approach that is supported in strategic 
planning, design and delivery. This objective 
reflects Hobson Bay City Council’s wider 
commitment to be a council of excellence 
and innovation, in order to deliver well 
designed, maintained and environmentally 
sustainable places to the community.

The city’s street verges are important areas 
for the delivery of urban trees. Many of the 
obstacles to tree planting can be overcome 
by early planning. An integrated approach to 
designing streets for trees can provide the 
dual benefit of reducing local temperatures 
on hot streets and mitigating stormwater 
runoff in the form of roadside tree pits, 
bioswales (channels) and rain gardens. This 
approach not only improves tree health but 
can reduce stormwater pollution.

Delivering a healthy urban forest relies 
on not only community acceptance 
but encouraging care for the urban 
forest. Information sharing can increase 
acceptance and encourage wider 
participation from residents. Allowing 
people to participate in growing and 
sustaining the urban forest is critical.

A coordinated approach to working with 
the local community can provide a robust 
mechanism for information sharing and 
partnering that supports more tree planting. 
This may involve partnering with existing 
advocacy groups and/or developing new 
ways to engage with a wider cross section 
of residents. This aligns with Council’s 2030 
Community Vision which identified a strong 
desire from the Hobsons Bay community 
for expanded natural areas and more 
sustainable practices.
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Priority works
In order to establish and implement an 
effective urban forest across Hobsons Bay, 
several foundational actions are required. 
These actions ensure that effective planning 
and guidance is in place to ensure delivery of 
a healthy urban forest. These are; 

Monitoring and review
A critical component of the Urban Forest 
Strategy is undertaking regular reviews and 
monitoring to ensure;

•  there is no net loss of trees  
in streets and parks

•  there is an increase in canopy  
cover across the city, on public  
and on private land

•  trees that are delivered are  
healthy, and well maintained

•  community knowledge and  
support is increased

•  improved tree species diversity  
is achieved

To achieve this, it is recommended that 
annual assessments are undertaken to 
review targets and measure outcomes. This 
review should also include feedback from 
inspections undertaken during the time 
frame to identify any issues and ensure tree 
standards are modified or adapted. A full 
review of the strategy should be undertaken 
after a five-year period.

Improvements to the data available on the 
city’s trees is also required. This is to enable 
better assessment of long-term tree health. 
It is recommended that the current database 
be expanded to provide more detailed ULE 
information and to provide a more in-depth 
ULE categorisation (11 to 20 years, 20 to 30 
years, 31 to 60 years).

PRIORITY WORKS,  
MONITORING AND REVIEW

1. Development of an Urban Canopy 
Delivery Plan. This will establish 
an overarching LGA plan to direct 
all streetscape and park planting 
projects. This will provide a more 
detailed resolution of tree locations, 
configurations and species. This can 
track delivery of targets and identify any 
obstacles that require forward planning 
or consultation with stakeholders. 

3. Integration of tree strategies and 
targets into relevant Council policies 
and capital works projects, and facilitate 
increased canopy cover through the 
Planning Scheme, including development 
controls. This will embed tree targets 
across all council plans, strengthen 
tree protection and replenishment 
requirements. It is recommended that 
this be adopted into all relevant policies.

2. Development of Council engineering 
standards to prioritise tree growth and 
longevity. This ensures that all new trees 
are installed appropriately to safeguard 
their longterm health. This will also 
ensure tree planting works undertaken 
by others are appropriately constructed 
and delivered in accordance with 
relevant tree standards.
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ACTIONS
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Action Cost Time frame

1.1 Develop an LGA wide Urban Canopy Delivery Plan that 
identifies locations for new trees in high priority locations 
and implementation targets.

$100,000  
year 1

1 to 2 years

1.2 Employ a Project Manager to oversee annual tree planting 
program and to assist with identifying priorities and delivery 
of new tree plantings.

$90,000  
per year  
ongoing

Ongoing

1.3 Deliver an annual tree planting program that is in line with 
proposed target model recommended in Strategy (Delivery 
of 8,000 to 8,500 trees per year for 5 years, 4,000 to 4,500 
trees thereafter).

$2,000,000  
first 5 years, 

$1,100,000  
after

1 to 5 years

1.4 Review planning polices, reporting frameworks, and 
statutory planning instruments to facilitate increased 
canopy cover. Review tree protection policies.

$60,000  
year 1

1 to 2 years

1.5 Improve tree protection and planting requirements 
in planning scheme to increase tree canopy delivery 
requirements on private land.

Refer to 1.4 1 to 2 years

1.6 Investigate opportunities for matching grants and 
community planting programs to expand upon Council’s 
tree planting programs.

Refer to 1.4 Ongoing

Objective 1: Increase Tree Canopy in 
Hobsons Bay to 30% by 2040

Subtotal  $2,250,000 year 1 
$2,090,000 year 2 to 5

8 Hobsons Bay Urban Forest Strategy        2020 Action Plan 
Attachment 9.3.1.2 Page 162



Action Cost Time frame

2.1 Employ a Inspecting Arborist to review plans and ensure 
compliance is met with Tree Protection requirements and 
landscape plans are being delivered within developments 
and projects. Ensure trees are managed in accordance with 
industry and legislative requirements.

$90,000  
per year 
ongoing

Ongoing

2.2 Improve inspection frequency of trees and tree 
maintenance works. Improving ULE classification  
and review.

Refer to 2.1 Ongoing

2.3 Provide specialised tree health measures to existing  
tree canopy.

$10,000  
per year

Ongoing

2.4 Undertake regular audits of maintenance performance  
and to ensure all works are performed in accordance  
with Australian Standards

Refer to 2.1 Ongoing

2.5 Replacing the Laguanaria patersonia species with 
appropriate new large trees.

$150,000  
per year  
for 5 years

1 to 5 years

Subtotal  $250,000 years 1 to 5 
$100,000 year 6 onwards

Objective 2: Develop a diverse and 
healthy urban forest
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Objective 3: Adopt a ‘trees led’ 
approach to city planning, design 
and delivery

Action Cost Time frame

3.1 Integrate minimum urban tree canopy and deep soil targets 
into all capital works projects.

Refer to 1.4 1 to 2 years

3.2 Develop and deliver an LGA wide Urban Canopy Delivery 
Plan that identifies locations for new trees in high priority 
locations and implementation targets.

Refer to 1.1 1 to 2 years

3.3 Review and early engagement with council’s Urban Forest 
team to ensure appropriate design to achieve canopy 
targets.

Refer to 1.2 Ongoing

3.4 Develop/review standard engineering details that prioritise 
tree health, incl. passive watering, soil volume and 
permeable paving. Review WSUD standards and integrate 
with tree canopy requirements.

$70,000 1 to 2 years

Subtotal  $2,250,000 year 1 
$2,090,000 year 2 to 5
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Objective 4: Educate and foster care 
for urban trees

Action Cost Time frame

4.1 Develop key regional partnerships with organisations such 
as Greening the West, and with service and utility providers 
such as VicRoads.

Refer to 1.2 Ongoing

4.2 Strengthen partnerships with other greening agencies 
such as Landcare, Greening Australia, and local greening 
community groups.

Refer to 1.2 Ongoing

4.3 Develop a coordinated urban forest communication 
strategy. This would include coordination of approach 
including fact sheets, templates, process and response to 
all council related tree enquiries, for ongoing use by the 
Urban Forest team.

$60,000 1 to 2 years

4.4 Develop partnerships with businesses and offer grants 
for tree planting on existing industrial sites. Commitment 
would have to be made with organization to match $2 for 
every dollar council gives in grants.

$10,000 
per year

Ongoing

4.5 Provide residents with a free tree at engagement events. $10,000 
per year

Ongoing

4.6 Continued delivery of ‘Cool Streets’ program $80,000  
per year

Ongoing

Subtotal  $2,250,000 year 1 
$2,090,000 year 2 to 5
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 What are your 
          hopes + vision    
   for the future of  
                Laverton?      
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When the local community was asked to share their 
hopes and visions for the future of Laverton, they did 
not talk about futuristic vehicles, smart technologies 
or shiny new buildings.  Their answers were far more 

human and meaningful.   

They spoke about making Laverton cleaner and 
greener, improving the parks and streets to make them 

more attractive, and making it a place that is easier 
and safer to walk or get around on a bike.   They spoke 

about making their village centres more vibrant and 
their community more connected. 

They want Laverton to continue to be a place that 
is diverse, creative and affordable, and to protect its 

character and the things that make it unique.   

In short, they want to keep working towards making 
Laverton an even better place to live - and a place that 

they are proud to call home.
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PART 1    OVERVIEW

1.1 BETTER PLACES 

A NEW APPROACH 
TO CHANGE
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LAVERTON    PLACE GUIDE

Better Places is ultimately about 
providing a more holistic and 

integrated approach to thinking about 
and designing for change.....

What are the things that make a place a great 
place to live?........   

And how would you go about making the place 
you call home an even better place live into the 
future?........ 

Creating great places to live is a complex 
process.  Its about more than just buildings and 
the way things look.  Its about the people, the 
spaces in between buildings, and all the little 
things that add up to give life and a sense of 
community to a place.  

Creating great places is also a collaborative 
process.  It requires a vision that captures 
the imagination and shared identity of the 
people who live there and gives them a sense 
of ownership and opportunities to be actively 
involved.  

To create a great place you have to think about 
the place as a whole, understanding and 
enhancing the things that make it special and 
knowing the elements needed to make the place 
better into the future.  

The Better Places program has recently been 
developed by Hobsons Bay City Council to 
provide a more holistic and integrated approach 
to thinking about and designing for change into 
the future.  Better Places is focused on taking 
a more placed based approach - thinking in 
terms of overall ‘places’ rather than individual 
‘pieces’ - and providing a new model for the 
way that Council designs and delivers projects.     
Better Places also aims to more actively involve 
the community in the process of shaping the 
place they live in, helping to create a vision 
that not only reflects their values, ideas and 
priorities, but also provides practical ideas and 
clear steps towards turning the vision into real 
improvements into the future.
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PART 1    OVERVIEW

Better Places Laverton is the first project 
being undertaken as part of the Better Places 
program.  The Laverton Place Guide provides a 
summary of the visioning process undertaken, 
the community input and key findings and sets 
out the projects and improvements that will be 
undertaken into the future.      

The Place Guide is broken into 6 parts that 
are intended to clearly describe the steps and 
process undertaken to evolve from the initial 
consultation and visioning through to the end 
outcomes. 

The Place Guide will be the guiding framework 
around which future projects will evolve and be 
delivered.

1.2 THE PLACE GUIDE 

A SHARED VISION 
FOR THE FUTURE OF 
LAVERTON

PART 1: OVERVIEW
DESCRIBING THE BETTER PLACES PROCESS

PART 2: THE LAVERTON STORY
PROVIDING BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT FOR LAVERTON 

PART 3: CONNECTING WITH THE COMMUNITY
SUMMARISING THE ENGAGEMENT PROCESS AND FINDINGS

 

PART 4: SHAPING THE VISION
ESTABLISHING THE VISION AND GUIDING PRINCIPLES

PART 5: PLACE PROJECTS
KEY PROJECTS THAT WILL BRING THE VISION TO LIFE 

PART 6: NEXT STEPS
SETTING TARGETS FOR DELIVERY OF KEY PROJECTS
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LAVERTON    PLACE GUIDE

a vision that captures the imagination 
and shared identity of the 

community.... 

and gives people a sense of ownership 
and opportunities to be actively 

involved in shaping the future of the 
place they live in  
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PART 2    THE LAVERTON STORY

The Laverton we see today largely developed 
post World War I as part of the ongoing urban 
growth of Melbourne’s west and particularly after 
the RAAF base was established in 1921.

Following World War II there was an explosion of 
residential development in the area, including a 
Housing Commission Estate and service married 
quarters. 

Today Laverton is predominantly a residential 
suburb, with many of the homes being typical 
post war suburban style on large lots.  A key 
feature of the suburb is its strong boundary 
edges formed by major roads and defence 
infrastructure.  

2.1 TODAY AND TOMORROW:
THE CHANGING FACE OF LAVERTON 
2.1.1 TODAY

(Image Credit: WilliamsLanding)
The RAAF base that was 
established in 1921
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LAVERTON    PLACE GUIDE

2.1.2 LOCAL CONTEXT

Laverton is a community of approximately 5,000 
residents within Hobsons Bay City Council and 
is situated approximately 18km southwest of the 
Melbourne CBD. 

Laverton is bounded by the Princes Freeway to 
the south and east,  Old Geelong Road to the 
north and the Royal Australian Air Force base to 
the west.   The VicRail metro line passes through 
the south of Laverton and the suburb contains 
two rail stations (Aircraft and Laverton).

Laverton is surrounded by the predominantly 
residential suburbs of Williams Landing to the 
west and Altona Meadows and Seabrook to the 
south, and the industrial and commercial areas 
of Laverton North to the north. 
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PART 2    THE LAVERTON STORY

Laverton is known for being a culturally diverse 
suburb.  According to the 2016 Census data for 
Laverton, 43.9% of people only spoke English 
at home, with other languages including Punjabi 
7.1%, Karen 6.4%, Hindi 4.4%, Mandarin 2.5% 
and Arabic 2.2%”

The population of Laverton is increasing due 
to suburban regeneration and increasing rates 
of infill development.  The area is becoming 
increasingly attractive to young working families 
due to larger land sizes and relatively low 
property prices in comparison to other areas of 
Melbourne and access to many forms of public 
transport and freeways.

Population forecast for Laverton indicate an 
increase of 2,602 people by 2041, an increase of 
nearly 45.49% to 8,323 people (February 2020 
Forecast.id).

Laverton is one of the most disadvantaged 
neighbourhoods in Australia.  Some of the 
key socio economic factors that will need to 
be considered as part of any future planning 
include:

• Laverton has the highest unemployment rate 
within the local municipality at 10.9 per cent 

• Low income levels and low levels of 
educational attainment 

• High levels of jobs in relatively unskilled 
occupations 

• The stock of rented households is very high 
(43.1 per cent)

• 5.3 per cent of households do not have a 
car. 

2.1.3 DEMOGRAPHICS AND POPULATION 2.1.4 SOCIO ECONOMIC
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Laverton developed in the typical post war 
suburban style, with dwellings on large lots. 
There is a mixture of housing stock mainly from 
the 1950s to the 1980s, predominantly single 
storey and detached. 

The larger lot sizes and ageing housing stock, 
as well as the train stations and bus interchange 
are attracting an increase in infill development 
with older homes being replaced by medium 
density dwellings. The forecast housing demand 
for Laverton is expected to increase by 49% 
by 2036. This means that Laverton will need to 
accommodate an additional 956 houses (47.8 
per annum). 

  

2.1.6 HOUSING 

Whilst the overall amount of open space in 
Laverton is marginally below average for the 
local area, Laverton still has a good distribution 
of open spaces, with only 4.4% of residents 
not having access to open space within a 400m 
walking distance. 

However, projected increases in the future 
population will place pressure on available open 
space and recreational facilities, and this will 
need to be addressed as part of any future open 
space planning.  

There is also a lack of established trees in 
the Laverton area and this contributes to a 
higher level of vulnerability to heat stress. This 
is reflected in Council’s recent land surface 
temperature reviews, which indicated that some 
parts of Laverton are between 2 and 7 degrees 
hotter than the air temperature. Tree planting and 
other cooling initiatives along key walking routes 
and within open space should be explored as a 
priority.

2.1.5 OPEN SPACE
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PART 2    THE LAVERTON STORY

The three new zones to be applied across the 
municipality provides an indication of the level of 
housing change envisaged per area. It speaks to 
the identified need to increase densities around 
the activity centres to allow for a diversity of 
housing types for a broad range of households 
and age groups, and also to contribute to the 
viability of these centres.

Although not located within Laverton or the 
municipal boundary, the RAAF base is a large 
parcel of land and its potential redevelopment 
will have a significant impact on Laverton. This is 
acknowledged by the Activity Centres Strategy 
2019 in identifying the Aviation Road commercial 
area as a future Large Neighbourhood Activity 
Centre that would service the increased 
population of Laverton and the redevelopment of 
the RAAF base.

Laverton was largely developed in the 1950s 
and 1960s, and much of the housing stock is 
ageing and facing pressures for redevelopment. 
Overall, future residential development is most 
likely to be on smaller strategic sites or as infill 
development as older dwellings are replaced by 
newer and higher density forms of housing.

Planning permit applications in Laverton 
between 2018 and 2020 indicates that the 
suburb is experiencing reasonably fast growth, 
and this growth is consistent with the forecasted 
increase in infill developments.

In August 2019 Council adopted the New 
Residential Zones which set the strategic 
framework for future growth and will direct where 
new development is to occur based on a range 
of factors such as proximity to public transport, 
shopping areas and community facilities.

2.1.7 PLANNING CONTEXT
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PART
3CONNECTING WITH THE COMMUNITY        
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 How would 
          you make 
Laverton 
     a better place?      
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The Better Places Laverton project launched with 
a public engagement process that ran throughout 
March and April of 2020.   The focus of the initial 
engagement was to start the conversation - to 
‘ASK’ the local community to share their ideas, 
concerns and aspirations for the future of Laverton 
based around 3 simple questions: 

...asking the community 
to share their views and 
around what they love 
most about the area, 

what they would like to 
see changed, and any big 
ideas they might have to 
improve Laverton into 

the future.

PART 3    CONNECTING WITH THE COMMUNITY

•  What do you LOVE most about Laverton?

•  What would you like to see CHANGE?

•  What are your big IDEAS for its future? 
    

3.1 STARTING THE CONVERSATION       

LOVE

ASK       
asking what the

Laverton community
values most + wants 
to see improved into 

the future

IDEASCHANGE
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Shortly after the launch of the 
project the COVID 19 crisis reached 
Australia, and the associated 
restrictions meant that some of the 
planned public consultation events 
needed to be postponed.  However, 
the program was adjusted and 
input was gathered through various 
channels, each targeting a slightly 
different sample of people and 
aiming to capture the widest possible 
number and range of responses.  

Engagement was undertaken 
through 4 key channels: 
 
 

The Laverton Festival
A community engagement event was held at the Laverton 
Festival in March 2020 which included one-on-one 
discussions and a challenge game where kids and adults 
were asked to complete question cards to gain entry into a 
random prize draw.

A dedicated web page was developed that allowed 
community members to share their views and ideas and to 
vote for those they liked and supported the most.

Participate Website

Returnable Flyer Mailout
A program introduction postcard was sent to all Laverton 
residents which was then followed up by a flyer one week 
later.  The flyer was a questionnaire form that could be 
returned to HBCC free of charge.

Internal Council Workshop
A series of workshops were held with Hobsons Bay 
Council  staff directly involved with the Laverton community 
to gather their thoughts and ideas based on their 
understanding of the community and its needs.

LAVERTON    PLACE GUIDE

(Image to be updated)
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Through the initial engagement process over 1500 
responses were received.  Whilst this process 
only represented the first step in the consultation, 
and the start of a much broader conversation, it 
showed high level of interest and engagement from 
the community.  

PART 3    CONNECTING WITH THE COMMUNITY

over 530+ ideas shared 
by the community

over 1500+ responses received 
through engagement

over 900+ visits to the 
participate webpage

Laverton Festival

Participate Webpage

Returnable Flyer

Workshop

3.2 THE KEY QUESTIONS + FINDINGS       

ASK       

Where Input Came From: Consultation Numbers:

RESPONSES

1500+

IDEAS

530+

VISITS

900+
41%

7%

35%

17%
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Distribution of Input Themes  
 

 
 
Input Themes & Subcategories  
 
 

Public Places & Spaces Community Facilities &Services 
Parks & Ovals Festivals & Events 
Beaches Council Services 
Paths & Tracks Health & Fitness 
Playgrounds Halls & Centres 
Other social gathering places Family & Community Services 
  
Transport & Connectivity Housing & Job Opportunities 
Access to Public Transport Affordable Housing 
Geographic Location Variety of Housing 
Public Roads Employment Opportunities  
  

Shops & Services 
 
Look & Feel of Laverton 

Variety of Options Sense of Community 
Markets & Pop-ups Trees & Greenery 
Cafes & Restaurants Historic Connection  
Retail Activity Civic Pride 
 Diversity  
 Safety  

 
  

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700

Internal Workshop

Laverton Festival

Participate Website

Returned Flyer

Community_Facilities_Services

Community_Facilities_Servies

Housing_Job_Opportunities

Look_Feel_ Laverton

Public_Places_Spaces

Shops_Services

Transport_Connectivity

Unrelated

To assist with interpreting the information gathered 
throughout the initial consultation, all of the 
comments and ideas received were grouped into 
6 key categories, each containing a variety of sub 
elements.  

The following pages provide a summary of the 
key findings of the initial consultation.  The results 
are organised under the 6 key categories and are 
presented based around the 3 simple questions 
related to Love, Change and Ideas.   

LAVERTON     PLACE GUIDE

CommunityFacilities and Services

Housing and Job Opportunities

Look and Feel of Laverton

Public Places and Spaces

Shops and Services

Transport and Connectivity

Unrelated

Returned Flyer

Participate Website

Laverton Festival

Internal Workshop

0             100           200            300           400           500           600           700

6 Key Categories and Sub Elements: 

Organisation of Input Based Upon 6 Key Categories:
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The residents of Laverton love the geographic 
location of their suburb and appreciate the
easy access to public transport they have to 
get to nearby places. Any future development
should enhance these connections through 
paths and tracks that better connect residents
to the various pockets of Laverton and nearby 
places such as Altona Meadows and Williams 
Landing.

Laverton has a village feel whereby those 
residents that responded indicated they like the
community halls, festivals and events. This is 
something people want to retain, so
more programs or events that bring the 
community together will be received well.

PART 3    CONNECTING WITH THE COMMUNITY

LOVE

LOVE - What We Heard:
“I love that it’s a small 

community, transport is close 
and there’s numerous parks 

available...”

“I like the new Community 
Hub and its proximity to the 

rail station, Aviation Road and 
new community park. The new 

Curlew Community Park is 
great...”

From all the comments and suggestions gathered, 505 related to things 
that people LOVE about Laverton.  The key categories that rated 
highest were: 

Key Findings:

Look and Feel
Whilst many comments were received relating to the desire to improve 
the tidiness and look of Laverton, ‘look and feel’ also rated most 
highly in terms of what people love.  Even though this may seem like 
a contradiction at first, a closer inspection of the comments received 
shows that, whilst there are concerns regarding the appearance of the 
area, there is also a strong sense of community pride and that locals 
really value Laverton’s ‘small town’ or ‘village’ character.

Transport and Connections
People appreciate how central Laverton is to assets such as the city, 
beaches and country and how easy these places can be reached with 
public transport.

Public Places and Spaces
Reflecting an appreciation for the number of parks + reserves, the paths 
and tracks that connect them and their quiet and remote character.

Summary of Responses:

Input Source Community 
Facilities + Services

Housing + Job
Opportunities 

Look + Feel of 
Laverton

Public Places + 
Spaces

Shops + Services Transport + 
Connectivity

Unrelated

Internal Workshop 2.70% 8.11% 35.14% 32.43% 5.41% 16.22% 0.00%

Laverton Festival 17.74% 0.00% 24.60% 31.85% 6.05% 12.90% 6.85%

Participate Website 10.20% 2.04% 26.53% 20.41% 6.12% 32.65% 2.04%

Returned Flyer 16.37% 1.17% 43.27% 9.94% 11.11% 18.13% 0.00%

Grand Total 15.45% 1.19% 31.88% 23.37% 7.72% 16.83% 3.56%
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What do you LOVE most about 
Laverton? ...........

Here’s What People Said: 

What do you LOVE most about Laverton?   I like the community / That it’s close to the station / I like 
Curlew Park /  Lots of different things to do / It’s quiet / The parks and playgrounds / Big open parks to 
kick a football / The trees /  I like the festival / Still has some older areas / I like the location and nature / 
Aviation Road overpass / It’s quiet and easy to get around / The skate park / Dog walking / It is accessible 
and you can walk everywhere  / The beach / The Hub / How green it is / Location from Geelong and City / 
The people / The houses / Its a great community / The programmes held every year / All the eating places 
/ Good bike trails / The pool / My mum lives here / Like a small country town / It’s peaceful and quite / 
Access to public transport is excellent / I love how family friendly it is / How multicultural it is / I love the 
community arts vibe in Laverton that the woods street art space provides / Laverton has the potential to 
become the arts precinct of the west / I love that it’s a small town and community / transport being so close 
and numerous parks available / The thing I love most about Laverton is the feel one gets of a village hub 
and this charm makes it special / the people make Laverton special / that its not too fancy - that you see 
the real struggle of people and the environment is not pretentious / McCormack park and the river that runs 
through it - this is a significant site but also has room for improvement / The creek corridor is very special 
and should be celebrated and further enhanced as should the parks along its course including McCormack 
Park / curlew park is brilliant /McCormack park is lovely and there’s a decent native bird population / we 
are lucky to have the large open space areas with established trees and a handful of ‘corner parks’ with 
playgrounds scattered throughout the suburb / I love that it is situated near the city and has convenient 
access to public transport like buses and trains / the best part of living here is that it is a quiet suburb which 
is in close proximity to freeways, beaches and public transport / Laverton has a nice community feel to it 
and is a nice quiet suburb / It has a number of parks dotted around and three schools within, including an 
autistic school therefore catering to everyone’s needs / Laverton has multiple ways in and out which is a 
huge benefit these days with an increase in traffic and is only a short drive to Williamstown beach, Altona 
beach and the city / The new Community Hub and its proximity to the rail station, Aviation Road and new 
community park / The new neighbourhood Park - Curlew Community Park is great as is McCormack 
Park / I love that Laverton is close to the city and it is quite laid back /  Good job on the bridge at Aviation 
Road and Curlew Park is great / That it accessible to the city has great shops close by and schools                   

LAVERTON    PLACE GUIDE

LOVE
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While many people love the ‘community feel’ of 
Laverton, even more residents feel somewhat 
isolated or even forgotten. Co-existing with a 
sense of pride that Laverton people are “real” 
or “authentic” is an overwhelming frustration 
that the area looks ‘untidy’ and even ‘unloved’ 
- people are proud of the community itself but 
embarrassed by the way the community looks.

It is clear that one of the highest priorities for 
the local community is to make the area more 
visually appealing. Any project or program will 
need to go beyond just planting a few trees, 
even though increasing trees and greenery 
is top of the list for many residents. A future 
Laverton should seek to increase community 
pride so residents are more likely to take care 
of their suburb.

PART 3    CONNECTING WITH THE COMMUNITY

CHANGE - What We Heard:

“the challenges are that 
laverton is a forgotten suburb -  
it is a drive through suburb for 

all new suburbs around it...”

“There is a general sense of 
it being a poorly maintained 
neighbourhood. People don’t 

seem to care....”

Whilst the feedback received from the community in relation to what 
they would like to see CHANGE was quite diverse, the ‘look and feel’ 
category clearly received the highest level of reponses.  

Key Findings:

CHANGE
Look and Feel
Close to a third of all comments received in relation to change related 
to the look and feel of the area.  Included under this category were 
elements such as civic pride, sense of community and trees and 
greenery, all of which featured very strongly in the comments received.   

Other Issues and Priorities
Of the other changes suggested, the ones that featured most regularly 
related to community facilities, public places and transport and 
included:

• Upgrading park spaces and recreation facilities 
• Improving the appearance of public spaces and private homes to 

lift the image of the area
• Addressing traffic congestion and parking 

“Laverton has potential...
but we need to clean-up 

everything ...and get residents 
to maintain their properties....”

Summary of Responses:

Input Source Community 
Facilities + Services

Housing + Job
Opportunities 

Look + Feel of 
Laverton

Public Places + 
Spaces

Shops + Services Transport + 
Connectivity

Unrelated

Internal Workshop 11.90% 0.00% 23.81% 26.19% 19.05% 16.67% 2.38%

Laverton Festival 18.58% 0.55% 13.11% 27.87% 8.74% 24.04% 7.10%

Participate Website 15.04% 1.50% 35.34% 12.03% 15.79% 20.30% 0.00%

Returned Flyer 20.13% 11.32% 45.91% 0.00% 6.29% 13.84% 2.52%

Grand Total 17.60% 4.06% 29.79% 15.09% 10.64% 19.34% 3.48%
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What would you like to see change in 
Laverton? ...........

Here’s What People Said: 

What would you like to see change?  Better roads / More rubbish bins / More shade and seating /  Left 
turn at bridge at Aviation Road / More carparks / More footpaths / Improve bridges at McCormack Park / 
More trees and grass / Water Park - outdoor splash / Bigger shopping centre / More playgrounds / Better 
food shops / Water plan / More outdoor space and playgrounds / Hearts and minds - there’s much to 
be positive about, need to spread the word / Improve safety / Extend library times during holidays / Less 
rubbish / Fix congestion at train station / Better walking tracks in parks and playgrounds / More houses / 
More things for teenagers / Better connections between Laverton and Altona Meadows / More sustainable 
ways of doing things, e.g. rubbish / It could become a little village nestled in between industrial estates, 
motorways and the rail / I don’t feel part of the community and don’t belong to any community groups / 
Need to bring an old suburb into a new updated one / Parking is an issue - my street is like Bourke St for 
parking due to rentals /I do not feel part of the community any more as it is being spoilt by untidy premises 
and incomplete buildings / Its affordable but that’s all and the renters don’t care for their homes / Needs 
more community involvement and events / There is not enough things to do for children / Council rates are 
the same in Laverton but the area still doesn’t appear to have the same environmental as other suburbs 
/ Laverton feels forgotten / I would be proud if it was clean and crime free / It is only a matter of time 
before its value is realised - we just need to get more people to invest in Laverton / apart from immediate 
neighbours I have no sense of community / the current volumes of traffic are a problem / I do not really 
feel part of the community as my work and interests are outside of Laverton / laverton feels like a forgotten 
suburb - this needs to change / it is a drive through suburb for all new suburbs - need to fix traffic / Bring 
life back to Laverton like it used to be / Improve the aesthetics of Laverton station / I’d like to see the vacant 
land on old geelong rd opposite the residential area used for light commercial shops and businesses / 
Council need to have more hard collections each year / need to get property owners to mow their lawns 
and clean up their properties / Policing unkempt nature strips in and around all of Laverton / The front 
gardens are unkempt, nature strips not mowed, foliage hanging over footpaths - this needs to be fixed / 
New townhouse developments upgrade the living standard - need more of that /  Too many developments 
neglect the footpath and naturestrip while they are constructed / Run inspections to ensure locals can still 
use the footpath unobstructed and that construction waste is not dumped on the naturestrip /  Would 
like to see more people taking pride in their property and their gardens / Fix McCormack Park Creek foot 
bridges are often flooded in and days after wet weather / Stop developers buying up properties and letting 
them become run down   

LAVERTON    PLACE GUIDE

CHANGE
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PART 3    CONNECTING WITH THE COMMUNITY

“The Laverton RAAF base 
will close sooner or later and 
when it does there will be an 
opportunity to link Laverton 

to Williams Landing...”

“Revitalising the shops at 
Laverton Village would 

improve the look, feel, and 
longevity of the community....”

There was a total of 537 IDEAS put forward throughout the initial 
engagement, and these were relatively evenly distributed across most of 
the key categories.  

Key Findings:

Some of the ideas that were most commonly shared and supported 
included:

• Upgrading and activating the Aviation Road shopping precinct 
• Changing / removing highway access to Aviation Road so that the 

shopping precinct could return to a regular high street
• Trying to attract a mainstream supermarket to the area
• Improving car parking and congestion around the train station
• Improving paths and tracks around the Laverton and better 

connecting open space areas
• Planting more trees and giving the area a ‘greener’ overall character
• ‘Cleaning-up’ the suburb and improving the overall appearance
• Adding more public art to reinforce local identity and pride
• Providing more health and fitness related facilities - in particular, 

providing refurbished pool and gym facilities
• Improving safety through upgraded lighting and a 24hr manned 

police station

IDEAS

The Laverton community has a lot of ideas 
for how the area could be improved into the 
future, ranging from smaller-scale short term 
improvements through to much bigger and 
longer term ideas.  Whilst for many people the 
priority is to ‘clean-up’ the suburb and improve 
the overall appearance, the community also 
sees a lot of opportunities for improving the 
local village shopping areas, increasing the 
amount of greenery, making the area more 
walking and cycle friendly and enhancing the 
character of the area.  In short, whilst the ideas 
and priorities are diverse, they all centre around 
making Laverton a more attractive, safe and 
liveable place into the future. 

IDEAS - What We Heard:

“Perhaps a cultural venue such 
as a live music venue, small 
cinema, gallery or theatre, 
would help attract more 
visitors to Laverton....”

Summary of Responses:

Input Source Community 
Facilities + Services

Housing + Job
Opportunities 

Look + Feel of 
Laverton

Public Places + 
Spaces

Shops + Services Transport + 
Connectivity

Unrelated

Internal Workshop 2.70% 5.41% 32.43% 29.73% 10.81% 13.51% 5.41%

Laverton Festival 18.36% 1.45% 15.46% 43.48% 5.31% 8.70% 7.25%

Participate Website 17.72% 2.53% 15.19% 13.92% 32.91% 17.72% 0.00%

Returned Flyer 30.37% 6.07% 8.88% 14.49% 14.49% 25.23% 0.47%

Grand Total 21.97% 3.72% 13.97% 26.63% 13.41% 16.95% 3.35%
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What are your big IDEAS for the future of 
Laverton? ...........

Here’s What People Said: 

What are your big ideas for the future of Laverton?  Water play areas for summer / More trees / 
More parks /  Water slide beach / A water park / Make Laverton more green by planting more trees / 
More funds for children services  /  Get rid of the freeway exit /  A cinema / Housing renewal / Community 
support for homeless people / Upgraded swim centre / Affordable housing - provided in the right location 
/ More community events / Police station open 24hrs / More car parking - particularly around rail station 
/  Better street lighting - more and brighter / Traffic lights instead of roundabout at bottom of new bridge / 
Underground all powerlines / Fix traffic congestion at corner of central ave and point cook rd / Improve the 
look of entrances into Laverton from Bladin St (both ends) / Fix the problem at Aviation Road roundabout 
with traffic going to or coming from Point Cook / Reinstate Aviation Road as a true high street and not 
the beginning of the freeway - better yet close it to freeway access / Working with Wyndham to connect 
it and make it accessible to the rest of Laverton will provide arts and sports for Laverton youth and 
families to engage in / The Laverton RAAF base will close sooner or later and when it does there will be an 
opportunity to link Laverton to Williams Landing enabling access to the modern shops and facilities / The 
council should strategically purchase land on Sumers, Allen and Wackett St to enable a future connection 
with the new development / Would like to see more effort put into the shops outside the train station 
and turned into a community hub / Shopping precinct across from rail station needs to be completely 
revamped / Revitalising the shops at Laverton Village would also improve the look, feel, and longevity of 
the community / Keep trying to clean the streets, remove hard rubbish and above all try and encourage 
cafes and restaurants / A big upgrade at the shopping precincts, with more cafes, restaurants and bars / 
The shops in Woods St should be redeveloped and modernised / Aircraft station needs to be redeveloped 
and become a modern mini shopping complex with a better suited multi level car park to bring it up to 
the modern day / Needs a proper supermarket / Laverton station need renovation /  need to attract more 
cafes, restaurants and boutiques / Needs to be more drawcards for people to visit the suburb - perhaps 
a cultural venue such as a live music venue, small cinema, gallery or theatre / The Laverton RAAF base is 
in a great location with access to the freeway and public transport and potentially could be better utilized 
as a shopping and business precinct  / New swim and fitness facilities / Fix up Laverton swim centre as it 
really needs a face lift / Need more playground equipment for kids /Needs better playgrounds and walking 
tracks / Need to improve parks and maintenance / Improve McCormack Park / We would love to see a 
safe place or enclosed fence to let dogs off the lead / Full upgrade of all community parks and play spaces 
/ upgrade of Railway Reserve / Build up bridges over the creek in McCormack park  / Yoga classes in park 
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PART
4SHAPING THE VISION        
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        Shaping a 
shared vision 
        for the future 
    of Laverton      
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One of the common challenges that places face 
as they change and grow is that they often do 
not have a clear and shared vision as to what that 
change should look like and how to protect and 
enhance the things that make that place special.  
While the people that make up a community may 
have different and sometimes conflicting priorities 
about what they want to see happen, it is essential 
to establish a vision that can be used to help guide 
future changes and improvements. 

The initial consultation phase went out to the 
Laverton community to ‘ASK’ people to share their 
views and around what they love most about the 
area, what they would like to see changed, and 
any big ideas they might have to improve Laverton 
into the future.  Input was gathered through an 
event at the Laverton Festival, Council’s Participate 
Webpage and a mailout questionnaire.  Over 1500 
responses were received.

Creating a shared vision 
that captures the values 

+ aspirations of our 
community and can be 

used to guide future 
projects+ improvements

The next step in the process is to ‘SHAPE’ the 
community’s views into a clear vision. The vision 
may evolve over time, but aims to guide decision 
making, manage change and identify future 
priorities and improvements. Once the Laverton 
community has reviewed and provided input into 
the vision, this information will be used to identify 
Place Projects. These projects will begin to bring 
the vision to life - to ‘MAKE’ the vision happen. 

As each Place Project is identified and evolves, 
the community will have the opportunity to provide 
input.  Each project will be continually assessed 
against the vision to ensure that it reflects the 
values, ideas, and priorities originally expressed by 
the community.  

  

PART 4    SHAPING THE VISION

4.1 SHAPING A SHARED VISION       

Attachment 9.3.2.1 Page 197



LAVERTON     PLACE GUIDE

PLACE
PROJECTS

LOVE CHANGE IDEAS

STUDIO

VISION

CLEAN
+ 

GREEN

A MORE
VIBRANT
PLACE

A MORE 
CONNECTED
COMMUNITY

CELEBRATING
OUR 

CHARACTER

ASK       

SHAPE        

asking what the
Laverton community

values most + wants to 
see improved into the 

future

MAKE        

shaping a shared vision 
that can be used to 

guide future changes + 
projects

 

undertaking projects 
that will bring the vision 

to life

The vision may evolve 
over time, but aims to 

guide decision making, 
manage change and 

identify future priorities 
and improvements... 
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The vision for Laverton is broken down into 4 key 
themes: 
•  Cleaner + Greener
•  A More Vibrant Place
•  A More Connected Community
•  Celebrate Our Character

These themes are intended to describe what the 
Laverton community values most as well as the 
elements that they want to see protected and 
improved into the future.  

PART 4    SHAPING THE VISION

Vision Statement 

Laverton is a vibrant community that is loved for its connection to natural 
opens spaces, its village atmosphere and as a place where all the needs of 
daily life are within easy reach.   Residents choose to live in Laverton for 
its convenient access to public transport, variety of housing and people, 
well serviced local shopping precincts and extensive parks and open 
spaces.  

Local residents value the area’s unique character and history and that it is 
a diverse and creative community - and want to continue to protect and 
enhance these things into the future and keep working towards making it 
a great place to live and a place that we are proud to call home.

  

STUDIO

VISION

A MORE
VIBRANT
PLACE

CLEANER
+ 

GREENER

A MORE 
CONNECTED
COMMUNITY

CELEBRATE
OUR 

CHARACTER

4.2 THE VISION FOR LAVERTON        
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Each of the 4 key themes include a statement that 
describes the general views, values and aspirations 
expressed by the community and this is followed by 
a series of Guiding Principles that set out the key 
improvements that the community want to see occur. 

For each of the key themes a variety of potential 
projects and initiatives are identified that offer 
ideas, inspiration and real-life examples for possible 
improvements and can be used to generate discussion 
and feedback from the community.    

In this way the vision not only describes the core values 
of the Laverton community, but also provides practical 
ideas and steps towards turning the vision into real 
improvements into the future.

 

Cleaner + Greener

Celebrate Our Character

A More Vibrant Place

A More Connected Community 

LAVERTON     PLACE GUIDE

4.3 KEY THEMES, PRINCIPLES 
AND POTENTIAL PROJECTS AND 
INITIATIVES
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The Laverton community want 
their local area to look cleaner 
and greener to lift the overall 
appearance and strengthen the 
green ‘leafy’ character

THEME 1:

Whilst many people expressed throughout 
the consultation that they value that 
Laverton has a more casual character 
and is not ‘overly manicured’, many 
people felt that some places looked 
‘untidy’ and ‘unloved’ - both in terms of 
streets and public spaces but also the 
private residences.  Some of the most 
common and reoccurring themes were 
that people wanted Laverton to look 
tidier and felt that the character of the 
area could be improved by increasing the 
amount of greenery - and that any projects 
and initiatives that would help to make 
Laverton ‘cleaner + greener’ should be a 
high priority.  
 
  

All future projects within Laverton should, wherever practical, aim to 
achieve the following key principles: 

PART 4    SHAPING THE VISION

1.1 Every project must consider and address the overall tidiness of 
Laverton in some way. This will help to achieve continual improvement 
in the appearance and quality of public spaces through cared for and 
maintained facilities, and a reduction of rubbish and waste

Increase the amount of greenery in all public areas and improve the 
diversity and health of the tree population within Laverton - aim towards 
achieving at least 40% canopy within all parks and streetscapes 

Look for ways to encourage and support private residents to plant trees 
and to maintain their front yards and gardens - to help improve the 
overall appearance and enhance the green character of the local area

Increase opportunities for the community to experience and engage with 
the natural environment 

1.2

1.3

1.4

Cleaner + Greener

THEME 1  CLEANER AND GREENER
  

Guiding 
Principles
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Looking Good Laverton  
Develop new program + community grants scheme to provide funding, education and resources 
for: 

•  grass-roots clean-up + greening projects  

•  eligible residents on how to maintain their nature strip, front yards and property

•  a special hard rubbish removal program 

•  identifying + removing redundant cyclone fencing 

Undertake targeted maintenance blitz of public assets (picnic settings, bench seats, bollards and 
fencing) - to bring them up to good condition

Green Streets Laverton
Develop a greening project similar to Cool Streets or “beautify your neighbourhood” that: 

•  Undertakes intensive fast-tracked tree planting in all street vacancies along main roads  

•  Provides resident-based programs for tree planting in residential streets

Love Laverton Parks
Upgrade 8 local parks within Laverton as a single co-ordinated project that: 

•  creates a complementary suite of parks that offer choice and a variety of functions  
   and activities for people of all ages 

•  apply the principles of achieving a ‘cleaner and greener’ Laverton 

•  incorporate art / educational elements that celebrate Laverton’s history + culture

•  explore opportunities for art trails, wayfinding and green linkages that tie the 
   parks together 

AN INTENSIVE  PLANTING PROGRAM TO GREEN THE STREETS 
+ PUBLIC SPACES OF LAVERTON  

UPGRADING PARKS + THE KEY LINKAGES BETWEEN THEM
(Image Credit: LAT27)

COMMUNITY BASED PLANTING + STREETSCAPE IMPROVEMENTS
(Image Credit: Brisbane Kids)

Inspiration 

1

2

3

What could these projects + 
initiatives look like?

LAVERTON     PLACE GUIDE

Potential Projects + Initiatives

THEME 1:

Cleaner + Greener
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Helping to strengthen the vibrant 
village lifestyle of Laverton into 
the future

THEME 2:

The ‘village atmosphere’ of Laverton 
is something that the local community 
strongly identifies with and values - based 
around the idea that most of the needs of 
daily life are within easy reach and that the 
parks and smaller village centres which 
form the heart of the community have a 
strong ‘local feel’.  The local community 
want to see this ‘village lifestyle’ 
maintained, but also want to look for new 
ways to add more life and activity to the 
village areas and public spaces to make 
sure Laverton becomes an even more 
vibrant and liveable community into the 
future.
 
  

2.1 Foster community activity through design that increases activation of 
public spaces and encourages more people to interact with the outdoors

Seek opportunities to improve the amenity, function and access of the 
village shopping and community hubs within Laverton to help increase 
their viability, make them more attractive and vibrant places, and extend 
their usage (i.e. day time / night time and weekday / weekend)

Ensure that any new or upgraded public spaces are designed to be safe, 
accessible and usable for all residents and for different times of the day 

Look for ways to connect people within the community (local traders, 
creatives, entrepreneurs etc) to stimulate new partnerships, activities 
and opportunities (art initiatives, community events, business initiatives) 
that will add life and vibrancy to the local village areas  

Explore opportunities to provide more diverse and affordable housing 
options around the village centres and key community facilities to help 
increase their viability and activation into the future and ensure they 
remain accessible to all members of the community   

2.2

2.3

2.4

All future projects within Laverton should, wherever practical, aim to 
achieve the following key principles: 

2.5

PART 4    SHAPING THE VISION

A More Vibrant Place

Guiding 
Principles

THEME 2  A MORE VIBRANT PLACE
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GETTING THE COMMUNITY ACTIVELY INVOLVED
(Beers + Ideas Warrnambool - Image Credit: Hustle + Bank)

ADDING GREENERY + AMENITY TO OUR VILLAGE CENTRES 
(James Street, Brisbane)

Better Villages Project 
Develop a Master Plan for the Aviation Road Village + Woods Street Precinct that: 

•  provides upgrades to the streetscape, public spaces, parking and linkages within 
   the centres and key adjoining areas (such as Aircraft Station)  

•  improves connectivity (walking, cycling, public transport)

•  identifying opportunities to establish new partnerships, initiatives and activities 

Better Places Laverton Leadership Group
Providing funding and resources for the development of a Better Places Leadership Group that:

• Will lead activities and events to activate the Village centres and community spaces 

• Includes representatives from local traders, local creatives, business entrepreneurs  

Safer Places Project
Undertake an intensive fast-tracked program to improve general safety and accessibility 
around Laverton.  A key initiative could be to provide street lighting improvements and widened 
footpaths along main walkways and routes connecting to key places within Laverton such as 
village centres, rail stations and parkland.   

Housing Choice
Ensure diverse and affordable housing is available in Laverton that:

•  Delivers new private and social housing options in close  proximity to the village 
    centres, including on the Council owned land at Epsom St which will provide more 
    choice and affordability in housing

•  Ties in with the newly created Hobsons Bay Affordable Housing Trust to deliver increased 
    housing choice and affordability in the local area

•   Is supported by the roll out of the New Residential Zones in Laverton which delivers 
    increased housing choice and supports the viability of the village centres

IMPROVED COMMUNITY SPACES + CONNECTIVITY
(Holland Street , Adelaide - Image Credit: JPE Design)

Inspiration 

4

5

6

7

What could these projects + 
initiatives look like?
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Potential Projects + Initiatives

THEME 2:

A More Vibrant Place
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Making Laverton more walkable 
and bike friendly, and enhancing 
the linkages and places that 
promote interaction and will help 
connect the community together

  

THEME 3:

All future projects within Laverton should, wherever practical, aim to 
achieve the following key principles: 

PART 4    SHAPING THE VISION

Whilst many people expressed throughout 
the consultation that they felt that Laverton 
is a place with good access to public 
transport and a variety of road connections 
to surrounding areas,  it was also regularly 
noted that it is very car focused and not 
very pedestrian or bike friendly.  One of the 
key themes that emerged is that the local 
community would like to see more focus 
placed on improving the pathway and 
cycling connections throughout Laverton 
- both to help people move between key 
destinations but to also provide more 
recreational opportunities.  They would 
also like to see some of the key parks and 
spaces around Laverton upgraded and 
connected through a network of green 
linkages and pathways to create a more 
active, walkable and bike friendly place 
and to encourage community interaction.    

 
  

3.1 Focus on improving mobility connections within and external to Laverton 
through new pedestrian and cycling ways, bus service provisions and 
any other sustainable transport modes

Priority to be given to upgrading and improving key pathways and 
linkages between the main community destinations such as village 
centres, rail stations and parkland areas

Focus on upgrading key public places and facilities that will encourage 
residents and visitors to socialise, play, exercise and interact

Look for new ways to improve connections between people within the 
community (community groups, facilities and events etc) 

3.2

3.3

3.4

A More Connected Community

Guiding 
Principles

THEME 3  A MORE CONNECTED COMMUNITY
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CONSTRUCTING KEY MISSING PEDESTRIAN + CYCLIST LINKS
(Frome Street Bikeway, Adelaide - Image Credit: CIity of Adelaide)

NEW SPACES TO CONNECT  THE COMMUNITY 
(Edible Street Garden + Parklet - Image Credit: Sam Crawford Architects)

PROVIDING NEW WAYFINDING + TRAILS CONNECTING KEY DESTINATIONS
(Frome Street Bikeway, Adelaide - Image Credit: CIity of Adelaide)

Missing Links Project
Develop an intensive fast-tracked schedule to identify and construct missing pedestrian 
+ cyclist links / footpaths as part of the Missing Links Program - including identifying any 
additional initiatives to help make Laverton a more walkable and cycle friendly place

Better Places + Spaces Project  
Develop a Master Plan for the development of the Railway Avenue and McCormack Park areas 
to allow for upgraded and new spaces and activities that will help bring the community together 
including:  

•  McCormack Park recreation area

•  Splash Park water play area  & youth centre 

•  Spaces for community gardens and workshop programs related to food security, health and   
   sustainable living

•  Health and recreation opportunities recreation (i.e. trails + free outside gym 
    exercise stations)

Way Finding + Signage Project 
Develop an intensive fast-tracked program  to identify, design and construct wayfinding 
signage that connects key destinations within Laverton.  Key elements of the program to 
include:

•  signage typologies, hierarchy and locations 

•  integration with the Gateways + Art Trails and Missing Links Projects that celebrate the 
   local heritage 
 

Inspiration 

8

9

10

What could these projects + 
initiatives look like?
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Potential Projects + Initiatives

THEME 3:

A More Connected Community
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Continuing to celebrate and 
strengthen the diversity of the 
area’s history and people into the 
future

THEME 4:

The Laverton community is diverse, but 
the area has a clear identity, character 
and sense of place based around a 
elements such as its ‘village feel’, its 
history connected to the RAAF base and 
its suburban character and housing stock 
which dates back to the working class 
growth areas of the 1950s.  The diversity 
of the local residents and the sense of an 
emerging creative culture are also seen as 
being valued qualities that make Laverton 
unique, and will be important to the future 
character and success of the area.  Whilst 
the Laverton community acknowledges 
that change will inevitably occur, they want 
to make sure that the elements of the local 
character that are valued and unique are 
retained and continue to be strengthened.
 

All future projects within Laverton should, wherever practical, aim to 
achieve the following key principles: 

PART 4    SHAPING THE VISION

4.1 All projects should in some way reflect, celebrate and tell the story of 
the unique qualities and character in Laverton’s landscape, cultures, and 
built environment

Explore opportunities to engage, partner with, and actively involve local 
residents, creatives, community representatives and local indigenous 
leaders and representatives

All projects should consider the objectives and strategies of the 
Hobsons Bay Neighbourhood Character Study 2019

Investigate opportunities to incorporate cultural activities (events, 
artworks interpretive signage etc) that will help to strengthen the local 
culture and sense of community and identity

4.2

4.3

4.4

Celebrate Our Character

Guiding 
Principles

THEME 4  CELEBRATE OUR CHARACTER
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Gateways + Art Trails Project  
Develop a program to explore ideas and opportunities to create key gateway entrance 
statements and outdoor artwork / sculpture spaces and trails at key sites within Laverton 
that build on and compliment existing artwork and respond to council’s public art policy and 
strategy including:

•  Old Geelong, Aviation Rd, Merton St 

•  Aviation Rd freeway interchange - advocating for improved connectivity, safety and  
   amenity

•  Bladin St 

Love Laverton Focus Group
Formation of a community focus group that:

•  is charged with providing input and guidance into key projects related to Laverton’s 
   diversity, history and unique character

•  will provide ideas, connections and active involvement in supporting existing and new  
    events, art initiatives and cultural activities that promote and strengthen Laverton’s local 
    history + culture 

•  will connect with the Local Leaders Action Group to ensure art / cultural / historical 
    initiatives and events are integrated into the village centres 

ARTWORKS AND SIGNAGE THAT TELL THE STORY OF LAVERTON 

CREATING GATEWAYS + ART TRAILS THAT CELEBRATE OUR CULTURE
(Image Credit: Landezine)

EVENTS , ACTIVITIES + INITIATIVES THAT STRENGTHEN LOCAL CULTURE 
(Image Credit: news.kennesaw.edu)

Inspiration 

11

12

What could these projects + 
initiatives look like?
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Potential Projects + Initiatives

THEME 4:

Celebrate Our Character
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4.4 CONTINUING THE CONVERSATION: 
THE COMMUNITY RESPONSE TO THE VISION

PART 4    SHAPING THE VISION

The second phase of community engagement 
for Better Places Laverton ran for 4 weeks 
from the end of July through to Mid August 
2020.  The focus of the engagement was to 
invite the community to help ‘SHAPE’ the vision 
for Laverton by providing feedback on the 
key themes, principles and potential projects 
and initiatives generated through the visioning 
process.  

The following section provides a summary of 
the process undertaken and the key findings.

LAV
ERT
ON

HAVE YOUR SAY 

Is Laverton becoming ‘Cleaner + Greener’ an important priority for you? (Please tick one)

THEME 1:
Cleaner + Greener

Yes

SHAPING A SHARED VISION FOR LAVERTON 
  

Do you support the proposed ‘Cleaner + Greener’ projects? (Please tick one)

Unsure No

(if no, why)

Yes Unsure No
(if no, which projects and why)
  

Yes Unsure No

(if yes, please list)
  

Do you have any other ‘Cleaner + Greener’ projects or initiatives that should be considered?  

Is Laverton becoming ‘A More Vibrant Place’ an important priority for you? (Please tick one)

THEME 2:
A More Vibrant Place

Yes

Do you support the proposed ‘A More Vibrant Place’ projects? (Please tick one)

Unsure No

(if no, why)

Yes Unsure No

(if no, which projects and why)
  

Yes Unsure No

(if yes, please list)
  

Do you have any other  ‘A More Vibrant Place’ projects or initiatives that should be considered?  

Do you agree that the draft vision is consistent with how you’d like to see Laverton developed into the future?
Unsure

(if no, why)

OVERALL VISION

Yes No

We are encouraging the community to provide feedback to help shape the 
vision for Laverton.   To find out more details on the Better Places Laverton 
project, and to fill out an on-line survey, please visit: 
https://participate.hobsonsbay.vic.gov.au/better-places-laverton  

For those without internet access, please fill out this paper survey and send 
it back to us in the prepaid envelope provided by Friday 7 August 2020. 

Is Laverton becoming ‘A More Connected Community’ an important priority for you? (Please tick one)

THEME 3:
A More Connected Community

Yes

Do you support the proposed  ‘A More Connected Community’ projects? (Please tick one)

Unsure No

(if no, why)

Yes Unsure No

(if no, which projects and why)
  

Yes Unsure No

(if yes, please list)
  

Do you have any other  ‘A More Connected Community’ projects or initiatives that should be considered?  

Is the ‘Celebrate Our Character’ theme an important priority for you? (Please tick one)

THEME 4:
Celebrate Our Character

Yes

Do you support the proposed ‘Celebrate Our Character’ projects? (Please tick one)

Unsure No

(if no, why)

Yes Unsure No

(if no, which projects and why)
  

Yes Unsure No

(if yes, please list)
  

Do you have any other ‘Celebrate Our Character’ projects or initiatives that should be considered?  

Which themes are most important to you? (Please rank from 1 to 4 with 1 being the highest priority)
A More Vibrant 
Place

FINAL COMMENT

Cleaner + Greener

Do you have any other comments to add on the Vision + Proposed Projects? 

A More Connected 
Community

Celebrate Our 
Character

This project is delivered by

The Returnable Flyer Mailout
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As with the initial engagement 
process, the consultation ran under 
the challenging conditions created by 
the COVID 19 restrictions, however 
a range of different consultation 
methods were undertaken to try to 
capture the widest possible number 
and range of responses. 

Engagement was undertaken 
through 4 key channels: 

A summary of the vision was added to the Participate web 
page providing the community with an opportunity to view 
and give their feedback on-line.

Participate Website

Returnable Flyer Mailout
A flyer with a summary of the vision and a return 
questionare was sent out to the community through a letter 
box drop providing the community with an opportunity to 
give their feedback on the proposed key themes, principles 
and potential projects and initiatives.

Light Truck Campaign
A light truck with information about the Better Places 
Laverton vision and consultation details was set up 
at strategic locations throughout Laverton to promote 
the program and increase community awareness and 
participation.

LAVERTON    PLACE GUIDE

Language Translations
Details of the engagement process and a language helpline 
was translated into 8 different languages and put onto 
a flyer that was sent out to the community through a 
letter box drop.  The key themes, principles and potential 
projects were also translated into eight languages and 
hosted on the Participate website.

Making Laverton look cleaner and greener to lift 
the overall appearance and strengthen the green 
‘leafy’ character

THEME 1:

ARTWORKS + SIGNAGE THAT TELL THE STORY OF LAVERTON 
(Milton Pocket Park, Brisbane)

ADDING KEY MISSING PEDESTRIAN + CYCLIST LINKS
(Frome Street Bikeway, Adelaide - Image Credit: City of Adelaide)

ADDING GREENERY + AMENITY TO OUR VILLAGE CENTRES 
(James Street, Brisbane)

COMMUNITY BASED IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMS
(Image Credit: Brisbane Kids)

The community want Laverton to look tidier 
and feel that the character of the area could be 
improved by increasing the amount of greenery 
- and that any projects and initiatives that would 
help to make Laverton ‘cleaner + greener’ should 
be a high priority. 

  

LAVERTON     SHAPING THE VISIONPLACE GUIDE

Helping to strengthen the vibrant village lifestyle of 
Laverton into the future

THEME 2:
A More Vibrant Place

Making Laverton more walkable and bike friendly, 
and enhancing the linkages and places that 
promote interaction and connect the community

THEME 3:

Continuing to celebrate and strengthen the 
diversity of the area’s history and people

THEME 4:
Celebrate Our Character
  

A More Connected Community

Many people said Laverton has a “village feel” 
given its relatively small area and location.  People 
want to see this feel maintained but also want to 
look for new ways to add more life and activity 
to the village areas and public spaces to make 
sure Laverton becomes an even more vibrant and 
liveable community into the future.

Focus on improving the pathways and cycling 
connections throughout Laverton - both to help 
people move between key destinations but to also 
provide more recreational opportunities.  People 
wanted to see local parks and spaces upgraded 
and connected through nice safe streets with 
shady trees and good footpaths, to create a more 
attractive, active, walkable and bike friendly place 
and to encourage interaction. 

Many people value the history of Laverton, 
the diversity of the local residents, the local 
shops, services and community groups. People 
acknowledge that change will inevitably occur 
across the suburb over time, however they want to 
make sure that the elements of the local character 
that are valued and unique are retained and 
continue to be strengthened. 

  

Develop a program to explore ideas and 
opportunities to create key gateway entrance 
statements and outdoor artwork / sculpture 
spaces and trails at key sites within Laverton 
that build on and complement existing artwork

Formation of a community focus group 
that provides input and guidance into key 
projects related to Laverton’s diversity, 
history and unique character and will provide 
ideas, connections and active involvement 
in supporting existing and new events, art 
initiatives and cultural activities
 

Develop an intensive fast-tracked schedule to 
identify and construct missing pedestrian + 
cyclist links / footpaths to help make Laverton 
a more walkable and cycle friendly place
  
Develop a Master Plan for the development 
of the Railway Avenue and McCormack 
Park areas  (including proposed Splash Park 
water play area  & youth centre) to allow for 
upgraded and new community spaces and 
activities
 
Develop an intensive fast-tracked program  
to identify, design and construct wayfinding 
signage and trail network that connects key 
destinations within Laverton 
 

Develop a Master Plan for the Aviation Road 
Village + Woods Street Precinct and key 
adjoining areas (i.e. Aircraft Station) that 
provides improvements such as upgrades to 
the streetscape, public spaces, parking and 
linkages 

Providing funding and resources for the 
development of a Local Leaders Action Group 
that will lead activities and events to activate 
the Village centres and community spaces 

Undertake an intensive fast-tracked program 
to improve general safety and accessibility (i.e. 
through improved lighting and pathways) 

Deliver new private and social housing options 
which will increase housing choice + support 
the future viability of the village centres
 

Develop new program + community grants 
scheme to provide funding, education and 
resources for grass-roots clean-up + greening 
projects, community education + special hard 
rubbish removal program 

Undertake targeted maintenance blitz of 
public assets (picnic settings, bench seats, 
bollards and fencing) - to improve condition

Develop a greening project that undertakes 
intensive fast-tracked tree planting program

Upgrade of all 8 community parks within 
Laverton as a single co-ordinated project 
 

Cleaner + Greener

Inspiration 
What could these 

projects + initiatives 
look like?

Potential Projects + Initiatives

Making Laverton look cleaner and greener to lift 
the overall appearance and strengthen the green 
‘leafy’ character

THEME 1:

ARTWORKS + SIGNAGE THAT TELL THE STORY OF LAVERTON 
(Milton Pocket Park, Brisbane)

ADDING KEY MISSING PEDESTRIAN + CYCLIST LINKS
(Frome Street Bikeway, Adelaide - Image Credit: City of Adelaide)

ADDING GREENERY + AMENITY TO OUR VILLAGE CENTRES 
(James Street, Brisbane)

COMMUNITY BASED IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMS
(Image Credit: Brisbane Kids)

The community want Laverton to look tidier 
and feel that the character of the area could be 
improved by increasing the amount of greenery 
- and that any projects and initiatives that would 
help to make Laverton ‘cleaner + greener’ should 
be a high priority. 
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Helping to strengthen the vibrant village lifestyle of 
Laverton into the future

THEME 2:
A More Vibrant Place

Making Laverton more walkable and bike friendly, 
and enhancing the linkages and places that 
promote interaction and connect the community

THEME 3:

Continuing to celebrate and strengthen the 
diversity of the area’s history and people

THEME 4:
Celebrate Our Character
  

A More Connected Community

Many people said Laverton has a “village feel” 
given its relatively small area and location.  People 
want to see this feel maintained but also want to 
look for new ways to add more life and activity 
to the village areas and public spaces to make 
sure Laverton becomes an even more vibrant and 
liveable community into the future.

Focus on improving the pathways and cycling 
connections throughout Laverton - both to help 
people move between key destinations but to also 
provide more recreational opportunities.  People 
wanted to see local parks and spaces upgraded 
and connected through nice safe streets with 
shady trees and good footpaths, to create a more 
attractive, active, walkable and bike friendly place 
and to encourage interaction. 

Many people value the history of Laverton, 
the diversity of the local residents, the local 
shops, services and community groups. People 
acknowledge that change will inevitably occur 
across the suburb over time, however they want to 
make sure that the elements of the local character 
that are valued and unique are retained and 
continue to be strengthened. 

  

Develop a program to explore ideas and 
opportunities to create key gateway entrance 
statements and outdoor artwork / sculpture 
spaces and trails at key sites within Laverton 
that build on and complement existing artwork

Formation of a community focus group 
that provides input and guidance into key 
projects related to Laverton’s diversity, 
history and unique character and will provide 
ideas, connections and active involvement 
in supporting existing and new events, art 
initiatives and cultural activities
 

Develop an intensive fast-tracked schedule to 
identify and construct missing pedestrian + 
cyclist links / footpaths to help make Laverton 
a more walkable and cycle friendly place
  
Develop a Master Plan for the development 
of the Railway Avenue and McCormack 
Park areas  (including proposed Splash Park 
water play area  & youth centre) to allow for 
upgraded and new community spaces and 
activities
 
Develop an intensive fast-tracked program  
to identify, design and construct wayfinding 
signage and trail network that connects key 
destinations within Laverton 
 

Develop a Master Plan for the Aviation Road 
Village + Woods Street Precinct and key 
adjoining areas (i.e. Aircraft Station) that 
provides improvements such as upgrades to 
the streetscape, public spaces, parking and 
linkages 

Providing funding and resources for the 
development of a Local Leaders Action Group 
that will lead activities and events to activate 
the Village centres and community spaces 

Undertake an intensive fast-tracked program 
to improve general safety and accessibility (i.e. 
through improved lighting and pathways) 

Deliver new private and social housing options 
which will increase housing choice + support 
the future viability of the village centres
 

Develop new program + community grants 
scheme to provide funding, education and 
resources for grass-roots clean-up + greening 
projects, community education + special hard 
rubbish removal program 

Undertake targeted maintenance blitz of 
public assets (picnic settings, bench seats, 
bollards and fencing) - to improve condition

Develop a greening project that undertakes 
intensive fast-tracked tree planting program

Upgrade of all 8 community parks within 
Laverton as a single co-ordinated project 
 

Cleaner + Greener

Inspiration 
What could these 

projects + initiatives 
look like?

Potential Projects + Initiatives

The vision for Laverton is broken down into 4 key themes that  
are intended to describe what the Laverton community values 
most as well as the elements that they want to see protected and 
improved into the future.  For each of the key themes a variety of 
principles and potential projects and initiatives are identified that 
provide practical ideas and steps towards turning the vision into real 
improvements into the future. 

We are now looking for feedback from the community.  We want 
to know if you think that the vision reflects the values, ideas, and 
priorities of the community and will provide a clear and shared vision 
to help guide future changes and improvements. 

In April of this year we asked the community to share thier views 
around what they love most about the Laverton, what they would 
like to see changed, and any big ideas they might have to improve 
the area into the future.  Input was gathered through an event at the 
Laverton Festival, Council’s Participate Webpage and a mail-out 
questionnaire.  Over 1500 responses were received.   

The next step in the process is to ‘SHAPE’ the community’s views 
into a clear vision that can be used to guide decision making, 
manage change and identify future priorities and improvements.  A 
draft vision has been prepared: 

LOVE CHANGE IDEAS

Vision Statement

Laverton is a vibrant community that is loved for its connection to natural opens spaces, its village 
atmosphere and as a place where all the needs of daily life are within easy reach. Residents choose 
to live in Laverton for its convenient access to public transport, variety of housing and people, well 
serviced local shopping precincts and extensive parks and open spaces.

They value the areas unique character and history and that it is a diverse and creative community 
– they want to continue to protect and enhance these things into the future and keep working 
towards making it a great place to live and a place that they are proud to call home.
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HOW TO PROVIDE YOUR FEEDBACK  

VISIT BETTER PLACES LAVERTON ONLINE: 

https://participate.hobsonsbay.vic.gov.au/better-places-
laverton

We encourage the Laverton Community to visit the Participate 
webpage to find more detailed information and background on 
the project.  Online, you can read through a summary of the 
first round of community consultation, view the draft vision and 
principles, and provide us with your feedback and suggestions 
for improvements via an online survey. 

We will accept all online feedback up to Friday 14 August 2020. 

BY PAPER SURVEY

For those without internet access, a paper survey is attached 
that can be sent back to us in the prepaid envelope provided. 
For paper survey responses to be considered, please post in 
the reply paid envelope by Friday 7 August 2020. 

NEED HELP OR HAVE A QUESTION?

Contact our project team on 1300 179 944
Or by email projects@hobsonsbay.vic.gov.au

Creating a shared vision 
that captures the values 

+ aspirations of our 
community and can be 

used to guide future 
projects + improvements

This project is delivered by

NEED TRANSLATION SERVICES?

Contact our telephone translations service for help on 
(03) 99 321 212  or go to: 

https://www.hobsonsbay.vic.gov.au/Council/Contact-us
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are intended to describe what the Laverton community values 
most as well as the elements that they want to see protected and 
improved into the future.  For each of the key themes a variety of 
principles and potential projects and initiatives are identified that 
provide practical ideas and steps towards turning the vision into real 
improvements into the future. 

We are now looking for feedback from the community.  We want 
to know if you think that the vision reflects the values, ideas, and 
priorities of the community and will provide a clear and shared vision 
to help guide future changes and improvements. 

In April of this year we asked the community to share thier views 
around what they love most about the Laverton, what they would 
like to see changed, and any big ideas they might have to improve 
the area into the future.  Input was gathered through an event at the 
Laverton Festival, Council’s Participate Webpage and a mail-out 
questionnaire.  Over 1500 responses were received.   

The next step in the process is to ‘SHAPE’ the community’s views 
into a clear vision that can be used to guide decision making, 
manage change and identify future priorities and improvements.  A 
draft vision has been prepared: 

LOVE CHANGE IDEAS

Vision Statement

Laverton is a vibrant community that is loved for its connection to natural opens spaces, its village 
atmosphere and as a place where all the needs of daily life are within easy reach. Residents choose 
to live in Laverton for its convenient access to public transport, variety of housing and people, well 
serviced local shopping precincts and extensive parks and open spaces.

They value the areas unique character and history and that it is a diverse and creative community 
– they want to continue to protect and enhance these things into the future and keep working 
towards making it a great place to live and a place that they are proud to call home.
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https://participate.hobsonsbay.vic.gov.au/better-places-
laverton

We encourage the Laverton Community to visit the Participate 
webpage to find more detailed information and background on 
the project.  Online, you can read through a summary of the 
first round of community consultation, view the draft vision and 
principles, and provide us with your feedback and suggestions 
for improvements via an online survey. 

We will accept all online feedback up to Friday 14 August 2020. 

BY PAPER SURVEY

For those without internet access, a paper survey is attached 
that can be sent back to us in the prepaid envelope provided. 
For paper survey responses to be considered, please post in 
the reply paid envelope by Friday 7 August 2020. 

NEED HELP OR HAVE A QUESTION?

Contact our project team on 1300 179 944
Or by email projects@hobsonsbay.vic.gov.au
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KEY ENGAGEMENT FIGURES:

Dates: July 22 to August 14

Participate site visits: 326
Participate surveys: 56
Participate Q&A contributions: 
2 questions

Hard copy surveys returned by due 
date: 92 (data analysed)

Total responses: 150 (excludes 32 
surveys returned after due date)
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Overall feedback for the Better Places Laverton 
Place Guide has been overwhelmingly positive. It is 
clear that above all else residents want to prioritise 
the Cleaner & Greener initiatives while working 
to make the community more vibrant, with focus 
on the retail precincts and railway areas. Despite 
not being seen as high a priority as the first two 
themes, a connected community that celebrates 
its character will help tie all the various elements 
together and ultimately help deliver on the overall 
Laverton vision.

PART 4    SHAPING THE VISION

4.4 CONTINUING THE CONVERSATION: 
THE COMMUNITY RESPONSE TO THE VISION

The first question was simply “ Do you agree that 
the draft vision is consistent with how you’d like to 
see Laverton developed into the future?”

For those respondents that said no, the 
opportunity to indicate why was given. 

Below are some of the reasons given: 

• Community garden must be provided here in 
Laverton to connect us

• As long as we get action and not meetings

• The principles are just so generic! They have 
all been used so many times before in so many 
other reports and studies all with the exact 
same 4 vision statements

• Current services provided is very poor

• The Hobson’s Bay council need to invest 
in this neglected area as they do in others, 
but have only ever provided the barest of 
essentials

• I don’t think this goes far enough and I am 
strongly opposed to the idea of more social 
housing in a suburb where we already provide 
much more than others

What we heard:

Yes

No
Unsure

84%
Yes

9%
Unsure

7%
No

Does the community support the draft vision?:

84%
Yes

7%
No

9%
Unsure

Attachment 9.3.2.1 Page 211



With each of the four themes outlined, residents 
were asked whether or not each individual theme 
was an important priority for them. 

Here is how residents responded:

The Laverton Community was also asked directly 
whether they supported the projects put forward 
within each theme. 

The responses back were as follows:

Does the community support the key themes?

LAVERTON     PLACE GUIDE

Yes

No
Unsure

Does the community support the proposed projects and initatives?

Yes

No
Unsure

Celebrate
Our Character

69% 20% 11%

More
Connected 86% 10% 4%

More
Vibrant 83% 9% 8%

Cleaner
and Greener

86% 11% 3%

Cleaner
and Greener

86%

5%

9%

More
Vibrant

84%

10%

6%

More
Connected

84%

8%

8%

Celebrate
Our Character

68%

21%

11%
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Focus on planting not only on the main roads but on other roads as well / Fruit trees and planter boxes 
for free or low cost to residents to make medium strips and footpaths places to grow produce for the 
whole street and the entire suburb / Fenced dog park to encourage more resident participation in outdoor 
activities and therefore more interest in maintenance / An urban forest could be developed, especially at 
east and west rail entrances into Laverton / Create a permanent village centre where markets can be set 
up so people can get together, also consider the large park in Woods St / More low rise social housing / 
More street art, murals, sculptures, yarn bombing  and give local artists space to display their art / Bring a 
playground back to McCormack Park / Focus on upgrading Laverton centre to encourage new businesses 
(cafes, clothing shops) to open there / Redevelop the site of the old fire station on Railway Ave into shops 
/ Bladin Shopping strip is always busy - it has room for car parks to be pulled back and the footpath 
area extended / Consider the wonderful community centre having a non-for profit café to help young or 
newly Australians to gain some skills / Develop Woods Street into a culinary and arts precinct / Include 
the Bladin Street shopping strip in the Better Village Program as well / More cultural events - there are so 
many great multicultural communities, restaurants, young people - Council should showcase the vibrancy 
that already exists / To make sure good lighting is all around the train station area so people arent scared 
to walk or cycle around / A bike repair shed where locals can connect and share skills to repair bikes and 
household items for free or low cost / Diwali festival celebraton at Lohse St Laverton / Bring back Laverton 
Festival to Aviation Rd Laverton / Rebuild aviation shopping precinct into a better organised layout / Create 
better connections over Laverton Creek in the McCormack Park precinct / Synthetic grassed areas for 
sports set up in McCormack Park / Regular market / Community food and plant share tables / Garden 
beds / Fruit orchard / Include an improvement to the freeway entry interchange from Old Geelong Road 
and Fitzgerald Road onto the M1 / More crossings over the Laverton Creek in McCormack park / I think 
a greater focus on suburb wide cycling, walking connectivity - rather than small scale treatments shown 
in the images / Support coordination, publishing and distribution of new Laverton community newspaper 
/ Link bike trail along railway to Williams Landing / Build a full size basketball court in McCormack park 
where games can be played / Celebrate our aviation history, bring back real aircraft like Fleetwings used 
to display / Support local education providers to research and produce a new History of Laverton (text 
and multimedia) / Celebrate Laverton’s large Indian community with some Indian icons in shopping and 
park areas / Laverton has multi-culturalism like Fitzroy, Kensignton, Footscray etc, lets really celebrate it / 
Signage to raise awareness and impact knowledge of Australian indigenous history, plant names, animals 
and birds / A yearly cultural festival aboriginal and ethnic community participation

When asked whether there were other ideas they 
thought should be considered, many great ideas 
were put forward. 

Some of the key ideas included: 

Does the community support the key themes?

PART 4    SHAPING THE VISION
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19%
More Vibrant

Lastly, residents were asked to indicate which 
theme they believed should be considered the 
highest priority, second, third and fourth. This 
feedback was intended to help prioritise work and 
budgets, especially over the next 12-18 months.

Which key theme is the community’s highest priority?

LAVERTON     PLACE GUIDE

64%
Cleaner and 

Greener
64%

Cleaner
and Greener

19%
More

Vibrant

13%
More

Connected

4%
Celebrate

Our
Character
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PART
5PLACE PROJECTS 
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The following section takes the potential projects and initiatives identified as part of the visioning 
phase and shapes these into a series of Place Projects that bring the vision for Laverton to life. 

The Place Projects are described in terms of initial ideas and opportunities, and provide 
principles and inspiration examples to establish a clear direction for each project.  It is important 
to note that the Place Projects are not intended to be viewed as prescribing final or specific 
outcomes, but rather providing a guiding framework that will evolve with ongoing design and 
community input.           

      Bringing the  
          vision to life
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SUPPORT FOR CLEAN-UP OF NATURE STRIPS AND FRONT YARDS 
(Image Credit - Transition Town Guildford)

GRAFFITI REMOVAL ON BOTH PUBLIC AND PRIVATE PROPERTIES
 (Image Credit - Yarra Council)

FAST-TRACKED CLEAN-UP OF PARKS AND PUBLIC ASSETS
 (Image Credit - Furphy Foundry)

COUNCIL LED INITIATIVES

• Undertake a fast-tracked and co-ordinated clean-up of 
public assets (picnic settings, bench seats, bollards and 
fencing) - to bring them up to good condition 

• Develop updated maintenance plan for Laverton to 
       ensure improved standards are maintained into the future  

• Undertake a blitz on dumped rubbish within Laverton’s 
local parks and car parks and continue to encourage local 
residents and traders to report dumped rubbish in public 
spaces

• Identify and remove any redundant cyclone fencing on 
Council land

• Council will undertake a graffiti removal in parks and retail 
precincts and provide a free service to remove graffiti on 
private property to residents and commercial dwellings for 6 
months 

• Work with State Government agencies such as Vic Track, Vic 
Roads and PTV to initiate and assist with the clean-up and 
general repair of  furniture, fixtures and fences on land that 
they own or control (i.e. railway station car parks)

POSSIBLE COMMUNITY LED INITIATIVES 
(WITH COUNCIL PARTNERSHIP / SUPPORT) 

• Funding and support for grass-roots clean-up and greening 
projects

• Support residents to better maintain their nature strips, 
front yards and property - Council to develop naturestrip 
guidelines and explore ways to support local residents 
wanting to undertake a residential street wide approach by 
providing advice on the preparation of their front yards and  
naturestrips, suggestions on plant selection and access to 
free or subsidized trees and mulch when available.

PART 5    PLACE PROJECTS

Develop and deliver a new program 
and community grants scheme to 
provide funding, education and 
resources for projects that will help 
‘clean-up’ Laverton and make it a 
tidier and better maintained place.  
Looking Good Laverton will include 
Council led clean-up works, but will 
also focus on providing support for 
hands-on, community led initiatives.  
Key initiatives to include:

Project 
Description 

1
Looking Good Laverton
5.1  PLACE PROJECT 1

Ideas 
+ 

Inspiration 

Attachment 9.3.2.1 Page 217



Develop a greening project similar to Cool 
Streets or “beautify your neighbourhood” that 
will increase the amount of tree planting and 
landscaping within Laverton’s streets. The focus 
of the project will be to establish a network 
of green leafy streets that will provide shade, 
amenity and habitat protection and will enhance 
the green leafy character of Laverton.  Key 
initiatives to include:

GREEN AVENUES

Undertake an intensive fast-tracked tree planting 
along main and key secondary roads to establish 
green avenues.  New planting to be provided in 
all current vacancies and trees that are no longer 
contributing to landscape or are in poor condition 
will be removed and replaced with appropriate 
urban tree species.  In key locations, and 
wherever practical, advanced tree planting will be 
used to help create a more immediate greening 
effect.  Emphasis will be placed on greening 
routes that connect key destinations such as local 
schools and services and have highest pedestrian 
and cycle activity including: 

   

PART 5    PLACE PROJECTS

GREEN STREETS THAT ADD SHADE AND AMENITY

SUPPORTING RESIDENTS TO GREEN THEIR FRONT YARDS AND STREETS

TURNING OUR MAIN ROADS INTO GREEN AVENUES
  (Image Credit: Jane Irwin LA) 

KEY SECONDARY ROADS

• Lohse Street
• Woods Street
• Fitzroy Street
• Thomas Street
• Watts Street
• Jennings Street
• Wackett Street
• Campbell Street
• Tyquin Street
• Whittaker Avenue
• Burnley  Street
 

ANNUAL STREET PLANTING

Design and implement an annual street tree 
planting program for all remaining residential 
streets within Laverton

RESIDENT LED GREEN STREETS PROJECTS

Provide advice and support (such as access 
to free or subsidized trees when available and 
planting details through nature strip guidelines) 
for residents wanting to undertake tree planting 
within their own front yards

MAIN ROADS

• Aviation Road
• Point Cook Road
• Railway Avenue
• High Street
• Maher Road
• Bladin Street

 

2
Green Streets Laverton
5.2  PLACE PROJECT 2

Project 
Description 

Ideas 
+ 

Inspiration 

Attachment 9.3.2.1 Page 218



3

IMPROVE PEDESTRIAN AND CYCLIST LINKAGES TO AND WITHIN PARKS

REHABILITATION AND REVEGETATION PROGRAM FOR LAVERTON CREEK

IMPROVE FACILITIES  AND MAINTENANCE IN ALL PARKS
(Image Credit: Lat 27)

UPGRADED FURNITURE, LANDSCAPING AND PLAY EQUIPMENT 

COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION AND INPUT INTO DESIGN OF LOCAL PARKS 

STRENGTHENING COMMUNITY PRIDE AND OWNERSHIP OVER OUR PARKS

As a key initiative towards making 
Laverton Cleaner and Greener, the Love 
Laverton Parks project will upgrade 8 local 
community parks as a single co-ordinated 
and fast-tracked program with a focus on:

• upgrading and improving existing 
facilities, furniture / equipment in all 
parks

• creating a complementary suite of 
parks that offer choice and a variety of 
functions and activities for people of all 
ages and abilities

• adding new landscaping and tree 
planting that will enhance the green 
character of Laverton 

• incorporating art / educational elements  
that celebrate Laverton’s history and 
culture

• improving pedestrian and cyclist 
pathway connections, wayfinding and 
green linkages to increase accessibility 
and help to tie the parks together into a 
network
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Project 
Description 

Ideas 
+ 

Inspiration 

Love Laverton Parks
5.3  PLACE PROJECT 3
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BLADIN STREET RESERVE

6

5

4

8
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BEVERLY ANTON RESERVE

WHITTAKER AVE RESERVE

DICK MURDOCH RESERVE

FRANK GIBSON RESERVE

CROPLEY CRES RESERVE

HENDERSON ST RESERVE

BRUCE STREET RESERVE

McCORMACK PARK MASTERPLAN 
Upgrade of McCormack Park to be 
undertaken as key community space as part 
of Better Places and Spaces Project - will 
include community engagement and master 
plan.  Key works to include: 

• New water play splash area
• Indoor youth facility 
• Outdoor multi-sport court area 
• Upgrades to pedestrian footbridge, 

pathways and park lighting 
• Provision of outdoor fitness equipment 
• Spaces for community gardens

LAVERTON CREEK RESERVE +  
CONSERVATION AREA RESTORATION 
Restore and improve the Laverton creek 
environment through targeted rehabilitation 
and revegetation project including: 

• Undertaking clean-up and native 
revegetation works

• Upgrading trails and adding new 
interpretive / artwork elements that 
celebrate the diversity of the creek 
habitat, its history and its cultural 
significance to its traditional owners   

• Support the development and growth 
of the Friends of Laverton Creek and 
promote ways in which the broader 
Laverton community can become 
involved with the care of the creek

WILLIAMS 
LANDING

LOCAL PARK UPGRADES
Upgrade 8 local parks as a 
single co-ordinated project 
including:    
     Cropley Crescent Reserve
     Bladin Street Reserve
     Henderson Street Reserve
     Beverly Anton Reserve
     Whittaker Avenue Reserve
     Dick Murdoch Reserve
     Frank Gibson Reserve
     Bruce Street Reserve
     

6
5
4

8
7

3
2
1

Upgrades to each park will 
be unique and based upon its 
preferred use and character but will 
include:
• Park furniture + shelters
• Landscaping
• Pathways + hardscape areas
• Play equipment

Local residents will be provided 
with the opportunity to have input 
into the design of their local parks

GREENING SMALL PARKS
As a part of the urban forest tree canopy 
project, additional trees will be planted 
within all smaller green spaces and reserves 
(with advanced tree planting and seating in 
selected locations) including:

• Jamison Street Reserve
• Tyquin Street Reserve
• Williams Road Reserve
• Alma Avenue Reserve

LAVERTON     PLACE GUIDE

 Opportunities 

Love Laverton Parks
5.3  PLACE PROJECT 3

3
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4
IMPROVING CONNECTIVITY TO THE VILLAGE CENTRES 

(Frome Street Bikeway - Image Credit: Aspect Studios)
OPPORTUNITY TO CREATE A NEW PLAZA OR VILLAGE GREEN SPACES

 (Image Credit: Aspect Studios)

AVIATION ROAD VILLAGE 
MASTERPLAN

WOODS STREET PRECINCT 
UPGRADES 

BLADIN STREET PRECINCT 
UPGRADES

A

W

A

W

B

B

Develop a Master Plan for the Aviation Road Village precinct as the 
main activity centre for Laverton.  The Master Plan will be developed at 
a precinct wide level with input from local traders and the community.  
Running in parallel, designs for the Woods Street and Bladin Street 
precincts will also be undertaken to deliver improvements for all three 
centres to make them more vibrant, attractive and functional and support 
their future viability including:  

• Upgrades to the streetscapes and public spaces

• Addressing car parking within the centres and key adjoining areas 
(such as Aircraft Station)    

• Improving connectivity (walking, cycling, public transport) 

• Identifying opportunities to establish new partnerships, initiatives 
and activities for the centres as part of the Better Places Laverton 
Leadership Group

• Incorporating artwork and cultural elements that celebrate Laverton’s 
history, diversity + culture and provide opportunities for input from 
local creatives

• Investigating options for future adaption to changes in technology / 
lifestyle trends (i.e. reduced private vehicle usage, possible removal 
Princes Freeway off ramp access to Aviation Road, changes housing 
types and densities, potential changes to RAAF base uses)  

   
 

PART 5    PLACE PROJECTS

Project 
Description 

Ideas 
+ 

Inspiration 

Better Villages Project
5.4  PLACE PROJECT 4

MAKING THE VILLAGES MORE ATTRACTIVE AND PEOPLE FOCUSED
(Image Credit: Outlines)

ADDING ART AND IMPROVED PEDESTRIAN CONNECTIONS
(Fish Lane Brisbane)
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PRINCES FREEWAY

KEY LANDSCAPE / STREETSCAPE THRESHOLDS 
Opportunity to create special streetscape / landscape 
/ hardscape treatments that convert street from car 
dominated environment into improved main street / 
village character

POINT COOK / AVIATION ROAD FREEWAY 
ACCESS RECONFIGURATION
Investigate options for potential long term 
reconfiguration of Point Cook interchange / access 
to Princes Freeway and reconfiguration / closure of 
Aviation Road off ramp to improve amenity / character / 
function of Aviation Road and surrounding precinct 

RAILWAY AVENUE / MAHER ROAD MASTER PLAN 
Opportunity to convert Railway Avenue corridor into key 
east west pedestrian and cyclist link through Laverton 
shared user pathways,  landscaping and recreational 
elements

POSSIBLE BUS SETDOWN / KISS + RIDE

RECONFIGURATION / UPGRADE OF EXISTING 
CARPARK AREA

UPGRADE AND ADD NEW LINKAGES
Undertake pathway and streetscape improvements to 
enhance pedestrian and cyclist connectivity

UNDERPASS
Provide pedestrian / cyclist underpass to act as main 
linkage between Aviation Road Village, the rail station 
and areas north and south of the rail line

PEDESTRIAN LINKAGES / SHARED ZONES
Investigate options for adding pathways / shared zones 
to improve pedestrian connections and activation of 
village precinct 

AVIATION ROAD STREETSCAPE 
IMPROVEMENTS
Undertake improvements to streetscape and 
public spaces to enhance attractiveness, 
function and vibrancy of main street 

RAIL STATION PLAZA / VILLAGE GREEN 
Potential to create new plaza or village green 
as key community space and destination for  
precinct including: 
• Event space and lawn area
• Seating and shelters 
• Bike storage and end of trip facilities
• Landscaped areas

RAIL STATION UPGRADE 
Develop vision for future rail station upgrade 
to become multimodal hub and to improve 
carparking, pedestrian connections and 
activation of village area

EXISTING RETAIL / COMMERCIAL USES 
Work with existing traders + landowners, 
adjoining landowners and community to 
create vision and design for existing retail and 
commercial areas 
• Carparking, storage, loading and access
• Future improvements / redevelopment 

opportunities 
• Improved landscaping, amenity, safety  

AVIATION ROAD PRECINCT -  
OPPORTUNITES + PRICIPLES PLAN

LAVERTON     PLACE GUIDE

 Opportunities 
4

Better Villages Project
5.4  PLACE PROJECT 4

EVOLVE AND DELIVER INITIAL CONCEPTS FOR RAIL STATION PLAZA  
TO CREATE NEW PUBLIC SPACE + DESTINATION FOR PRECINCT

Attachment 9.3.2.1 Page 222



EVENTS AND PROGRAMS THAT ENCOURAGE LOCAL 
CONNECTIONS + LEADERSHIP  (Image Credit - )

PART 5    PLACE PROJECTS

WARD 
COUNCILLORS

+
COUNCIL
OFFICER

/ CONTACT  

BETTER PLACES
LAVERTON

LEADERSHIP
GROUP

LOCAL TRADERS,
ENTREPRENEURS

+ CREATIVES

COMMUNITY
+ SPECIAL 
INTEREST 
GROUPS 

RESIDENTS

   
 CO-ORDIN

AT
E

COUNCIL  

Develop a Leadership Group of 
key and emerging community 
representatives that would become 
a central ‘think-tank’, action group 
and voice for Laverton. The group will 
not replace other existing groups, but 
rather will complement their roles, 
drawing in new energy, providing 
opportunities for collective action, 
encouraging broad participation in 
community and aim to provide a point 
of contact across the community and 
with Council. The Group will have 
diverse representatives from different 
interest groups, demographics 
and ages and will liaise with 
Council directly on local projects of 
importance.

Regular meetings will be arranged 
between the Leadership Group, Ward 
Councillors and Council Officers to 
ensure continuous communication and 
provide the nexus between projects, 
council and the community.

The key focus of the Local Leaders Action 
Group will be to foster the local energy and 
leadership within the local community to help 
deliver the Laverton Vision. They will do this by 
playing a lead role in supporting, planning and 
delivering the projects and programs identified 
in the Laverton Place Guide as well as identify 
new activities and events that will help to 
activate key areas in Laverton.    

OPPORTUNIES

• Explore new ideas and help identify local 
priorities, opportunities and precincts for 
activation

• Provide a complementary role to existing 
groups in encouraging local action for local 
benefit

• Apply for grants
• Encourage local leadership development 

eg course / program / workshops / 
discussion

• Promote local activities – market them to to 
increase awareness and participation

Project 
Description 

5
Better Places Laverton
Leadership Group

5.5  PLACE PROJECT 5

Ideas 
+ 

Inspiration 

     ID
EAS

  
   ACTION

 VOICE
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5
5.5  PLACE PROJECT 5

Better Places Laverton
Leadership Group

Building connections + 
leadership.....

stimulating new ideas, 
thinking + action....

and providing a shared 
voice for the Laverton 

community

 

 (Image Credit - Beers and Ideas)
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6
INCREASING THE SENSE OF SAFETY AND ACTIVATION 
AROUND CARPARKS, LANEWAYS AND KEY LINKAGES

LIGHTING AND ACTIVATION THAT ADD LIFE TO OUR VILLAGE CENTRES
(Image Credit: Hansen)

IMPROVED PATHWAY LINKAGES AND LIGHTING TO INCREASE SAFETY

MAKING SPACES KEY COMMUNITY SPACES FEEL SAFER AND MORE USABLE 
AT DIFFERENT TIMES  (The Link Milton - Image Credit: Lat27)

Undertake works that improve both the 
physical and perceived levels of safety 
and accessibility throughout Laverton to 
encourage locals to get out and about, 
interact and help make it a more lively and 
vibrant place.  

As part of this project Council will undertake 
an intensive fast-tracked program to 
improve general safety and accessibility 
around key movement corridors, community 
spaces, transport nodes and village centres.    
Key initiatives to include elements such as 
providing new and upgraded lighting, 
pathway widenings and streetscape 
improvements and general clean-up and 
upgrade of key spaces to make them feel 
safer and more accessible and usable for all 
residents and for different times of the day.
   
 
  

PART 5    PLACE PROJECTS

Key areas to be targeted for the Safer Places project 
will include:

• Aviation Road and Woods Street Village Centres

• Cameron Street Reserve Altona Meadows

• Freeway pedestrian overpass bridge and Fitzroy 
Street Laverton

• Fitzroy Street to Laverton Train Station

• Thomas Street to McCormack Park and 
Laverton Secondary College

• Wackett Street corridor between Old Geelong 
Road and Bladin Street

• Movement corridor between McCormack Park 
and Old Geelong Road along Tyquin Street

   
 
  

Project 
Description 

Ideas 
+ 

Inspiration 

Safer Places Project
5.6  PLACE PROJECT 6
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6
Safer Places Project
5.6  PLACE PROJECT 6

 Creating spaces that 
feel safer and more 

accessible and usable 
for all residents and for 

different times of the 
day......

 

  

(Image Credit: Hansen)
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7

NEW HOUSING OPTIONS THAT CAN FIT WITHIN EXISITING CHARACTER  
(Alphington Townhouses - Image Credit: Green Sheep Collective)

TAKING INSPIRATION FROM BEST-PRACTICE PROJECT EXAMPLES
(Hellier Street - Image Credit: Six Degrees Architects)

PROVIDING NEW HOUSING OPTIONS IN CLOSE PROXIMITY TO TRANSPORT 
AND VILLAGE CENTRES (Image Credit - Bent Architects)

To ensure that Laverton 
continues to be a diverse 
community into the future, 
and a place where all types of 
people - from young families and 
couples through to singles and 
elderly residents - can continue 
to live, it will be necessary to 
provide a more diverse range of 
housing options throughout the 
local area.  Key initiatives to be 
undertaken to ensure diverse 
and high quality affordable 
housing is provided into the 
future include:  
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NEW HOUSING ZONES

Future housing throughout Laverton will be controlled 
by the New Residential Zones that will direct new 
residential growth to appropriate locations. The new 
zones respond to identified need to increase densities 
around the activity centres (Aviation Road and Lohse 
& Woods Streets) in proximity to public transport and 
community facilities to allow for a diversity of housing 
types for a broad range of households and age groups, 
and to contribute to the viability and vibrancy of these 
centres. The proposed housing change envisaged for 
Laverton by Council’s Housing Strategy 2019 with a 
focus on achieving:

• A diversity of high quality housing types for a 
broad range of households and age groups in 
proximity to public transport, community facilities 
and commercial areas 

• Improved viability and vibrancy of commercial 
centres and community facilities

   
 
  

Project 
Description 

Ideas 
+ 

Inspiration 

Housing Choice
5.7  PLACE PROJECT 7
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7

INSPIRATION FROM LEADING SUSTAINABLE + AFFORDABLE HOUSING
(The House With No Bills - Image Credit: Mirvac)

INNOVATIVE APPROACHES TO MULTIPLE HOUSING
(IGEN Y demonstration home  - Image Credit: Landcorp)

INNOVATIVE HOUSING OPTIONS FOR DIFFERENT SOCIAL GROUPS  
(Jessen Crescent Dandenong)

PART 5    PLACE PROJECTS

EPSOM STREET HOUSING DEVELOPMENT

Council is assessing the potential to develop Council owned 
land at Epsom Street as a demonstration project that: 

• Will provide an example of quality housing that is 
affordable and mixes private and social housing in a 
key location with close proximity to parkland, public 
transport and shopping and community facilities

 
• Demonstrates innovative housing options and best-

practice design that will provide an inspiration for future 
housing - catering for a wider variety of social groups 
than traditional market led product and changing the 
perception of ‘affordable’ housing by delivering high 
quality product   

• Supports the aim of the newly created Hobsons Bay 
Affordable Housing Trust to deliver increased housing 
choice and affordability in the local area

• Will be developed with design guidelines for the built 
form and with input from the local community

   

FUTURE
HOUSING

FUTURE
HOUSING

Project 
Description 

Ideas 
+ 

Inspiration 

Housing Choice
5.7  PLACE PROJECT 7

Potential to develop 
Council owned land 
at Epsom Street  as 
future housing
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8
IMPROVING CONNECTIVITY BETWEEN KEY DESTINATIONS

(Image Credit - JPE Design)

PATHWAYS THAT MAKE CYCLING + WALKING SAFER AND MORE ATTRACTIVE 
TO A BROADER RANGE OF THE COMMUNITY (Image Credit: Adobestock )

TRAFFIC CALMING AND STREETSCAPE TREATMENTS THAT CHANGE THE 
CHARACTER + MAKE PLACES MORE WALKABLE (Image Credit - JPE Design)

DESIGNING AND DELIVERING RAILWAY AVENUE AS A MAJOR RECREATIONAL, 
PEDESTRIAN AND CYCLIST MOVEMENT CORRIDOR (Atlanta Beltline )

Walking and cycling is a key component 
of healthy and socially connected 
communities. To make Laverton a more 
walkable and bike friendly place there is 
a need to construct a range of missing 
pathway links and upgrade some existing 
roads, streetscapes and pathways to 
improve the connectivity, safety and 
function of the pedestrian and cyclist 
network.   This project seeks to fast track 
all these combined works into a single co-
ordinated project that includes:
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• Designing and delivering Railway Avenue as a major 
recreational, pedestrian and cyclist movement corridor 
as part of the Better Places and Spaces Project.  Railway 
Avenue is to incorporate extensive off-road shared user 
paths and will become an important link in the overall 
network  connecting key destinations and helping to make 
Laverton more walkable and bike friendly 

• Adding new cycleways, traffic calming and streetscape 
improvements along Bladin Street to establish it as the key 
north / south pedestrian and cyclist spine through Laverton

• Adding new footpaths in key streets such as Parkside Walk 
and Balmoral Avenue

• Reconstruction of the main footbridge in McCormack Park

• Providing new pedestrian and cyclist underpass link from 
Aviation Road through to the north of the rail line as part of 
future rail station upgrades + upgrading other crossings    

• Investigating best-practice case study examples of leading 
walkable and cycling communities and identifying other 
initiatives that can be implemented (i.e. bike storage 
facilities, developing a community focused program / events 
to promote walking and cycling)  

   
 
  

Project 
Description 

Ideas 
+ 

Inspiration 

Missing Links Project
5.8  PLACE PROJECT 8
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RAILWAY AVENUE CORRIDOR
Designing and delivering Railway Avenue as 
a major recreational, pedestrian and cyclist 
movement corridor that will have extensive 
off-road shared user paths and will become 
an important new link in the overall network  

BLADIN STREET 
Adding new cycleways, traffic calming and 
streetscape improvements along Bladin 
Street to establish it as the key north / south 
pedestrian and cyclist spine through Laverton 

LAVERTON CREEK BRIDGE 
Reconstruction of the main footbridge in 
McCormack Park to improve accessibility 
and safety  

RAILWAY UNDERPASS
Providing new pedestrian and cyclist 
underpass link from Aviation Road through to 
the north of the rail line as part of future rail 
station upgrades

PEDESTRIAN LINKAGES / SHARED 
ZONES
Investigate options for adding pathways / 
shared zones / missing linkages to improve 
pedestrian connections and activation of 
village precinct as part of the Better Places 
and Spaces project 

KEY EXISTING LINKS
Key links to open space, sport and recreation 
facilities - explore opportunities to improve 
and extend linkages as part of future 
wayfinding and pathway upgrades

FUTURE RAAF LINKAGES
Generate vision and plan for cyclist 
and pedestrian network that could 
be incorporated into potential future 
redevelopment of RAAF base to improve 
connectivity between Laverton, Williams 
Landing and surrounding areas  
 

LAVERTON     PLACE GUIDE

 Opportunities 
8

Missing Links Project
5.8  PLACE PROJECT 8
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OUTDOOR MULTI COURT SPORTS AREA
(Throsby Park - Image Credit: Weekend Notes)

INDOOR YOUTH FACILITY
(Midland Youth Hub - Image Credit: Douglas Mark Black)

TURNING RAILWAY AVENUE INTO A CYCLING AND RECREATIONAL 
CORRIDOR  (Image Credit: Cycling Brisbane)

NEW WATER PLAY SPLASH AREA
 (Ferny Grove Water Park - Image Credit: Brisbane Family Explorers)

McCORMACK PARK 
MASTERPLAN

RAILWAY AVENUE 
MASTERPLAN 

Developing Master Plans for the upgrade of 
McCormack Park and the design and delivery of 
Railway Avenue as a key recreational, pedestrian 
and cyclist movement corridor within Laverton.  The 
improvement of these spaces will have a significant 
impact on enhancing local open space and amenity, 
improving safety and attractiveness walking and 
cycling as well as providing new spaces and 
recreational activities that will help bring the community 
together.  Key opportunities to be investigated include:   

McCORMACK PARK
• New water play splash area
• Indoor youth facility 
• Outdoor multi-sport court area 
• Upgrades to pedestrian footbridge, pathways and 

park lighting 
• Provision of outdoor fitness equipment 
• Spaces for community gardens

RAILWAY AVENUE
• Shared user pathways for safe off-road cycling, 

walking and jogging 
• A variety of new parkland and recreational spaces
• Possible upgrade of existing building for future 

community uses
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Project 
Description 

Ideas 
+ 

Inspiration 

Better Places + 
Spaces Project

5.9  PLACE PROJECT 9

9
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LAVERTON 
P-12

COLLEGE

EXISTING CARPARK AND SWIM CENTRE 
Existing swim + fitness centre to be converted to 
upgraded / extended carpark and landscaping 

EXISTING SKATEPARK AND PLAYGROUND
Existing facilities to be retained and improved with 
additional landscaping, pathways and recreation 
spaces linking them together

INDOOR YOUTH FACILITY
New youth facility to be built to accommodate 
a variety of programs and activities and provide  
a welcoming place for young people to meet, 
socialise and feel safe 

SPLASH PLAY SPACE 
New outdoor splash play space to provide new 
recreational and community destination

OUTDOOR MULTI SPORT COURT

MULTI-USE PARK GREEN
New multi-use space as central linking green 
between recreation features

UPGRADE AND ADD NEW LINKAGES
Undertake pathway improvements to enhance 
pedestrian and cyclist connectivity to and within 
McCormack Park

BRIDGE UPGRADE
Upgrade existing bridge to imrpove safety and 
accessibility

LAVERTON CREEK RESERVE +  
CONSERVATION AREA RESTORATION 
Restore and improve the Laverton creek 
environment through targeted rehabilitation and 
revegetation project 

McCORMACK PARK -  
OPPORTUNITES + PRINCIPLES PLAN

Key opportunities and principles currently being explored as part of the McCromack 
Park master plan include: 

• Offering a range of indoor and outdoor recreation, learning and meeting up 
spaces that can offer a broad range of programs and activities and importantly, a 
welcoming place for young people to meet, socialise and feel safe  

• Partnership opportunities with Laverton P-12 College who are located adjacent 
to McCormack Park 

• Create a youth hub that integrates the existing skate park with the playground 
and its associated picnic, BBQ and public toilet facilities

LAVERTON     PLACE GUIDE

 Opportunities 
The Hobsons Bay Aquatic Strategy 2019 
recommended that the Laverton Swim and Fitness 
Centre be decommissioned due to reaching the end 
of its useful life and for a new swim facility to be built 
in Bruce Comben Reserve in Altona Meadows as 
a site identified as being more suitably located to 
service the west of Hobsons Bay.  

In response, a master plan is being developed to 
investigate different opportunities to upgrade and 
add new facilities into McCormack Park to ensure 
that it will continue to be an important community, 
recreational and fitness space for Laverton residents 
into the future.   The Opportunities and Principles plan 
identifies some of the key upgrades and facilities that 
are currently proposed and that will be evolved as 
part of ongoing design and consultation.  

9
Better Places + 
Spaces Project

5.9  PLACE PROJECT 9
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10
INTEGRATE WAYFINDING WITH ART AND INTERPRETIVE TRAILS 

BUILD ON COUNCIL’S EXISTING SUITE OF 
WAYFINDING SIGNAGE

A CLEAR AND EASY TO USE SYSTEM OF WAYFINDING AND SIGNAGE
 (Frome Street Bikeway - Image Credit: ASPECT studios)

Building on Council’s existing developed 
suite, establish a wayfinding and signage 
system that improves how people 
navigate and move around the local area 
and helps to create an integrated overall 
identity for Laverton.  The focus will be 
on creating a wayfinding and signage 
system that provides a clear and easy-
to-use guide to key locations, routes and 
destinations throughout Laverton and 
to adjoining areas.  Key elements of the 
project to include:

• developing signage typologies, 
hierarchy and locations 

• integrating with the Gateways + Art 
Trails and Missing Links Projects
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Project 
Description 

Ideas 
+ 

Inspiration 

Wayfinding + 
Signage Project

5.10  PLACE PROJECT 10
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10
Wayfinding + 
Signage Project

5.10  PLACE PROJECT 10

Some of the key locations, routes and 
destinations that will be incorporated into 
the wayfinding and signage network for 
Laverton include:
 
• Fitzroy Street pedestrian overpass

• Laverton Train Station

• Lohse Street/Wood Street, retail, arts 
and park precinct

• Aviation Road village precinct

• Aircraft Train Station

• Thomas Street north ( McCormack 
Park) Thomas Street south

• McCormack Park Laverton Creek

• Laverton Creek Shared trail 

• Merton Street/Railway Avenue

• Laverton Community Hub

   

 (Frome Street Bikeway - Image Credit: ASPECT studios)
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11

ART TRAILS THAT COULD FORM PART OF ANNUAL CULTURAL EVENTS
(Swell Sculpture Festival - Image Credit_Sanchelsea.com)

INCORPORATING ART AS PART OF KEY GATEWAYS INTO LAVERTON
(Image Credit - Manningham Council)

ART TRAILS THAT LINK KEY PLACES AND TELL LAVERTON’S STORY

GATEWAYS THAT COMBINE LANDSCAPE AND ART
(Seawall Vancouver - Image Credit - The Atlantic)

BUILD ON EXISTING TRAILS AND ARTWORK AREADY 
ESTABLISHED THROUGHOUT LAVERTON

Develop a program to explore ideas and opportunities to 
create key gateway entrance statements and additional 
public art installations (such as murals, sculpture / art 
trails, art infrastructure) at key sites within Laverton, that 
build on and compliment existing public art and respond 
to Council’s public art policy and strategy.  Key input and 
leadership will be provided by the Love Laverton Focus 
Group and sites and opportunities to be explored include:

GATEWAYS
• Bladin Street – Old Geelong Road
• Newlands Street
• Princes Freeway / High Street
• Princes Freeway / Aviation Road
• Merton Street / Railway Avenue

ART TRAILS
• Laverton Creek / McCormack Park
• Railway Avenue / Maher Road Corridor

KEY PLACES
• Aviation Road Village
• Woods Street Precinct
• Aircraft Station
• Laverton Station
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Project 
Description 

Ideas 
+ 

Inspiration 

Gateways + Art
Trails Project

5.11  PLACE PROJECT 11

Attachment 9.3.2.1 Page 235



WILLIAMS 
LANDING

ALTONA 
MEADOWS

SAYERS ROAD

OLD GEELONG ROAD

BLADIN ST

BL
AD

IN
 S

TR
EE

T

MAHER ROAD

RAILWAY AVENUE

PRINCESS FWY

PR
IN

CE
SS

 F
W

Y

RAAF 
BASE

PO
IN

T 
C

O
O

K 
RO

AD

 Opportunities 

KEY GATEWAYS
Opportunity to establish artwork / sculpture 
/ landscape elements at key vehicular / road 
gateways to mark entry into Laverton

RAIL STATIONS 
Potential to include artworks / interpretive 
/ historical elements at rail stations as key 
gateways / entry points into Laverton 

VILLAGE CENTRES 
Potential to include artworks / murals / 
historical / cultural elements within Aviaation 
Road Village and Woods Street Precinct as 
key community meeting places - importnant 
places to tell the story of Laverton to both 
locals and visitors and to celebrate the local 
creativity and diversity

McCORMACK PARK / LAVERTON CREEK 
Key opportunity evolve art / sculpture / 
interpretive trail as part of master plan for 
McCormack Park and future regenerative 
works along Laverton Creek - could form part 
of future trail network or cultural events  

RAILWAY AVENUE / MAHER ROAD 
CORRIDOR
Key opportunity estabish art / sculpture / 
interpretive trail as part of future master plan 
for Railway Avenue corridor to become major 
movement / recreational spine - could form 
part of future trail network or cultural events 

LAVERTON     PLACE GUIDE

11
Gateways + Art
Trails Project

5.11  PLACE PROJECT 11
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12

‘HUMAN LIBRARY PROJECT’ TO TELL LAVERTON’S STORY
(Human Library Project, Warrnambool - The Standard)

CREATIVE PROJECTS THAT CONNECT ALL PARTS OF THE COMMUNITY 
(Image Credit - The Standard)

CREATIVE EVENTS THAT BRING PEOPLE TOGETHER
 (Image Credit - Beers and Ideas)

The key responsibility for this forum will 
be to contribute local wisdom, stories 
and community leadership from across 
Laverton that helps inform decision making 
processes for major public art, cultural 
events and local heritage expression.  The 
group will aim to bring together longer term 
residents, local historians, cultural leaders 
and representatives, young people, artists 
and creatives to provide:    
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• input into key projects related to Laverton’s history, diversity 
and unique character, alongside other key stakeholders

• ideas, connections and active involvement in supporting 
existing and new events, art initiatives and cultural activities

• a connection point and coordinating role with the Better 
Places Laverton Leadership Group to ensure art / cultural 
/ historical initiatives and events are integrated into future 
projects

• a lead role in identifying and promoting key stories to 
contribute to the local heritage and creative landscape of 
Laverton

• a local voice, perspective and reference group for major 
projects alongside other key stakeholders and professionals 

   
 
  

Project 
Description 

Ideas 
+ 

Inspiration 

Love Laverton
Focus Group

5.12  PLACE PROJECT 12
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IDEAS

The Place Projects represent an important step 
towards realising the vision for Laverton. 

Some of the Place Projects will be able to be 
implemented almost immediately as part of fast-
tracked initatives, and others will evolve as part of a 
longer term design process.  As the Place Projects 
are undertaken there will be opportunities for ongoing 
community input and ideas, and this may lead to 
other ideas and projects emerging.  In this way the 
community will continue to play an important role in 
shaping the place they live in - and bringing the vision 
for Laverton to life.        

5.13  OTHER IDEAS + OPPORTUNITIES
  

LAVERTON     PLACE GUIDE

 Bringing the vision 
to life......
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This part identifies projected timelines for the delivery of 
the 12 key Place Projects set out in Part 5.  

The table outlines short, medium and longer-term 
implementation milestones targets for the next 3 years, 
from the end of 2020 through to the end of 2023.  

It is important to note that the projected timelines 
are indicative only, and will be refined as the 
various projects evolve through ongoing design and 
consultation, but are intended to provide the community 
with an understanding of the proposed process and 
timing for delivery of the different projects and the steps 
that will be taken to make the vision happen.  

Cleaner + Greener

Celebrate Our Character

A More Vibrant Place

A More Connected Community 

PART 6    NEXT STEPS

6.1 PLACE PROJECT DELIVERY AND ACTION PLAN       
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The Place Project Delivery and Action Plan 
provides a mix of both shorter-term projects, that 
will be able to be implemented almost immediately 
as part of fast-tracked initatives, as well as longer 
term projects that are larger and more complex 
and will require more extensive design and 
consultation.   

Reflecting the community feedback and priorities, 
the key focus in the short term will be to deliver 
the ‘Cleaner and Greener’ projects - providing 
almost immediate action and change - with most 
of these projects projected to be completed by 
the end of 2021. It is envisaged that the planning, 
consultation, design and implementation of the 
mid to longer-term projects will occur throughout 

Summary of Responses:

THEME PROJECTS 2020 2021 2022 2023

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

CLEANER 
AND GREENER

Looking Good Laverton

Love Laverton Parks

Green Streets Laverton

MORE 
VIBRANT 

Better Villages

Housing Choice

Better Places Laverton Leadership Group

Safer Places

MORE 
CONNECTED

Places + Spaces - Railway Ave Reserve

Places + Spaces - McCormack Park

Missing Links

Wayfinding + Signage

CELEBRATE 
OUR CHARACTER

Gateways + Art Trails

Love Laverton Focus Group

CHECK-IN Participate Survey

2021-2022, with the aim of having all projects 
completed by the end of 2023.

As part of the ongoing delivery plan for Better 
Places Laverton it is also proposed that an annual 
‘check-in consultation’ will be undertaken to 
measure community satisfaction for the action and 
outcomes of the various projects.   

6.1 PLACE PROJECT DELIVERY AND ACTION PLAN       
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Note: all efforts were made to ensure that the information in this document is true and accurate at the time of printing, however no 
responsibility will be taken for any errors or omissions.  Photographs contained in this document have been gathered from various 
sources and may have copyright issues - they should not to be reproduced without appropriate credit or purchasing of stock photography.
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2

INTRODUCTION
The Hobson Bay City Council has prepared a Master Plan for Bruce 
Comben Reserve. It considers the impact of Council’s recent decision 
to develop a new aquatic centre at Bruce Comben Reserve and will 
guide the planning, development, maintenance and management of 
the reserve for the long term. 

This Master Plan report identifies the key challenges 
facing Bruce Comben Reserve and recommends a set 
of improvements. 

The project has involved background research, a  
demand assessment, site review and detailed geo-
technical and soil health investigation, a stakeholder 
and community engagement process and design  
options analysis. The engagement process has 
involved workshops with an appointed Stakeholder 
Reference Group represented by tenant clubs, local 
residents and local interest groups, and a public  
exhibition process that received 246 specific items of 
feedback including 101 responses to the communi-
ty survey, 112 responses to the online forum and 33 
email submissions.
 

NOV - MAR
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Strategic Review

Demographic Review

Demand 
Assessment

DEC - APR
STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT
Advisory Group  

Workshops

MAY - JUN
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Concept Master Plan

Benchmark Cost 
Estimates

Site Assessment

Facility Condition  
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Geotechnical and Soil 
Health Investigations

SITE REVIEW

DEC - JUL

Analysis

Functional Layout Plans

ISSUES AND OPTIONS 
REPORT

 APR

Bruce Comben 
Reserve Master Plan 

DRAFT REPORT

 JUL - SEP
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3

Bruce Comben Reserve (BCR) is located off Central 
Avenue, Altona Meadows. 

The reserve is bounded by Central Avenue to the 
north; Skehan Boulevard to Henry Drive to the east; 
Ascot Street to the south and Skeleton Creek to the 
west. The reserve is approximately 17ha in area and 
principally accessed from Central Avenue.

The reserve functions as an active and passive  
recreation reserve. The active elements are located 
in the northern section of the reserve and comprise 
three playing fields, cricket nets, sports pavilion and 
four tennis courts.

The passive elements of the reserve include an  
extensive path network, a playground, treed areas and 
a large open grassed area. 

In addition, Cooraminta Children’s Centre is located at 
the north-eastern corner of the reserve. The facility is 
identified as 97 Central Avenue with street frontages to 
Skehan Boulevard and Central Avenue.

• Future strategy direction and development option/s 
• Recommendations for future provision and implementation plan
• Identified preferred development options.

THE SITE

3.2  
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Soil Condition

Bruce Comben Reserve is a reclaimed wetlands area 
where “clean fill” has been used to establish the active 
and recreation reserve.

There is also an identified asbestos area and new fill 
area that is subject to a Soil Management Plan. 

A detailed review of the all previous site assessment 
reports together with additional targeted geotechnical 
and soil health investigations has been undertaken. 
The site investigations conducted include over 100 
samples taken from across the reserve at different 
depths. Samples have targeted areas being considered 
for development onsite including the proposed  
aquatic and leisure centre and sports fields. 

The material across the site has been found to be 
either imported ‘Fill Material’ or disturbed natural soils  
down to the depth of investigation. Undisturbed natural  
soils were not encountered during this investigation.

The geotechnical results show the fill comprises: 

• A topsoil layer with apparently reasonably  
controlled filling to a nominal depth of 0.5m.

• Variable and less controlled fill intermixed with 
landfill waste from 0.5m to 2.5m. 

• Residual soils of poorly controlled fill from 1.0m / 
1.5m to 2.5m. This will be a consideration for the 
design and construction of the aquatic facility and 
sports fields.

The soil health results identified some exceedances of 
the adopted ecological assessment criteria. However, 
the reported exceedance does not exceed ecological 
or human health investigation levels of soils and there-
fore don’t preclude the development of the aquatic 
and leisure centre and sports fields.

In addition to the geotechnical and soil health  
investigations undertaken: 

• A Structural Engineers assessment notes that the 
Cooraminta Children’s Centre is a precedent for 
future building development. The footings are of 
a depth that is below the fill and wetlands soils. 
Structural loads need to reach bedrock, penetrating 
through all variable fill / landfill material. Under-
ground services and secondary infrastructure will 
need to be protected from differential settlements 
they are sensitive to it. 
 

• A Sports Field Engineer noted undulations in the 
playing fields that point to poor ground conditions 
that has been confirmed by the geotechnical  
report. The design requirements of proposed sports 
fields will need to respond to the issues uncovered. 
Turf ovals are generally able to be top-dressed and 
maintenance of this aspect of the development will 
be more manageable. The proposed development 
of the new sports field will be to use ‘clean fill  
material’ and build up the ground profile.
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KEY CHALLENGES

Six key challenges have been identified. Sport participation growth means  
additional sports fields are needed

The three tenant clubs cater for over 1,000 players 
onsite, all of which are growing. If participation growth 
occurs in line with population growth, an additional 
294 players will be playing at the reserve by 2041. 

The provision of five rugby fields, three cricket fields 
and six touch footy fields in a shared field arrangement 
is recommended to cater for this demand. 

Providing access to two Sepak Takraw courts in a shared  
court arrangement with two public tennis courts will 
adequately cater for this this sport in Hobsons Bay.

Future demand for a contemporary  
Early Years Centre in Altona Meadows

The Cooraminta Children’s Centre supports approximately  
180 children on a weekly basis who access 4 year old 
kindergarten programs, unfunded 3 year old kindergarten, 
supported playgroups and a Maternal Child Health service. 
These numbers have fallen in recent years with a surge  
in private operators however numbers are projected to 
increase with the  State Government now funding three 
and four-year old kindergarten as part of a 10-year reform. 
This initiative will be introduced in Hobsons Bay in 2022. 

There are two rooms that currently cater for 55 children.  
The current optimum standard room size is to cater 
for 33 children per room. This relates to a 1 carer to 11 
children. The higher number capacity rooms are  
desired in Early Years Centres to cater for future demand.

There is a demand to maintain and improve the Early 
Years Centre in Altona Meadows.

Future
 demand for a 
contemporary 

Early Years 
Centre

Sport 
participation 

growth means 
additional 

sports fields 
are needed

Future 
demand for a 
contemporary 

Aquatic 
Facility

Concerns 
about site 
conditions

Opportunity 
to create a 

community heart 
in Altona 
Meadows

Concerns 
about impact 

to resident 
amenity
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Future demand for a contemporary  
Aquatic and Leisure Centre in Altona 
Meadows

The proposed new aquatic facility will provide for a 
current primary catchment of 57,212 people and when 
taking into account a secondary catchment will reach 
a ‘district’ facility catchment of 70,000 to 100,000 
people. This facility catchment will increase as popula-
tion grows in Hobsons Bay and the bordering neigh-
bourhoods to the north and west of Hobsons Bay in 
Wyndham City Council.

A modern aquatic and leisure facility will cater for all 
key user groups including for leisure/adventure, fitness 
and training, education and therapy.

Opportunity to create a community heart 
in Altona Meadows

Key stakeholders have identified the need for a  
community heart in Altona Meadows and view the 
aquatic centre as an opportunity to deliver this idea. 
The facility design will consider spaces and activities 
that bring community together to socialise in addition 
to the traditional aquatic facilities
.
Varied site conditions

The soil health investigation results identified some 
exceedances of the adopted ecological assessment 
criteria. However, the reported exceedance does not 
exceed ecological or human health investigation levels  
of soils and therefore don’t preclude the development 
of the aquatic and leisure centre and sports fields.
Resident amenity impacts

There is support for an aquatic centre that can deliver 

a community hub and heart for Altona Meadows. 
However, the location and design of the centre and 
car parking must consider the impacts on local  
residents. Concerns raised were the impact of  
increased traffic, noise, built form on site lines to the 
open park areas and lighting.

The site related resident impact concerns will be 
considered as an overarching design principle for the 
aquatic centre when preparing concept plans.

In response to neighbourhood traffic concerns,  
Council has prepared an Integrated Traffic  
Management Plan that includes:

• Council advocacy to VicRoads for duplication of 
Central Avenue and also improve the Point Cook 
Road and Princess Freeway interchange.

• A Local Area Movement Plan project is being  
developed to provide active transport links to the 
new facility that links to public transport nodes 
(train stations and bus stops and services). 
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DRAFT MASTER PLAN 
ENGAGEMENT FINDINGS

The public exhibition process of the Draft Master Plan
received 246 specific items of feedback including 101 
responses to the community survey, 112 responses 
to the online forum and 33 email submissions. Please 
refer to Appendix 1 - Stage 2 Engagement Findings 
Report for a full summary of findings.

Community Survey Results

Over two thirds or 77% of the 101 survey responses 
received were from Altona Meadows. There was equal 
representation from male and female and all age 
groups over 11 – 18 years were represented. 

The key findings from the community survey  
responses were:

• The most preferred development recommendation 
was a new aquatic and leisure centre followed by a 
new play space and improved landscaping and tree 
planting

• The key concerns of the proposed development 
were traffic congestion in local streets, car parking 
impacts on local streets and impacts of aquatic 
facility on nearby residents (amenity)

• All development recommendations recorded a 
strongly agree or agree rating.

The following table summarises what recommendations  
people liked most about the Draft Master Plan. 104 
responses were received for this question.

Theme Number Sample Comment 

Supports aquatic and 
leisure centre

41. “Having an aquatic centre close to where I live is a fantastic plan.  
Considering the closest centre is in Hoppers Crossing, and that facility is 
always very busy, the community would benefit from this new facility.”

“The plan for it to be a community hub with active transport links, and 
that it includes an aquatic centre.”

Supports all  
improvements

37 “I like the whole overarching idea to make it an activity/community  
space. It’s a wonderful area already but it feels like it is completely 
undervalued and forgotten about. When I think about a place to meet 
friends for a day outdoors, picnic etc. I do not think of this area, but I 
would like too.”

“Multiple activities are supported. Great use of space for all ages.  
Provides more chances for Hobsons Bay residents to connect. Having a 
pool in our community. Great use of underutilised space.”

“This is really exciting and I’m very much looking forward to the im-
provements in this space. The multiple uses planned for this space is 
what I like best, especially as this is the only space like that in the area. It 
means we won’t have to travel far and I can walk to this space.”

Supports sports  
improvements

14 “The aim to create a community at the heart of Altona Meadows is a 
great idea, as this is lacking within the area. The increase in Sport  
activities is great.”

“The inclusion of more trees/green space and the utilisation of the large 
area south of the current sports field which is currently just weeds.”

Supports community  
recreation and  
landscaping  
improvements

8 “I like that Council is responding to the needs of the community. I like 
that there is parking inside the Reserve to keep the local streets free. I 
like that there will be public toilets. I like that there will be a leash-off 
dog area. I like that there will be more pathways and trees and seating.”

Supports dog park 2 “Love the off-leash dog park as we don't currently have one within  
walking distance of our home.”

Supports retention of 
Skeleton Creek riparian 
corridor

1 “What I like the most is the development of the un-used land being 
planned, and the attention towards Skeleton Creek.”

Supports public tennis 
courts

1 “Retention of free tennis courts.”
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The following table summarises what recommenda-
tions people disagree with or would change in the 
Draft Master Plan. 49 responses were received for this 
question.

Theme Number Sample Comment 

Loss of open space to aquatic and leisure 
centre, more sports field and car parking, 
concerned about resident impacts

10 “This is a big development for this park, I have concerns around car parking, traffic in central avenue and 
the soil contamination, I have lived in this area my whole life and that site is landfill Council has no idea 
what is in there until they started to develop, I have great concern about this issue.”

Disagree with additional sports fields 8 “Worried that too many sports facilities in the one area will make parking close by difficult - especially 
during game seasons.”

Loss of open space to more sports field 
and car parking, concerned about resident 
impacts

7 “Strongly disagree - 'Two new sports fields that can provide for four rugby fields, two cricket ovals and 
six touch footy fields" ....... = OVERKILL  !! - How many rugby/playing fields do we actually need. There is 
enough. Keep the space open, natural and for everyone to access, not just sports players.”

Disagree with dog park 7 “Do we really need another "off leash" dog park when there is one close by in Altona.”

Loss of open space to aquatic centre and car 
parking, concerned about resident impacts

4 I would change - “The swimming centre being in a non-residential area such as near the basketball /  
netball centre.”

Disagree with location of playspace and 
social area

3 “I disagreed due to the positioning of the new play area and courts . They should be further away from the 
homes.”

Not enough car parks and/or seek traffic 
congestion issues

3 “Only concern would be to ensure there is enough parking to accommodate cars if there are multiple 
groups using the different grounds at the one time.”

Loss of open space to car parking 2 “Well there is already plenty of parking there and it is along the bike path so maybe you dont need too 
many more car spaces maybe a little more but you could put in a bike/scooter rack.”

Disagree with aquatic centre, seek sports 
field

1 “The Aquatic centre would bring to much traffic into our quiet suburb. The aquatic centre would be big 
and bulky and noisy. A soccer field would be a better choice.”

Disagree with providing Sepak Takraw courts 1 “Sepak Takraw is unknown to me and everyone I know. Totally unnecessary.”

Disagree with retaining early years centre 1 “There already a few childcare centre within 100 meters.”

Disagree with providing tennis courts, seek a 
skate/BMX park

1 “I feel tennis courts are under-utilised and something with greater appeal should be installed instead. I 
believe that the local community is in desperate need of another skate park. The existing skate/bmx facility 
has reached capacity and is overcrowded on weekends.”

Concerned about the size of land to provide 
for scope and function of an aquatic and 
leisure centre and early years centre

1 “The proposed leisure centre and children’s centre will be the same size the existing Cooraminta Children’s 
Centre site, this means that you destroy existing Laverton Swim and Leisure Centre and Cooraminta  
Children’s Centre then shrink them together on the existing Cooraminta Children’s Centre site.”
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Online Forum Results

The online forum asked people to contribute ideas to the 
proposed play space and activity space. There were 112 
interactions with the online forum and 49 written  
contributions. However, people used the forum to 
express their support or concerns about the Draft Master 
Plan. The top five themes are summarised in the table:

Theme Number Sample Comment 

Concerned about the 
loss of open space for 
sports fields and seeks 
expanding nature park

12 The design principles, planning process and extensive site investigations 
have informed the development of the Master Plan.

The expanded nature park has been considered in the Final Master Plan 
and will be subject to a detailed design process for the community 
recreation space.

Concerned about the 
loss of open space and 
impact on resident 
amenity and natural 
environment

7 Design principles that supports the location of an aquatic and leisure 
centre at the reserve, maintains use by the existing tenants, protects the  
environmental values of Skeleton Creek, provides community  
recreation opportunities and responds to potential resident amenity 
impacts. 

The master plan recommends a layout responding to these design  
principles and investigations and will offer a reserve that caters for  
formal sport and the community while protecting the natural  
environment.

Supports proposed 
recommendations 
and seeks skate/BMX 
park and/or additional 
courts

6 Noted support and ideas. These ideas have been considered in the 
Final Master Plan and will be subject to a detailed design process for the 
community recreation space. 

Concerned about the 
loss of open space, soil 
health issues, traffic 
issues and impact on 
resident amenity

5 The master plan has also seriously considered both traffic and soil 
health issues. Extensive investigations into traffic design solutions, 
number of car parks required to service all activities and safe pedes-
trian crossings have occurred. For example, car parking provision has 
been informed by the planning scheme provisions, event participation 
numbers at peak times and benchmarking across other similar aquatic 
and sport and recreation precincts. Further, extensive geotechnical and 
soil health investigations were conducted where over 100 bore samples 
were taken across the reserve. 

These investigations have informed the layout and proposed  
recommendations in the Master Plan.

Supports proposed 
recommendations

3 Noted.
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Email Submissions Results

There were 33 email submissions. The top five themes 
are summarised in the table below:

Theme Number Sample Comment 

Concerned about overdevelopment, loss of 
open space and impact on resident amenity, 
soil health and traffic issues and impact on 
natural environment

14 Design principles that supports the location of an aquatic and leisure centre at the reserve, maintains  
use by the existing tenants, protects the environmental values of Skeleton Creek, provides community 
recreation opportunities and responds to potential resident amenity impacts. 

The master plan recommends a layout responding to these design principles and investigations and will 
offer a reserve that caters for formal sport and the community while protecting the natural environment.

Support proposed recommendations,  
however concerned with traffic issues or 
impact on natural environment

8 Noted support and concern for issues. Response to traffic issues and impact on natural environment  
captured above.

Concerned about  
traffic and/or soil health issues

4 The master plan has seriously considered both traffic and soil health issues. Extensive investigations into  
traffic design solutions, number of car parks required to service all activities and safe pedestrian crossings 
have occurred. For example, car parking provision has been informed by the planning scheme provisions, 
event participation numbers at peak times and benchmarking across other similar aquatic and sport and 
recreation precincts. Further, extensive geotechnical and soil health investigations were conducted where 
over 100 bore samples were taken across the reserve. 

These investigations have informed the layout and proposed recommendations in the Master Plan.

Support proposed recommendations and 
inclusion of skate/BMX park or expanding the 
nature park area

3 Noted support and ideas. These ideas have been considered in the Final Master Plan and will be subject to 
a detailed design process for the community recreation space.

Concerned with cost of proposed  
recommendations

1 Noted.
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Response to Public Exhibition Feedback

In response to the public exhibition feedback, the master 
plan has been refined by: 

• Swapping the junior field and senior field

• Creating a community recreation space south of 
the reserve. This space includes the play space and 
activity space, a dog off leash area, open parkland 
area and landscape improvements including  
increasing shade trees and vegetation, pathways 
and seating. 

Further, a number of concerns were raised including the 
loss of open space, impacts on resident amenity, traffic 
issues, soil health issues and impact on natural environ-
ment. In response, the master plan has been informed by:

• Design principles that supports the location of an 
aquatic and leisure centre at the reserve, maintains 
use by the existing tenants, protects the environ-
mental values of Skeleton Creek, provides  
community recreation opportunities and responds 
to potential resident amenity impacts. 

• Extensive site assessments including geotechnical 
and soil health investigations and traffic manage-
ment advice: 

 � Geotechnical and soil health investigations 
included over 100 bore samples taken across the 
reserve 

 � Investigations into traffic design solutions,  
number of car parks required to service all  
activities and safe pedestrian crossings. For  

example, car parking provision has been 
informed by the planning scheme provisions, 
event participation numbers at peak times and 
benchmarking across other similar aquatic and 
sport and recreation precincts. 

The master plan recommendations and layout respond 
to these design principles and investigations and will 
offer a reserve that provides for sport and community 
recreation together with protecting the natural environ-
mental values of the reserve.
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STRATEGIC DIRECTIONS

The vision for the Bruce Comben Reserve Master Plan 
is to create a community heart. A place for: 

• Sport and recreation

• Aquatic and leisure

• Early years learning 

• Community gathering

• Play and adventure

• Community health and wellbeing. 

The reserve design principles include:
• Provide a modern contemporary indoor aquatic 

and leisure facility of district size capacity. The  
design will include change facilities for school 
groups, people with disabilities and families

• Continuity of an early years’ service provision onsite

• Continuity of service provision onsite for tenant 
sports clubs 

• The Aquatic Centre, Early Years Centre and Sports 
Pavilion will be designed consistent with Universal 
Design Principles and Female Friendly, and  
environmentally  sensitive and water sensitive  
design principles to be included

• The design will respond to resident amenity  
impacts including traffic concerns

• The improvements should be developed to future 
proof for the needs of the community. 

The reserve improvements include:
• A new aquatic and leisure centre with outdoor 

plaza space and cafe

• An Early Years Centre

• Two new sports fields that can provide for four  
rugby fields, two cricket ovals and six touch footy fields

• Maintain the turf cricket oval and install sports  
lighting. Provide a new maintenance shed to  
service the main field

• Develop the sports pavilion. The design should 
provide additional change rooms, a public toilet, 
improved storage, a covered viewing area offering 
shelter/shade and consider the relationship with the 
new sports fields

• Provision of two Sepak Takraw courts on a shared 
court arrangement with two public tennis courts 
and half size basketball court as part of a new  
activity space

• Provide a  play space and family/social area

• Support landscaping improvements recommended 
in the 2011 master plan. These include improved 
signage, park furniture, enhance visual amenity to 
entry, construct a pathway network around and 
through the reserve and plant additional trees.  
Provide for people with disabilities in improvements.

• Create an off-leash dog area that is defined outside 
the sports field boundary 

• Maintain the vegetated parkland along Skeleton 
Creek

• Increase car parking within the park to service the 
new aquatic and leisure centre and new sports 
fields

Investigate traffic design for providing pedestrian 
crossings for safe access from residential areas to the 
park across Central Avenue, Skehan Boulevard, Mac-
Neil Avenue and Henry Drive. 
 

Please note that proposed aquatic and early years  
centre; and community space that includes a playground,  
activity space, dog off leash area and landscaping  
improvements, are subject to a detailed design process.
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Recommendations

Proposed site for a new aquatic and early years centre. Consider market square / park interface with 
cafe

Create a new community space with increased tree planting, a playground, a hardcourt area for 
tennis and sepak takraw, family/social areas, fenced dog off leash area and public toilet access.

Maintain the turf cricket oval and install sports lighting

New junior cricket, rugby and touch fields with new cricket nets

New senior cricket, rugby and touch fields

Develop a new or upgraded sports pavilion with additional change rooms, improved storage and 
covered viewing area

Improve Central Ave entrance with wayfinding signage and landscaping

Upgrade and extend pathway network

Improve landscaping with shade trees and seating along pedestrian path

Maintain vegetated parkland along Skeleton Creek

Increase car parking along Central Avenue entrance road

Increase car parking west of sports pavilion

Increase car parking west within the reserve along Henry Drive

Emergency vehicle access

Investigate traffic design for providing pedestrian crossings for safe access from residential areas to 
the park across Central Avenue, Skehan Boulevard, Mac Neil Avenue and Henry Drive

Provide a new maintenance shed to service the main field

Opportunities for increased tree planting, seating and outdoor fitness equipment

1

6

5

4

3

2

17

12

11

10

9

8

7

16

15

14

13
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Implementation Plan

The recommendations have been prioritised as  
short, medium or long-term actions:

• Short Term   1 years
• Medium Term  2-3 years
• Long Term   4-5 years

* The total estimated cost to implement the master plan 
over the next five years is $8,440,000. Please note that 
independent cost estimates will be obtained as part of 
detailed design stage for reserve improvements.

Plan  
Reference

Recommendation Priority Benchmark Cost Estimates*

1 Proposed site for a new aquatic and leisure centre and early years centre. Design 
to consider market square and park interface with cafe.

Short to Medium - Design
Long - Implementation

Independent cost estimate to be obtained  
as part of detailed design stage of project

2 Provide a new community space with:
• Increased tree planting
• New district level play space, family/social area and access to public toilet
• New activity zone that includes public tennis courts in a shared court  

arrangement with two Sepak Takraw courts and half size basketball court
• Create a dog off leash area 

Short- Design
Medium – Implementation

$1,400,000

3 Maintain the turf cricket oval and install sports lighting. Short $150,000

4 New junior cricket, rugby and touch fields with cricket nets Long $1,200,000

5 New senior cricket, rugby and touch fields Long $1,200,000

6 Develop a new or upgraded sports pavilion with additional change rooms, public 
toilet, improved storage and covered viewing area

Medium to Long $2,000,000

7 Improve Central Ave entrance with wayfinding signage and landscaping Long $20,000

8 Upgrade and extend pathway network Medium to Long $100,000

9 Improve landscaping with shade trees and seating along pedestrian path Short $20,000

10 Maintain the vegetated parkland along Skeleton Creek Ongoing Operational budget

11 Increase car parking along Central Avenue entrance road Long $1,200,000

12 Increase car parking west of sports pavilion Long $400,000

13 Increase car parking west within the reserve along Henry Drive Long $400,000

14 Emergency vehicle access Long Cost incorporated in 1

15 Investigate traffic design for providing pedestrian crossings for safe access from 
residential areas to the park across Central Ave, Skehan Blvd, MacNeil Ave and 
Henry Dve.

Short - Planning
Medium -Implementation

$50,000

16 Provide a new maintenance shed to service the main field Long $100,000

17 Opportunities for increased tree planting, seating and outdoor fitness equipment Short $200,000
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WARRANTIES AND DISCLAIMERS

The information contained in this report is provided in 
good faith.  While Otium Planning Group has applied 
their own experience to the task, they have relied upon 
information supplied to them by other persons and 
organisations.

We have not conducted an audit of the information 
provided by others but have accepted it in good faith.  
Some of the information may have been provided 
‘commercial in confidence’ and as such these venues 
or sources of information are not specifically identified.  
Readers should be aware that the preparation of this 
report may have necessitated projections of the future 
that are inherently uncertain and that our opinion is 
based on the underlying representations, assumptions 
and projections detailed in this report.

There will be differences between projected and actual 
results, because events and circumstances frequently 
do not occur as expected and those differences may be 
material.  We do not express an opinion as to whether 
actual results will approximate projected results, nor can 
we confirm, underwrite or guarantee the achievability 
of the projections as it is not possible to substantiate 
assumptions which are based on future events.

Accordingly, neither Otium Planning Group, nor any 
member or employee of Otium Planning Group,  
undertakes responsibility arising in any way whatsoever 
to any persons other than client in respect of this report, 
for any errors or omissions herein, arising through  
negligence or otherwise however caused.
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APPENDIX 1 PUBLIC EXHIBITION 
FEEDBACK REPORT 
The public exhibition process received 246 specific items of feedback 
of the draft master plan including 101 responses to the community 
survey, 112 responses to the online forum and 33 email submissions. 

Community Survey Results

There were 101 responses to the community survey 
for the Draft Bruce Comben Reserve Master Plan. 

There was equal representation from male (49%) and 
female (50%). Two people preferred not to specify. 

Most respondents spoke English at home (85%). The 
following languages were recorded by the 14 peo-
ple speaking another language at home, Mandarin, 
Somoan, Tagalog, Philipino, Hindi, Turkish, Spanish, 
Italian, Contonese and Sinhalese. 

Over two thirds or 77% of respondents were from 
Altona Meadows. Other respondents were from 
Seabrook (14%) Altona (3%), Laverton (1%), Newport 
(1%) and Other (4%). 

All age groups over 11 – 18 years were represented. 
The chart below shows the proportion of respondents 
for each age group.

PREFER 
NOT TO 
SPECIFY

23%

65 
YEARS OR

OLDER

55 - 64 
YEARS

45 - 54 
YEARS

35 - 44 
YEARS

25 - 34 
YEARS

19 - 24 
YEARS

11 - 18 
YEARS

24%19% 15%8% 8%2% 1%

10 
YEARS OR 

UNDER

0%
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Ranking development options in order of  
preference
Respondents were asked to rank the items listed below
in order of preference with 6 as your favourite and 1 as
your least preferred. 

Of the 101 responses received to this question, a new 
aquatic and leisure centre was ranked as the number 1 
ranked development option followed by a new  
playspace and improved landscaping and tree  
planting.

Issues that would impact people with the  
implementation of the Master Plan
Respondents were asked to identify the top two issues 
that would impact them with the implementation of 
the Master Plan.

Of the 101 responses received to this question, traffic 
congestion in local streets was ranked number 1  
followed by car parking impacts on local streets and 
impacts of aquatic facility on nearby residents  
(amenity).
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Respondents were asked to identify the top two issues that would impact them with the implementation of the 
Master Plan. 
 
Of the 101 responses received to this question, traffic congestion in local streets was ranked number 1 followed by car 
parking impacts on local streets and impacts of aquatic facility on nearby residents (amenity). 
 

 
 

Support for recommendations 

0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 3 3.5 4 4.5 5

A new aquatic and leisure centre with outdoor plaza space
and café

New sports fields to accommodate growth of all sports

Playground (playspace and family / social area)

Provision of a dog off lead area

Improved landscaping and tree planting throughout the
reserve

Multisport court facilities (Sepak Taxraw / tennis courts

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80

Impacts of an aquatic facility on nearby residents

Traffic congestion in local streets

Car parking impacts on local streets

Increased landscaping and tree planting throughout the
Reserve

The visual impact of the Reserve on the immediate
residences

Other
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Support for recommendations
Respondents were asked to what extent did they agree 
with the recommendations in the Master Plan. The 
results were ranked from 1 strongly agree, 2 agree, 3, 
neither agree or disagree, 4 disagree and 5 strongly 
disagree.

Of the 101 responses received to this question, all 
recommendations recorded primarily a strongly agree 
or agree rating.
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0 1 2 3 4 5

A new aquatic and leisure centre with outdoor plaza space
and café

Two new sports fields that can provide for four rugby fields,
two cricket ovals and six touch fields

Redevelopment of the sports pavilion with additional change
rooms, a public toilet, improved storage and a covered

viewing area

Retention of the turf cricket oval and installation of sports
lighting

Provide two multipurpose courts for use as Sepak Takraw
courts and public tennis courts

A playspace and family / social area

Landscaping improvements throughout the reserve including
improved signage, park furniture, planting, outdoor fitness

equipment and additional shade trees

Creation of an off leash dog park

Retention of the vegetated parkland along Skeleton Creek

Safe pedestrian access from residential areas to the park
across Central Avenue, Skehan Boulevard, MacNeil Avenue

and Henry Drive

Increased car parking within the park to service the new
aquatic facility and sports fields

A new early years centre
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What recommendations did people like most 
about the Master Plan? 

Respondents were asked about what they liked most 
about the Master Plan. The following table summarises  
the themes from the 92 responses received to the 
question. 

Theme Number Sample Comment 

Supports aquatic and leisure centre 41 “Having an aquatic centre close to where I live is a fantastic plan. Considering the closest centre is in  
Hoppers Crossing, and that facility is always very busy, the community would benefit from this new facility”

“The plan for it to be a community hub with active transport links, and that it includes an aquatic centre.”

Supports all improvements 27 “I like the whole overarching idea to make it an activity/community space. It’s a wonderful area already but 
it feels like it is completely undervalued and forgotten about. When I think about a place to meet friends for 
a day outdoors, picnic etc. I do not think of this area, but I would like too.”

“Multiple activities are supported. Great use of space for all ages. Provides more chances for Hobsons Bay 
residents to connect. Having a pool in our community. Great use of underutilised space.”

“This is really exciting and I’m very much looking forward to the improvements in this space. The multi-
ple uses planned for this space is what I like best, especially as this is the only space like that in the area. It 
means we won’t have to travel far and I can walk to this space.”

Supports sports improvements 14 “The aim to create a community at the heart of Altona Meadows is a great idea, as this is lacking within the 
area. The increase in Sport activities is great.”

“The inclusion of more trees/green space and the utilisation of the large area south of the current sports 
field which is currently just weeds.”

Supports community recreation and  
landscaping improvements

8 “I like that Council is responding to the needs of the community. I like that there is parking inside the Re-
serve to keep the local streets free. I like that there will be public toilets. I like that there will be a leash-off 
dog area. I like that there will be more pathways and trees and seating.”

Supports dog park 2 “Love the off-leash dog park as we don’t currently have one within walking distance of our home.”

Supports retention of Skeleton Creek riparian 
corridor

1 “What I like the most is the development of the un-used land being planned, and the attention towards 
Skeleton Creek.”

Supports landscaping improvements 1 “The only element I remotely like is the consideration of increase planting.”

Supports public tennis courts 1 “Retention of free tennis courts.”
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What recommendations within the Master Plan 
did people disagree with? 

The following table summarises the themes from the 
49 responses received to the question identifying what 
recommendations within the Master Plan they disagree 
with or would change. 

Theme Number Sample Comment 

Loss of open space to aquatic centre and car 
parking, concerned about resident impacts

4 “This is a big development for this park, I have concerns around car parking, traffic in central avenue and 
the soil contamination, I have lived in this area my whole life and that site is landfill Council has no idea 
what is in there until they started to develop, I have great concern about this issue.”

Disagree with additional sports fields 8 “Worried that too many sports facilities in the one area will make parking close by difficult - especially 
during game seasons.”

Loss of open space to more sports field 
and car parking, concerned about resident 
impacts

7 “Strongly disagree - ‘Two new sports fields that can provide for four rugby fields, two cricket ovals and 
six touch footy fields” ....... = OVERKILL  !! - How many rugby/playing fields do we actually need. There is 
enough. Keep the space open, natural and for everyone to access, not just sports players.”

Disagree with dog park 7 “Do we really need another “off leash” dog park when there is one close by in Altona.”

Loss of open space to aquatic and leisure 
centre, more sports field and car parking, 
concerned about resident impacts

6 I would change - “The swimming centre being in a non-residential area such as near the basketball / net-
ball centre.”

Disagree with location of playspace and 
social area

3 “I disagreed due to the positioning of the new play area and courts . They should be further away from the 
homes.”

Not enough car parks and/or seek traffic 
congestion issues

3 “Only concern would be to ensure there is enough parking to accommodate cars if there are multiple 
groups using the different grounds at the one time.”

Loss of open space to car parking 2 “Well there is already plenty of parking there and it is along the bike path so maybe you dont need too 
many more car spaces maybe a little more but you could put in a bike/scooter rack.”

Disagree with aquatic centre, seek sports 
field

1 “The Aquatic centre would bring to much traffic into our quiet suburb. The aquatic centre would be big 
and bulky and noisy. A soccer field would be a better choice.”

Disagree with providing Sepak Takraw courts 1 “Sepak Takraw is unknown to me and everyone I know. Totally unnecessary.”

Disagree with retaining early years centre 1 “There already a few childcare centre within 100 metres.”

Disagree with providing tennis courts, seek a 
skate/BMX park

1 “I feel tennis courts are under-utilised and something with greater appeal should be installed instead. I 
believe that the local community is in desperate need of another skate park. The existing skate/bmx facility 
has reached capacity and is overcrowded on weekends.”

Concerned about the size of land to provide 
for scope and function of an aquatic and 
leisure centre and early years centre

1 “The proposed leisure centre and children’s centre will be the same size the existing Cooraminta Children’s 
Centre site, this means that you destroy existing Laverton Swim and Leisure Centre and Cooraminta Chil-
dren’s Centre then shrink them together on the existing Cooraminta Children’s Centre site.”
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Additional suggested improvements 
The following suggestions were made for improvements 
to the Master Plan:

• Skate/BMX Park 

• Develop a nature park expanding vegetation and 
planting

• Develop a creative / culture park 

• Seek access for Australian Rules football / goals

• Seek access for soccer fields / goals

• Develop play space with a nature-based theme

• Develop a footbridge over Skeleton Creek

• Seek a 50m pool.
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Online Form Results 

The online forum asked people to contribute ideas to the 
proposed play space and activity space. There were 112

interactions with the online forum and 48 written  
contributions. However, people used the forum to express

their support or concerns about the Draft Master Plan.  
Key themes are summarised below:

Theme Number Response 

Concerned about the loss of open space for 
sports fields and seeks expanding nature park

12 The design principles, planning process and extensive site investigations have informed the development 
of the Master Plan.

The expanded nature park has been considered in the Final Master Plan and will be subject to a detailed 
design process for the community recreation space.

Concerned about the loss of open space 
and impact on resident amenity and natural 
environment

7 Design principles that supports the location of an aquatic and leisure centre at the reserve, maintains use 
by the existing tenants, protects the environmental values of Skeleton Creek, provides community  
recreation opportunities and responds to potential resident amenity impacts. 

The master plan recommends a layout responding to these design principles and investigations and will 
offer a reserve that caters for formal sport and the community while protecting the natural environment.

Concerned about the loss of open space, soil 
health issues, traffic issues and impact on 
resident amenity

5 The master plan has also seriously considered both traffic and soil health issues. Extensive investigations 
into traffic design solutions, number of car parks required to service all activities and safe pedestrian cross-
ings have occurred. For example, car parking provision has been informed by the planning scheme provi-
sions, event participation numbers at peak times and benchmarking across other similar aquatic and sport 
and recreation precincts. Further, extensive geotechnical and soil health investigations were conducted 
where over 100 bore samples were taken across the reserve. 

These investigations have informed the layout and proposed recommendations in the Master Plan.

Supports proposed recommendations and 
seeks skate/BMX park and/or additional  
courts

6 Noted support and ideas. These ideas have been considered in the Final Master Plan and will be subject to 
a detailed design process for the community recreation space.

Supports proposed recommendations 3 Noted.

Concerned about the cost of development 2 The master plan has considered a range of issues including limiting changes to existing infrastructure 
where possible so to minimise the cost of development.

Retain public tennis courts in current  
location

2 This option has been considered in the Final Master Plan and will be subject to a detailed design process 
for the community recreation space.

Disagree with location of aquatic centre at 
the reserve

1 Design principle supports the location of an aquatic and leisure centre at the reserve.

Disagree with sports field lighting 1 The proposed sports field lighting will be directed on the sports fields with light spill minimised.

Disagree with proposed recommendations 1 Noted.
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Theme Number Response 

Support water capture design for aquatic 
centre

1 This will be considered in the detailed design for the aquatic and leisure centre.

Supports a large family area with activity 
space that attract young generations and 
families

1 Noted.

Supports proposed recommendations and 
seeks soccer goals installed on sports fields 
for public use

1 Noted support and ideas. These ideas have been considered in the Final Master Plan and will be subject to 
a detailed design process for the community recreation space.
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Email Submission Results 

There were 33 email submissions. Key themes are  
summarised below:

Theme Number Response 

Concerned about overdevelopment, loss of 
open space and impact on resident amenity, 
soil health and traffic issues and impact on 
natural environment

14 Design principles that supports the location of an aquatic and leisure centre at the reserve, maintains use 
by the existing tenants, protects the environmental values of Skeleton Creek, provides community  
recreation opportunities and responds to potential resident amenity impacts. 

The master plan recommends a layout responding to these design principles and investigations and will 
offer a reserve that caters for formal sport and the community while protecting the natural environment.

Support proposed recommendations,  
however concerned with traffic issues or 
impact on natural environment

8 Noted support and concern for issues. Response to traffic issues and impact on natural environment  
captured above.

Concerned about traffic and/or soil health 
issues

4 The master plan has seriously considered both traffic and soil health issues. Extensive investigations into 
traffic design solutions, number of car parks required to service all activities and safe pedestrian crossings 
have occurred. For example, car parking provision has been informed by the planning scheme provisions, 
event participation numbers at peak times and benchmarking across other similar aquatic and sport and  
recreation precincts. Further, extensive geotechnical and soil health investigations were conducted where 
over 100 bore samples were taken across the reserve. 

These investigations have informed the layout and proposed recommendations in the Master Plan.

Support proposed recommendations and 
inclusion of skate/BMX park or expanding the 
nature park area

3 Noted support and ideas. These ideas have been considered in the Final Master Plan and will be subject to 
a detailed design process for the community recreation space.

Concerned with cost of proposed  
recommendations

1 The master plan has considered a range of issues including limiting changes to existing infrastructure 
where possible so to minimise the cost of development.

Seeks advice on dimensions of dog park 1 The dog park area will be subject to a detailed design process. The master plan only identifies the location 
for the dog park in the reserve. The detailed design process will confirm the dimensions of the dog park.

Seeks input into aquatic centre design 1 The master plan has considered this option in the Final Master Plan and will be subject to a detailed design 
process for the community recreation space.

Seek access to workshop minutes 1 Four Stakeholder Reference Group workshops were held at key milestone stages of the project. The find-
ings of these workshops have helped inform the site investigations, key challenges and recommendations 
in the Master Plan.
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Recorded Council information in:

HOBSONS BAY
LANGUAGE LINE

9932 1212
INTERPRETER SERVICE FOR ALL LANGUAGES

Your Council in your language

HOBSONS BAY  
CITY COUNCIL

115 Civic Parade, Altona
PO Box 21, Altona 3018
Phone (03) 9932 1000
Fax (03) 9932 1090
NRS phone 133 677 and quote 03 9932 1000
Email customerservice@hobsonsbay.vic.gov.au

 www.twitter.com/HobsonsBayCC

 www.facebook.com/HobsonsBayCityCouncil

 www.hobsonsbay.vic.gov.au

Recorded Council information in:

HOBSONS BAY
LANGUAGE LINE

9932 1212
INTERPRETER SERVICE FOR ALL LANGUAGES

Your Council in your language

HOBSONS BAY  
CITY COUNCIL

115 Civic Parade, Altona
PO Box 21, Altona 3018
Phone (03) 9932 1000
Fax (03) 9932 1090
NRS phone 133 677 and quote 03 9932 1000
Email customerservice@hobsonsbay.vic.gov.au

 www.twitter.com/HobsonsBayCC

 www.facebook.com/HobsonsBayCityCouncil

 www.hobsonsbay.vic.gov.au

Prepared by Otium Planning Group in association with Peddle Thorp, 
SportEng, JWC Engineers, Ground Science and Alpha Environmental
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